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LXi REIT plc (the “Company”), the specialist inflation-protected long income real estate 
investment trust, provides shareholders with regular, attractive income, with the potential to 
sustainably grow the dividend in absolute terms through upward-only inflation-protected long 
term lease agreements, together with capital growth over the medium term.
We selectively invest in UK commercial property assets let on very long (typically 20 to 30 years to first break), inflation-linked 
leases to a wide range of strong tenant covenants across a diverse range of robust property sectors.

We also carefully invest in fixed-priced forward funded developments, provided they are pre-let to an acceptable tenant and 
full planning permission is in place. The Company, along with its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”), does not undertake any 
direct development activity nor assume direct development risk.

The Company is listed on the premium listing segment of the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and was admitted to 
trading on the main market for listed securities of the London Stock Exchange in February 2017. 

Since June 2018 the Company has been a constituent of the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real Estate Index Series, having 
satisfied the required eligibility criteria.

Overview
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• Total net asset value (“NAV”) return2 for the period was 
12.13% (31 March 2018: 11.91%), significantly ahead 
of our medium term annual target of at least 8%3

• Total shareholder return2 for the year of 30.68%5 
(31 March 2018: 2.45%) reflecting the strong 
performance of the Company’s portfolio, increased 
targets, dividend payments and share price

• EPRA NAV2 per share increased in the year by 6.93 
pence (31 March 2018: 7.67 pence) to 114.60 pence 
at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: 107.67 pence)

• Dividends per share (“DPS”) paid and proposed in 
respect of the year of 5.50 pence (31 March 2018: 
4.00 pence) met the Company’s full year target

• DPS were fully covered by Adjusted earnings2 per share 
(“EPS”) of 6.11 pence (31 March 2018: 5.05 pence) which 
includes developer licence fees and EPRA EPS2  of 5.55 pence 
(31 March 2018: 4.20 pence) which excludes developer 
licence fees

• Operating profit of £37.3 million (31 March 2018: 
£22.07 million) comprising income from the Group’s 
property portfolio and changes in fair value of investment 
property net of administrative and other expenses 

• Portfolio independently valued by Knight Frank LLP 
at £589.5 million4 as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: 
£278.92 million), representing like for like growth 
of 4.35% and 9.6% above acquisition price

• Loan to value (“LTV”) at 31 March 2019 of 29% 
(31 March 2018: 30%) reflecting material headroom to both 
our medium term maximum of 35% and LTV covenant of 50%

• Low all-in fixed cost of debt of 2.94% (31 March 2018: 
2.90%) for a long average debt maturity of 12 years 
(31 March 2018: 11 years) underpinning our ability to grow 
investor returns through inflation-linked rent reviews

• EPRA cost ratio2 reduced to 16.37% (31 March 2018: 
25.83%), demonstrating the benefits of increased 
scale and a largely fixed cost base

• In October 2018, the Company successfully raised gross 
equity proceeds of £175.25 million via a significantly 
oversubscribed equity raise and further debt capital of 
£75 million secured in November 2018, which together 
were deployed to fund accretive acquisitions 

Financial Highlights

Year ended  
31 March 2019

Period ended
31 March 20181

Total NAV return2 12.13% 11.91%

Total shareholder return2 30.68% 2.45%

NAV (and EPRA NAV) per share2 114.60 pence 107.67 pence +6.44%

Dividend per share 5.50 pence 4.00 pence +37.5%

Dividend target 2019/203 (2018/19) 5.75 pence 5.50 pence +4.55%

Adjusted earnings per share2 6.11 pence 5.05 pence +20.99%

EPRA earnings per share2 5.55 pence 4.20 pence +32.14%

Operating profit £37.3 million £22.07 million +69.01%

Portfolio valuation4 £589.5 million £278.92 million +111.35%

Loan to value 29% 30%

Average fixed cost of debt 2.94% 2.90%

EPRA cost ratio2 16.37% 25.83%

2018/19

5.50 5.75

2019/20

DIVIDEND PER SHARE 
TARGET (p)
+4.55%

31 Mar 2018

101.50

31 Mar 2019

SHARE PRICE GROWTH (p)
+22.66% +84.9%

+111.4%

31 Mar 2018 31 Mar 2019

ANNUAL PASSING RENT (£m)

31 Mar 2018 31 Mar 2019

INVESTMENT PROPERTY 
VALUE (£m)

278.92

589.50124.50 31.40

16.98
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• Average acquisition net initial yield (“NIY”) across the 
portfolio to 31 March 2019 of 5.80% (31 March 2018: 6.03%) 
net of acquisition costs, representing a 286 bps spread 
to all-in fixed cost of debt (31 March 2018: 313 bps) and 
demonstrating the positive impact of conservative gearing

• 96% of the Group’s rental income either contains 
index-linked rent reviews or fixed rental uplifts 
(31 March 2018: 96%) underpinning the Company’s 
ability to grow returns over the short and longer term

• A long weighted average unexpired lease 
term (“WAULT”) to first break of over 22 years 
(31 March 2018: 24 years) providing security and 
significant visibility to the Group’s income

• Portfolio 100% let or pre-let (31 March 2018: 100%) 
and income producing during the year to 38 separate 
financially strong tenants (31 March 2018: 25) across 
nine defensive and robust sectors (31 March 2018: 
nine) on full repairing and insuring leases

• The Company made four selective disposals during 
the year and one since the year end generating an 
average geared IRR on disposal of 32% p.a. to date

• 83% of properties transacted on an ‘off market’ basis 
to date (31 March 2018: 84%) avoiding competition 
and providing value at the point of acquisition

Post period end highlights
• Proposed final dividend in respect of the year 

ended 31 March 2019 of 1.375 pence per share 
bringing the total dividend paid and proposed in 
respect of the year to 5.50 pence per share

• Progressive dividend per share target increasing ahead of 
inflation for the year ending 31 March 2020 to 5.75 pence 
(31 March 2019: 5.50 pence) reflecting growth of 4.55% 

• Proposed target equity raise of £100 million by way 
of a placing, open offer, offer for subscription and 
intermediaries offer, expected to close on 12 June 2019

1 The comparative information in this report is for the period from incorporation on 21 December 2016 to 31 March 2018 with operating activity commencing at IPO on 27 February 2017

2  Further details on Alternative Performance Measures can be found in the Chairman’s Statement and definitions given in the Key performance indicators and the EPRA performance 
measures sections or otherwise included in the Glossary included in the Additional Information

3 These are targets and not a profit forecast and there can be no assurances that they will be met

4  The independent valuation includes forward funded commitments outstanding and properties that had exchanged but not completed at the year end date. A reconciliation to the IFRS 
fair value as per the consolidated statement of financial position is included in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements

5  Based on closing mid-market share price on 29 March 2019 assuming dividends reinvested

Operating Highlights

Year ended  
31 March 2019

Period ended  
31 March 2018

Average acquisition NIY to date 5.80% 6.03%

Rents containing index-linked or fixed uplifts 96% 96%

WAULT to first break (years) 22 24

Portfolio let or pre-let 100% 100%

Average geared IRR p.a. on disposals to date 32% –

Property sectors 9 9

Separate tenants 38 25

Acquisitions to date made ‘off market’ 83% 84%

Average debt maturity (years) 12 11

2018/19

5.50 5.75

2019/20

DIVIDEND PER SHARE 
TARGET (p)
+4.55%

31 Mar 2018

101.50

31 Mar 2019

SHARE PRICE GROWTH (p)
+22.66% +84.9%

+111.4%

31 Mar 2018 31 Mar 2019

ANNUAL PASSING RENT (£m)

31 Mar 2018 31 Mar 2019

INVESTMENT PROPERTY 
VALUE (£m)

278.92

589.50124.50 31.40

16.98
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A year in brief
The year ended 31 March 2019 has been another busy and successful period for the Group.

1 May 2018
Practical completion, 
on time and on budget, 
of forward funded 
manufacturing and 
head office facility with 
new 20 year RPI linked 
lease to GE Oil & Gas 
group in Cramlington, 
near Newcastle 

26 June 2018
The Company’s first 
Annual General 
Meeting and all 
resolutions passed

29 August 2018
Reinvestment of 
disposal proceeds in 
£4.95m industrial and 
head office facility 
let to Brenntag on 
25 year lease with 
RPI linked uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.4%

21 May 2018
Announced final 
dividend of 2.00p 
taking total dividends 
in respect of the period 
ended 31 March 2018 
to 4.00p to meet 
the revised dividend 
target (33% ahead 
of IPO target)

18 June 2018
Added to FTSE EPRA/
NAREIT Global Real 
Estate Index Series, 
having successfully 
satisfied the required 
eligibility criteria 
during the Index’s 
Quarterly Review

20 September 2018
Legal completion on 
new £6.54m care home 
built for the Priory 
Group in Co. Armagh, 
Northern Ireland on 
30 year lease with 
fixed 2.5% uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 6.5%

21 May 2018
Announced maiden 
annual results for 
the period ended 
31 March 2018 showing 
total NAV return of 
11.91%, Adjusted EPS 
of 5.05p and EPRA 
NAV of 107.67p

21 June 2018
Legal completion 
on new £6.2m hotel 
built for Premier Inn/
Whitbread Group in 
Middlesbrough on 
25 year lease with 
CPI linked uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.1%

8 August 2018
Disposal of industrial 
asset let to SIG 
generating a geared 
IRR of 39% p.a. 

12 October 2018
Raised £175.25m 
via oversubscribed 
equity raise to finance 
accretive acquisitions, 
which was carefully 
and selectively 
deployed within four 
weeks of the raise 

24 May 2018
Practical completion, 
on time and on 
budget, of forward 
commitment care 
facility with new 
30 year RPI linked 
lease to the Priory 
Group in Co. Armagh, 
Northern Ireland

12 June 2018
Disposal of two 
care home assets 
let to Prime Life 
generating a geared 
IRR of 56% p.a. 

26 October 2018
Legal completion on 
£4.3m discount retail 
store let to The Range 
in Carlisle with 20 year 
unexpired lease term 
with fixed 2% uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 6%

22 June 2018
Reinvestment of 
disposal proceeds 
in £25.5m industrial 
and head office 
facility acquired from 
and leased back to 
Stobart Group on 
22.5 year lease with 
RPI linked uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.5%

10 August 2018
Reinvestment of 
disposal proceeds 
in £6.56m industrial 
facility let to Johnson 
Matthey on 22 year 
lease with fixed 2.5% 
uplifts, reflecting 
NIY of 6.2%

15 October 2018
Land completion 
on forward funded 
discount retail store 
to be built for Lidl in 
Chard with works 
to date remaining 
on schedule and 
on budget to 
reach practical 
completion in 2019

15 October 2018
Practical completion, 
on time and on budget, 
of forward funded 
discount foodstore 
with new 20 year 
RPI linked lease to 
Aldi in Bradford

17 October 2018
Legal completion 
on £30.7m hotel 
let to Jurys Inn in 
Plymouth with 24 
year unexpired lease 
term with RPI uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.7% 

23 October 2018
Legal completion on 
£60m, 121 acre car 
storage facility let to 
BCA in Corby with 18 
year unexpired lease 
term with RPI linked 
uplifts, reflecting 
NIY of 5.25%

24 October 2018
Legal completion 
on £17.1m industrial 
facility let to Snell 
Advanced Media and 
guaranteed by Belden 
Inc. in Newbury with 
17 year unexpired lease 
term with RPI uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.5% 
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31 October 2018
Land completion 
on £6.6m forward 
funded hotel built 
for Travelodge in 
Edinburgh on 25 year 
lease with CPI linked 
uplifts, reflecting 
NIY of 5.4% 

1 November 2018
Practical completion, 
on time and on 
budget, of forward 
funded budget hotel 
in Camborne with 
new 25 year CPI linked 
lease to Travelodge 

12 November 2018
Legal completion on 
a £45.2m portfolio of 
five geographically 
diversified hotels let 
to Travelodge with 
weighted average 
unexpired lease 
term of 24 years and 
RPI linked uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.8%

16 November 2018
Land completion 
on £8.5m forward 
funded discount 
foodstore built for 
Lidl in Cowdenbeath 
on 25 year lease with 
CPI linked uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 6.0%

6 December 2018
Entered new £75m loan 
facility with Scottish 
Widows at all-in rate 
of 2.99% fixed for 
the full 15 year loan 
term with interest 
only repayments 

20 December 2018
Land completion 
on £12.2m forward 
funded discount 
food store and retail 
scheme built for Aldi, 
Home Bargains and 
TK Maxx in Evesham 
on 15 year lease 
with RPI and open 
market rental uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.4%

21 December 2018
Legal completion on 
two industrial facilities 
for combined purchase 
price of £11.7m let to 
West Midlands Travel 
and guaranteed by 
National Express 
Group in Birmingham 
and West Bromwich 
on new 25 year leases 
with RPI linked uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.7%

22 January 2019
Legal completion 
on £2.4m discount 
gym let to Pure Gym 
in Norwich with 
15 year unexpired 
lease term with fixed 
2% rental uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 6%

24 January 2019
Legal completion on 
£6.8m local council 
office building let to 
local government 
on new 20 year 
lease with 2.5% 
fixed rental uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5%

25 January 2019
Exchanged contracts 
on £8.3m forward 
commitment discount 
foodstore scheme built 
for Lidl with ancillary 
units let to Greggs, 
Starbucks and Subway 
in Andover with 15 year 
lease with index linked 
rent review uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.5%

25 January 2019
Disposal of assisted 
living portfolio 
generating a geared 
IRR of 18% p.a.

12 February 2019
Exchanged contracts 
on a £23.6m forward 
funding project of 
13 geographically 
diversified Starbucks 
drive-thru coffee 
shops with 15 year 
lease terms and 
RPI linked uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.7%

12 February 2019
Land completion 
on £6.6m forward 
funded hotel built 
for Travelodge in 
Gosport on a 25 year 
lease with CPI uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.7%

22 February 2019
Legal completion on 
£13.8 million care 
home let to BUPA in 
Bristol with a 23.5 
year unexpired 
lease term with RPI 
linked rental uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 6.4%

26 February 2019
Disposal of two 
hotel assets let 
to Travelodge 
generating a geared 
IRR of 23% p.a.

 

Post balance 
sheet events

18 March 2019
Practical completion, 
on time and on budget, 
of forward funded 
budget hotel with 
new 25 year CPI linked 
lease to Premier Inn 
in Chesterfield

15 April 2019
Practical completion, 
on time and on 
budget, of forward 
funded budget hotel 
with new 25 year 
CPI linked lease to 
Travelodge in Swindon

1 May 2019
Disposal of assisted 
living portfolio 
generating a geared 
IRR of 19% p.a.

17 May 2019
Increased dividend 
target for year to 
31 March 2020 of 
5.75p per share, 
representing 4.55% 
growth year on year

23 March 2019
Exchanged contracts 
on £2.6m discount 
gym let to Pure Gym 
in Andover with 
15 year unexpired 
lease term with fixed 
2% rental uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 6%

17 April 2019
Legal completion on 
£14.5m garden centre 
and leisure facility let 
to Dobbies Garden 
Centres in Morpeth 
with 30 year unexpired 
lease term with RPI 
linked rental uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.5%

17 May 2019
Proposed final 
dividend for the year 
ended 31 March 2019 
taking total dividends 
paid and proposed in 
respect of the year 
to 5.50p per share

17 May 2019
Proposed target equity 
raise of £100 million 
expected to close 
on 12 June 2019

LXi REIT plc Annual Report 2019  5



ALDI 
Bradford

Description Discount foodstore let to Aldi
Purchase Price £11 million
Net Initial Yield 6.15%
Size 46,000 sq ft
Acquisition Structure Pre-let forward funding
Date Acquired May 2017
Rent Review RPI
Tenant/Guarantor Aldi Stores Limited
Lease Term 20 years, with no break
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Chairman’s statement

I am delighted to report to you another year 
of strong performance by the Group in which 
we have continued to successfully implement 
our investment strategy to deliver on and in 
many cases exceed our targets. 
Our portfolio continues to provide well diversified long term 
index linked income as well as capital growth. Our strategy 
and strict discipline in deploying new capital and our ongoing 
asset management initiatives have provided excellent returns 
throughout the year. We have defensively managed exposures 
to a variety of sectors during the period to provide further 
diversification as well as putting ourselves in a position to 
benefit from increased exposure to property sectors with the 
most favourable outlook.

The proposed final dividend in respect of the year takes our 
total dividend per share to 5.50 pence. This represents a 10% 
premium to our original 2018/19 dividend target set at IPO 
and delivery on our increased dividend target for the year 
announced in March 2018. The dividend was fully covered 
by the Group’s Adjusted earnings1 for the year of 6.11 pence. 
During the year, the Group delivered a total NAV return, 
comprising the dividends paid and NAV growth in the period 
of 12.13%, which also represents significant over delivery on 
the Group’s target minimum of 8% p.a.

Our capital growth is achieved through a number of 
contributors, including:

• the capitalisation of index linked rent reviews; 

• forward funding assets at a discount to built values; 

• accretive recycling of capital after profitable disposals;

• capital discipline and the ‘off market’ sourcing of acquisitions 
in the year; and

• market yield compression in the long lease sector.

Our diversification strategy for providing capital growth 
has created resilience and we are well placed to continue 
to provide value to our shareholders in times of adverse 
market conditions.

We are delighted by the continued support of existing 
shareholders and I welcome a number of new shareholders 
as part of our successful third equity raise in October 2018. 
The Company raised £175.25 million of new equity via an 
oversubscribed fund raise which was fully deployed in accretive 
assets within four weeks of the equity raise, which were 
then geared by deploying in short order the proceeds of the 
new £75 million debt facility. The Group’s equity and debt 
capital is now fully deployed, and the detail of the portfolio 
is given below.

The Investment Advisor also identified opportunities to 
recycle capital by disposing of certain assets at a significant 
premium to both acquisition price and most recent valuation 
and reinvesting the proceeds into accretive assets to increase 
exposure to preferable sectors, tenants and rent review 
types that have a more positive economic outlook or that are 
expected to deliver comparative outperformance. The average 
geared IRR achieved on disposals in the year was 32% p.a. and 
the total realised gain on disposal was £6.46 million.

The Company’s market capitalisation increased to over 
£450 million as a result of both an increased share price and 
the new equity raised in the year. In June 2018 the Company’s 
shares were added to the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real 
Estate Index. As a result of both of these factors as well as the 
weight of capital seeking secure long term inflation protected 
income and growth in uncertain times, the Company’s shares 
have benefited from increased liquidity and delivered a total 
shareholder return of 30.68% over the year.

Our portfolio
At 31 March 2019, the Company’s portfolio was independently 
valued by Knight Frank LLP at £589.5 million4, representing 
like for like growth of 4.35% from 31 March 2018 and 9.6% 
above acquisition price, excluding purchase costs. The growth 
demonstrates the value achieved and the quality sourcing 
of new acquisitions in the year as well as the continued 
active management of the assets to continue to enhance 
and create value.

Our portfolio comprises 108 assets (31 March 2018: 87) 
demonstrating defensive diversification by sector, tenant, rent 
review exposure and location. All of the Group’s properties 
are let on long term (typically 20 to 30 years) triple net leases, 

STEPHEN HUBBARD 
Chairman

Dear shareholder

LXi REIT plc Annual Report 2019  7



Strategic Report
Governance

O
verview

Financial Statem
ents

Additional Inform
ation

meaning the tenant is liable for property costs, avoiding any 
cost leakage. At 31 March 2019 the portfolio had a WAULT of 
22 years to first break (31 March 2018: 24 years).

A multi-sector approach has allowed us to diversify our 
portfolio across nine defensive and robust property sectors 
with no over exposure, and to avoid overheated sectors where 
it is difficult to achieve value or that are experiencing adverse 
trends. Our tenant group comprises 38 separate institutional 
grade covenants all of which undergo our Investment Advisor’s 
thorough due diligence process prior to acquisition.

To provide inflation protection to both the income returns and 
capital invested, we focus on acquiring assets where the rent 
reviews are linked to inflation or include provisions for fixed 
uplifts which are expected to mirror inflation over the medium 
term. 96% of our assets by rental income include index-linked 
or fixed uplift rent review provisions.

The Investment Advisor operates strict capital discipline on 
acquisitions and leverages a large network of vendor contacts 
and types, including tenants, agents, funds and developers 
to achieve the best possible pricing for the highest quality 
assets. The Group’s blended net initial yield across purchases 
to 31 March 2019 was 5.80% (31 March 2018: 6.03%), compared 
with an average valuation NIY of the portfolio of 5.13% 
(31 March 2018: 5.37%).

This capital discipline helps us to achieve value for our 
shareholders at the point of purchase by largely ‘off market’ 
sourcing of assets, selective acquisitions across a large universe 
of assets through our multi-sector approach and forward 
funding a large proportion of our acquisitions at a significant 
discount to built values. We continue to deliver value 
throughout the period of ownership via our asset management 
initiatives which serve to increase the strategic importance of 
the asset to the tenant and to use this to increase the quality 
of the income and thereby the value. 

We also focus on properties with low rents, and therefore lower 
capital value per sq.ft., strong underlying trading performance 
and high rent cover, and thereby strong alternative user 
demand in the asset, and properties with a large number of 
potential alternative uses. This approach conserves residual 
capital values. 

The Board approved four disposals during and one since 
the year ended 31 March 2019 which comprised a total of 
22 separate assets. These disposals followed unsolicited 
approaches to the Investment Advisor and demonstrate the 
attraction to the Group’s high quality portfolio. The disposals 
raised gross proceeds of £68.72 million and a blended geared 
IRR across all the disposals of 32% p.a. The disposals in the 
year produced a realised gain of £6.46 million. All disposals 
represented a material uplift to acquisition price and 
latest book value.

The proceeds of the disposals were strategically aligned 
with our pipeline of accretive assets to ensure immediate 
reinvestment of the capital. We fully invested the net funds 
raised through the recent equity raise and the new debt facility 

(described below) as well as recycling the capital generated on 
disposals into acquisitions of accretive assets. The assets were 
carefully selected to manage exposure to sectors, tenants, 
locations and rent reviews.

The 22 acquisitions since 31 March 2018 have increased 
exposure to Retail Prices Index (“RPI”) rent reviews, which is 
expected to outperform the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) and 
significantly outperform open market rent reviews. We have 
concentrated on sectors with a favourable market outlook, 
such as logistics and discount foodstores and budget hotels 
as well as the further diversification and strengthening of our 
strong tenant and guarantor group. The acquisitions were 
a good mix of built and forward funding structures and many 
of the assets benefit from fully unexpired lease terms allowing 
us to maintain a long WAULT of 22 years to first break.

Every disposal and acquisition was subject to Board approval.

Financial results
The Group’s financial performance has continued to be 
strong and also to demonstrate positive like for like growth. 
The portfolio generated total rental income for the year of 
£21.57 million (31 March 2018: £9.34 million) representing year 
on year growth of 131%.

The growth reflects a full year of income generated from the 
portfolio built in the Group’s first year of operation and the 
careful and rapid deployment and recycling of capital into high 
quality accretive assets as well as the effect of conservative 
borrowing levels with a significant spread between the cost of 
debt and the average acquisition NIY.

As a result of increased market capitalisation due to and since 
the 2018 equity raise and growth in the average share price 
year on year, management fees increased to £2.34 million 
(31 March 2018: £1.39 million). The Group’s other costs 
remained largely consistent with the prior year in spite of 
this growth at £1.19 million, excluding management fees 
(31 March 2018: £1.03 million). 

Operating profit increased by 69% to £37.3 million 
(31 March 2018: £22.07 million), reflecting the increased rental 
income over a low and largely fixed cost base and capital 
growth during the year.

Finance costs increased to £3.31 million (31 March 2018: 
£1.15 million) as a result of full year exposure to the first two 
debt facilities and the drawdown of the new debt facility during 
the year, described below.

This resulted in a profit before tax of £34.12 million 
(31 March 2018: £20.97 million) and earnings per share (“EPS”) 
of 12.75 pence (31 March 2018: 15.12 pence).

EPRA EPS, which removes the gains on disposals of investment 
properties and changes in fair value movement were 5.55 pence 
for the year (31 March 2018: 4.20 pence) and Adjusted EPS, 
which adjusts EPRA earnings to include licence fees from 
developers on forward funding projects were 6.11 pence for the 
year (31 March 2018: 5.05 pence).

Chairman’s statement (continued)

8  LXi REIT plc Annual Report 2019
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Adjusted earnings is the performance measure that the 
Board uses to assess the Company’s dividend payments. 
The Company paid and proposed total dividends per share in 
respect of the year of 5.50 pence (31 March 2018: 4.00 pence), 
which represents a 10% over delivery on the original target 
set at IPO, and meets the Company’s revised dividend target 
announced in March 2018. The Company’s dividends for the 
period were fully covered by the Group’s Adjusted EPS.

The portfolio value increase and profitable disposals drove 
further NAV and EPRA NAV growth in the year of 6.44% taking 
NAV and EPRA NAV per share at 31 March 2019 to 114.60 pence 
(31 March 2018: 107.67 pence). This growth reflects, inter alia:

• the discount achieved on forward funding pre-let 
developments in smaller lot sizes which have provided an 
average uplift of 12% above acquisition price;

• the profitable recycling of capital following disposals at 
a significant premium to acquisition cost and book value;

• the capitalisation of inflation-linked rental growth; and 

• yield compression in the long-lease sector.

The Group’s new debt facility resulted in the Group’s total 
borrowings increasing to £167.31 million, net of unamortised 
arrangement fees (31 March 2018: £93.52 million) and a leverage 
of 29% (31 March 2018: 30%), well below the Company’s 
maximum LTV target of 35%. The low cost of debt, fixed at 
2.94% for an average maturity of 12 years provides investors 
with the positive effect of gearing and the 286 bps spread to the 
average net initial yield on acquisitions.

Dividends
The Company paid and proposed dividends in respect of the 
year ended 31 March 2019 totalling 5.50 pence per share. The 
dividends paid and proposed in respect of the period represent 
delivery on the revised dividend target for the year, which was 
increased from the original IPO target of 5.00 pence per share 
for 2019 by 10%.

Having considered the level of passing rents and the yield 
achieved on property acquisitions as well as subsequent 
growth, along with the positive effects of conservative gearing, 
the Company has increased the dividend per share target for 
the year ended 31 March 2020 to 5.75 pence.

The dividend target increase represents like for like growth 
of 4.55% above the revised 2018/19 dividend target, ahead 
of RPI and CPI.

Raising capital
Share issuance
On 12 October 2018 the Company closed a significantly over 
subscribed equity raise, with the level of demand allowing the 
Board to exercise its option, approved by existing shareholders, 
to increase the issue beyond the target £100 million in 
order to raise a total of £175.25 million which allowed the 
Investment Advisor to execute on an attractive pipeline of 
accretive assets identified in the build up to the raise. The level 
of demand reflects the increased attraction of investors to 

inflation-protected long income secured against a high quality 
and diversified portfolio let to a wide range of strong tenant 
covenants across diverse and robust property sectors.

Debt financing
On 6 December 2018, the Group agreed a new 15 year 
£75 million loan facility at a low all in fixed rate of 2.99% with 
Scottish Widows to gear investor returns and exten d the 
average debt maturity profile of the Group to 12 years from 
31 March 2019.

Fixing our cost of debt capitalises on the current low interest 
rate environment and underpins our ability to grow investor 
returns in real terms in the medium term.

TOP 20 COMMERCIAL TENANTS

Aldi BCA Marketplace
Belden Inc. BUPA
Dobbies Garden Centres General Electric
Johnson Matthey Jurys Inn
Lidl Mears Group plc
Motorpoint National Express Group plc
Premier Inn/Whitbread Group plc Prime Life
The Priory Group Q Hotels
Q-Park Starbucks
Stobart Group Travelodge

FINANCIALLY STRONG TENANT COVENANTS
• Rental income secured against 38 strong tenant groups – 

providing significant income security and diversification

• Top 20 commercial tenants provide over 84% of passing rent 
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Share performance
Over the course of the year the Company’s shares have shown 
resilient outperformance and consistently traded at a premium 
to published NAV levels. This premium demonstrates the 
attraction of the portfolio and the quality of the management 
that has delivered diversified and secure inflation protected 
income from high quality assets let to strong tenants in these 
uncertain times.

Our rising market capitalisation, which stands at over 
£450 million, has helped to increase the liquidity of our shares 
which now averages at volumes in excess of 737,000 shares 
per day. The performance and liquidity of the shares was also 
buoyed by the Company having been added to the FTSE EPRA/
NAREIT Global Real Estate Index Series in June 2018, after 
successfully satisfying the required eligibility criteria during the 
index’s quarterly review.

In January 2019 according to QuotedData the Company 
was among the best performing London-listed investment 
companies in 2018 having demonstrated a 21.4% increase in 
share price over the year. Changes in share price combined with 
dividends paid have driven a total shareholder return for the 
period of 30.68%, compared with FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global 
Real Estate Index Series average of 9.43% and FTSE all share 
average of 12.27%.

Alternative performance measures
The Group uses alternative performance measures including 
the European Public Real Estate (“EPRA”) Best Practice 
Recommendations (“BPR”) to supplement IFRS as the Board 
considers that these measures give users of the Annual Report 
and Financial Statements the best understanding of the 
underlying performance of the Group’s property portfolio. 

The EPRA measures are widely recognised and used by public 
real estate companies and investors and seek to improve 
transparency, comparability and relevance of published results 
in the sector.

Reconciliations between EPRA and other alternative 
performance measures and the IFRS financial statements 
can be found in Notes 26 and 27 to the consolidated financial 
statements and the Notes to the EPRA Performance Measures 
included in the Additional Information. 

Definitions of alternative performance measures are given 
in the Key performance indicators and EPRA performance 
measures sections or otherwise included in the Glossary 
included in the Additional Information.

Post balance sheet events
On 17 May 2019, the Board proposed a target equity raise of 
£100 million to acquire a pipeline of accretive assets to deliver 
further value to shareholders. A prospectus is expected to be 
published in connection with the raise on 20 May 2019. The 
raise will be implemented by way of a placing, open offer, offer 
for subscription and intermediaries offer, which is expected to 
close on 12 June 2019 and is subject to shareholder approval 
at a general meeting that has been convened for 9.15 a.m. on 
12 June 2019. 

Outlook
The Board believes that in a continuing environment of Brexit, 
and economic and geopolitical uncertainty, the Group’s 
portfolio is resilient and an increasingly attractive investment 
proposal. The Company provides a secure, diversified and 
growing index-linked income stream as well as the potential for 
attractive capital appreciation from our long-let, high quality 
and robust portfolio across defensive sectors with strong 
tenant covenants.

We continue to receive unsolicited interest in relation to 
assets within the Company’s portfolio and consider these 
opportunities to recycle capital by selectively disposing of 
assets to generate attractive returns for the Company and 
reinvesting the proceeds into accretive assets to increase 
exposure to sectors, tenants and rent review types that have 
a more positive economic outlook or that are expected to 
deliver comparative outperformance. 

In the current interest rate environment, we expect there 
will continue to be a significant positive spread between the 
Company’s growing index-linked portfolio yield and bond rates.

We remain confident of delivering further value to our 
shareholders through the Investment Advisor’s strategies of 
acquiring selectively across a wide range of robust sectors on 
an ‘off market’ basis and forward funding pre-let developments 
in smaller lot sizes.

We are particularly pleased to increase the dividend per share 
target by 4.55% to 5.75 pence for the year to 31 March 2020. The 
sector continues to see index linked rental increases materially 
outperforming open market rent reviews and with 96% of 
the Group’s contracted rental income containing index-linked 
or fixed uplift rent reviews, when coupled with our low cost 
base and low all-in cost of debt fixed for a further 12 years, the 
Board has confidence that the Company will continue to grow 
dividends and provide inflation-protected income.

Stephen Hubbard
Chairman of the Board of Directors

17 May 2019

Chairman’s statement (continued)

90

95

100

105

110

115

120

125

FEB 17 AUG 18AUG 17 FEB 18 MAR 19

LXi REIT = 33.89% FTSE ALL SHARE = 9.20% FTSE EPRA/NAREIT UK = 7.95%

130

135

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN (PENCE)

10  LXi REIT plc Annual Report 2019



Strategic Report
Governance

Additional Inform
ation

Financial Statem
ents

Strategic Report
O

verview

PREMIER INN 
Middlesbrough

Description Premier Inn budget hotel
Purchase Price £6.2 million
Net Initial Yield 5.10%
Size 83 bedroom hotel
Acquisition Structure Pre-let forward commitment
Date Acquired August 2017
Rent Review CPI
Tenant/Guarantor Premier Inn Hotels Limited/ 

Whitbread PLC
Lease Term 20 years
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Investment Advisor’s report

This has been a busy and successful year, during which we have effectively executed on our investment strategy delivering 
inflation-protected income and capital growth underpinned by a carefully built portfolio of secure, long-let and index-linked 
property assets, highly diversified by sector, tenant and geography. 

SECURE DIVERSIFIED PREDICTABLE GROWING
Our income is secure. The portfolio 
WAULT of 22 years is one of the 
highest in the industry, and the 
income is secured against 38 strong 
tenants. Our blended acquisition 
NIY of 5.80% is 286 basis points 
above our all in fixed cost of 
debt of 2.94% pa.

Our portfolio is diversified. We have 
invested in nine defensive and robust 
property sectors and with significant 
geographic and tenant diversification 
to spread our exposure. This also 
gives us the flexibility, as a non-
specialised REIT, to transact where 
we see the best opportunity to 
provide value to our shareholders.

Our income is predictable. All of our 
leases contain regular upward only 
rent reviews, 96% of which are 
either index-linked or contain fixed 
uplifts. This coupled with the length 
of our leases means our earnings are 
predictable.

We have transacted on 13 forward 
funded or forward committed 
acquisitions which offer significant 
discount to built values and our 
network has helped us source 83% 
of our transactions ‘off market’ 
providing value to shareholders at 
the point of transaction. This, 
coupled with our rent reviews, 
continues to provide income and 
value growth to our shareholders.

Portfolio overview
Since the Company’s IPO in February 2017, we have invested 
new capital and recycled capital after profitable disposals to 
build a portfolio of 108 separate assets at an average net initial 
yield on acquisition of 5.80%. The portfolio was independently 
valued at £589.5 million4 as at 31 March 2019, which represents 
an average increase of 9.6% above acquisition price (excluding 
purchase costs) and yield compression across the portfolio 
of 67 bps to an average valuation NIY of 5.13%. The assets are 
valued individually, and no portfolio premium has been added.

Our portfolio is diversified across nine robust and defensive 
sectors and strategically weighted towards those sectors 
that demonstrate a positive economic outlook or comparative 
outperformance in times of economic downturn and 
uncertainty. The long weighted average unexpired lease term to 
first break of the portfolio at 31 March 2019 was 22 years, one 
of the longest in the sector. The rental income is underpinned 
by 38 separate financially strong institutional grade tenants.

Rent reviews across the portfolio are 96% index linked or 
contain fixed uplifts, to provide inflation protection and growth. 
Those rent reviews are well staggered, with 29% of rents 
annually reviewed and 71% reviewed on a five yearly cycle, 
which provides for a smooth growth to income and supports 
our objective to broadly grow the Company’s returns in line 
with inflation over the medium term.

We have carefully built a defensive portfolio with a robust rent 
review linkage spread across the assets, with 62% linked to RPI, 
25% linked to CPI and 9% containing fixed uplifts. The remaining 
4% are subject to upward only open market rent reviews.

35% of the portfolio’s annual passing rent of £31.4 million is 
subject to review in the year to 31 March 2020, comprising 72 
separate rental uplifts. Of the Group’s annual passing rent, 54% 
of reviews are subject to a cap, which averages at 4% p.a. and 
51% are subject to a collar, with averages at 2% p.a.
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Disposals
Our strategy is to diversify our sources of achieving capital 
growth, as described below, to avoid exposure to any single 
source. We have strategically capitalised on the level of 
unsolicited interest in our high quality and secure portfolio 
through five separate disposals during and since the year ended 
31 March 2019.

The disposals demonstrate the value achieved both at the 
point of acquisition through capital discipline, sourcing assets 
‘off market’ and taking advantage of our ability to acquire 
assets across all sectors where we see value, and subsequently 
our asset management initiatives that continue to generate 
value through the course of our ownership as well as wider 
market movements.

Asset disposals allow us to generate growth, by selling at 
a significant premium to purchase price and book value, as 
demonstrated by the realised gain on disposal of £6.46 million 
for the year. Further to this, disposals allow us to actively 
maintain the portfolio’s long WAULT across the portfolio and 
to defensively manage our portfolio’s exposures including rent 
review types, tenant group and sector.

The following disposals were made during and since the year 
ended 31 March 2019:

• Two care home assets let to Prime Life generating a geared 
IRR of 56% p.a. and a realised gain on disposal of £2.5 million;

• An industrial asset let to SIG generating a geared IRR of 39% 
p.a. and a realised gain on disposal of £2 million;

• Two hotel assets let to Travelodge generating a geared IRR of 
23% p.a. and a realised gain on disposal of £1.2 million;

• A portfolio of 11 supported living healthcare assets 
generating a geared IRR of 18% p.a. and a realised gain on 
disposal of £0.9 million; and

• After the year end a portfolio of six supported living 
healthcare assets generating a geared IRR of 19% and 
a realised gain on disposal of £1.2 million.

Acquisitions
We source capital to provide our shareholders with further 
diversification and acquire accretive assets through disposals, 
capital raises and by leveraging our assets through debt. As 
at 1 April 2019 we had fully invested the capital raised to date. 
During and since the year ended 31 March 2019, the following 
capital was raised:

• £175.25 million of gross equity proceeds through the 
Company’s oversubscribed equity raise in October 2018;

• £75 million of debt capital through leveraging the assets 
acquired with the new equity; and

• A total of £54.67 million of gross proceeds generated 
through the profitable disposals during the year described 
above and a further £14.05 million since 31 March 2019.

This capital was reinvested into accretive assets that diversified 
the portfolio and enhanced exposure to strong tenants, sectors 
for which we see a positive economic outlook and value as 
well as to rent review types that we expect to provide a higher 
rate of growth.

PORTFOLIO RENT REVIEW 
PROFILE 

 RPI 62%
 CPI 25%
 Fixed 9%
 Open market 4%

MULTI-SECTOR 
DIVERSIFICATION

Hotels 28%
Industrial 25%
Healthcare 19%
Discount foodstores 11%
Leisure 8%
Student 4%
Car park 3%
Office 1%
Automotive 1%
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In particular, we have increased our exposures through 
acquisitions as follows:

• Increased industrial assets to 25% (31 March 2018: 8%), 
with forecasts for 2019 and 2020 showing industrial 
sectors continuing to deliver superior returns to the wider 
property market;

• Increased discount foodstores to 11% (31 March 2018: 4%) 
and budget hotels to 28% (31 March 2018: 17%) both of which 
tend to outperform in times of economic uncertainty; and

• Increased exposure to rent reviews linked to RPI to 62% 
(31 March 2018: 40%), with RPI expected to materially 
outperform CPI and open market rent reviews, as 
shown below.

The following acquisitions were made during the year ended 
31 March 2019:

• £6.2 million hotel built for Premier Inn/Whitbread Group 
in Middlesbrough on 25 year lease with CPI linked uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.1%; 

• £25.5 million industrial and head office facility acquired from 
and leased back to Stobart Group on 22.5 year lease with RPI 
linked uplifts, reflecting NIY of 5.5%; 

• £4.95 million industrial and head office facility let to 
Brenntag on 25 year lease with RPI linked uplifts, reflecting 
NIY of 5.4%; 

• £6.56m industrial facility let to Johnson Matthey on 22 year 
lease with fixed 2.5% uplifts, reflecting NIY of 6.2%;

• £6.54 million care home built for the Priory Group in Co. 
Armagh, Northern Ireland on 30 year lease with fixed 2.5% 
uplifts, reflecting NIY of 6.5%; 

• £6.6 million forward funded hotel built for Travelodge in 
Edinburgh on 25 year lease with CPI linked uplifts, reflecting 
NIY of 5.4%; 

• £8.5 million forward funded discount food store built for Lidl 
and B&M in Cowdenbeath on 25 year lease with CPI linked 
uplifts, reflecting NIY of 6.0%; 

• £30.7 million hotel let to Jurys Inn in Plymouth with 24 year 
unexpired lease term with RPI uplifts, reflecting NIY of 5.7%; 

• £60 million, 121 acre car storage facility let to BCA in Corby 
with 18 year unexpired lease term with RPI linked uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.25%; 

• £45.2 million portfolio of five geographically diversified 
hotels let to Travelodge with weighted average unexpired 
lease term of 24 years and RPI linked uplifts, reflecting 
NIY of 5.8%; 

• £17.1 million industrial facility let to Snell Advanced Media 
and guaranteed by Belden Inc. in Newbury with 17 year 
unexpired lease term with RPI uplifts, reflecting NIY of 5.5%; 

• £11.7 million industrial facility let to West Midlands Travel 
and guaranteed by National Express Group in Birmingham 
and West Bromwich on 25 year leases with RPI linked uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 5.7%; 

• £12.2 million forward funded discount food store and 
retail scheme built for Aldi, Home Bargains and TK Maxx 
in Evesham with 15 year unbroken lease to Aldi with RPI, 
reflecting NIY of 5.4%; 

• £8.3 million forward commitment discount foodstore 
scheme built for Lidl with ancillary units let to Greggs, 
Starbucks and Subway in Andover with 15 year lease with 
fixed rental uplifts, reflecting NIY of 5.5% (exchanged not 
completed); 

• £4.3 million discount store let to The Range in Carlisle 
with 20 year unexpired lease term with fixed 2% uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 6%; 

• £6.6 million forward funded hotel built for Travelodge 
in Gosport on a 25 year lease with CPI uplifts, reflecting 
NIY of 5.7%; 

• £6.78 million local council office building let to South 
Lanarkshire Council on 20 year lease with 2.5% fixed rental 
uplifts, reflecting NIY of 5%; 

• £2.4 million discount gym let to Pure Gym in Norwich with 
15 year unexpired lease term with fixed 2% rental uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 6%; 

• £13.8 million care home let to BUPA with a 23.5 year 
unexpired lease term with RPI linked rental uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 6.4%;

• £2.6 million discount gym let to Pure Gym in Andover with 
15 year unexpired lease term with fixed 2% rental uplifts, 
reflecting NIY of 6% (exchanged not completed);

• £23.6 million forward funding project of 13 geographically 
diversified Starbucks drive-thru coffee shops with 15 year 
lease terms and RPI linked uplifts, reflecting NIY of 5.7% 
(exchanged not completed); and

• £14.5 million acquisition of a Dobbies garden centre in 
Morpeth with a 30 year unbroken lease term and RPI linked 
uplifts, reflecting NIY of 5.5% (exchanged in the year but 
completed in April 2019).

Investment Advisor’s report (continued)
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PORTFOLIO WELL DIVERSIFIED BY LOCATION

East Midlands 13%
East of England 12%
Yorkshire & The Humber 12%
Scotland 11%
South West England 11%
North East England 10%
North West England 10%
South East England 10%
West Midlands 6%
Northern Ireland 3%
Wales 2%
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Investment Advisor’s report (continued)

Our business model
Our business model is designed to deliver secure and growing 
inflation protected income and capital growth over the medium 
term. Our strategies and implementation are described in detail 
in this report and in the Investment Objective and Policy.

Delivering secure income
We are delivering against the Company’s investment objective 
by selectively acquiring properties let to a broad range of 
tenants with strong financials and a proven operating track 
record, diversifying our income stream by tenant, geography 
and sector. We also focus on assets that are of strategic 
importance to the tenant to enhance the quality and security 
of our income.

The portfolio WAULT to first break of 22 years is one of 
the longest in the industry, and the income is secured 
against 38 separate institutional-grade tenants. Our 
blended acquisition yield of 5.80% is 286 bps above our all-
in cost of debt of 2.94% p.a. which is fixed for a weighted 
maturity of 12 years.

Key to our objective is the inflation protection offered by our 
portfolio. The Group aims to grow the dividend in real terms 
in line with inflation. To achieve this protection, we have 
linked 96% of the Group’s rent reviews, by rental income, to 
inflation indexes or regular fixed uplifts that mirror expected 
levels of inflation. In the medium term, inflation is expected 
to outperform open market rent reviews which is discussed in 
further detail below.

The embedded income growth in our portfolio and the fixed 
rate of debt and a largely fixed cost base, allows for fuller 
visibility of income growth to investors.

Active management of the portfolio, including the recycling 
of capital and other asset management initiatives, allow us to 
maintain a long weighted average unexpired lease term which 
preserves the security and predictability of the Group’s income 
and underpins the dividends paid to our shareholders.

The Group’s rental income is further protected by the strong 
residual land characteristics demonstrated by assets that are 
of strategic importance to their tenant. This has been achieved 
by investing in, inter alia, brand new forward funded assets 
designed to the tenant’s specification, sectors where tenants 
have historically held their property freehold and property with 
a low (or indeed reverse) spread between investment value 
and vacant possession value due to strong underlying trading 
performance of the asset.

Delivering attractive growth
The portfolio was valued at 31 March 2019 at £589.5 million4, 
representing a like for like uplift of 9.6% from acquisition price, 
excluding acquisition costs. The Company has provided a total 
NAV return of 12.13%, comprising dividends of 6.125 pence and 
capital growth of 6.93 pence, over opening NAV.

We employ a number of techniques to secure assets at an 
attractive initial yield, without compromising on the asset 
quality, security or lease length. These techniques ensure 
that value growth is provided to shareholders at the point of 
acquisition. Our asset management initiatives provide, where 
opportunities exist, further value growth throughout the 
period of ownership of the asset.

Forward funded structures benefit from materially lower 
purchase costs (usually less than 3% versus 6.8% standard 
purchaser’s costs), significant discount to built values for 
smaller sized assets (average valuation increase of 12%) along 
with a range of other benefits. We have described these 
benefits and the implementation of our forward funding 
strategy in detail below. 

Our multi-sector strategy allows for a selective and 
opportunistic approach to acquisitions and disposals across 
a large universe of assets to find value and avoid overheated 
sectors as well as utilising early mover advantage in under-
exploited asset classes. 

Disposals at a premium have provided a gain above carrying 
value of £3.32 million in the year and a realised gain of 
£6.46 million, crystallising both the change in fair value 
previously recognised and the premium to book value as 
returns for investors.

We also target transactions in smaller lot sizes (especially 
forward fundings) generally to avoid the radar of most 
institutional investors and more comprehensively marketed 
properties to avoid competition on acquisitions which hardens 
net initial yields.

Our range of longstanding contacts, including developers, 
tenants, agents and vendors, has allowed us to acquire 83% of 
our total acquisitions, and 80% of the acquisitions during the 
year, through ‘off market’ purchases identified via our extensive 
relationships, maintained by our reputation for speed and 
certainty of transacting.
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Forward funding pre-let developments
Forward funding strategy
The Group’s portfolio consists of a mix of built, forward funded 
and forward commitment assets. Forward funded structures 
benefit from materially lower purchase costs as well as 
significant discounts to built values for smaller lot sizes which 
delivers growth at and from the point of purchase. 

This approach to forward funding pre-let developments, 
especially in the smaller lot sizes, has allowed us to source high 
quality, lower-priced assets (compared to built values) with 
reduced competition and transaction costs. The approach also 
ensures the asset acquired is brand new with a full unexpired 
lease term and built to tenant specification to increase 
strategic importance, which are also key benefits of forward 
commitment structures.

On all forward funded acquisitions, the Group avoids exposure 
to development risk by ensuring, prior to land completion and 
entering the funding agreement: 

• a fixed-price is agreed for the forward funded purchase, 
covering land, construction cost and developer’s profit – all 
cost overruns are the risk of the developer/contractor;

• full planning consent is in place;

• a suitable tenant pre-let is in place;

• the developer receives their profit only when the asset 
achieves practical completion;

• any delay to practical completion of the works is the risk of 
the developer, as they pay the Group a licence fee, which is 
brought into the Group’s Adjusted earnings, to the date that 
the lease completes;

• the main contractor is always a reputable entity with 
a proven track record and provides a parent company 
guarantee or performance bond;

• a full suite of warranties is provided by the main contractor 
and professional team; and

• all construction cost drawdowns are paid to the developer 
monthly in arrears.

Forward funding/commitment implementation
To date, the Group has achieved practical completion on nine 
forward funding/commitment projects, six of which took place 
during and since the year ended 31 March 2019. The average 
valuation gain achieved over acquisition price (excluding 
acquisition costs) across the forward funding assets is 12%.

During and since the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group 
has achieved practical completion on the following forward 
funding/forward commitment development projects:

• Industrial and head office facility built for the GE Oil & Gas 
group in Cramlington near Newcastle, reached practical 
completion on 1 May 2018 on schedule and on budget and 
the new 20 year lease with RPI linked uplifts completed;

• Care home facility built for the Priory Group in Northern 
Ireland, Co. Armagh, reached practical completion on 
24 May 2018 on schedule and on budget and the new 30 year 
lease with RPI linked uplifts completed;

• Discount retail park built for Aldi, Home Bargains, Heron 
Foods, Starbucks and Greggs in Bradford reached practical 
completion on 15 October 2018 on schedule and on budget 
and the new 20 year lease with RPI linked uplifts completed;

• Budget hotel and leisure scheme built for and let to 
Travelodge, Costa Coffee and KFC in Camborne, reached 
practical completion on 1 November 2018 and the new 25 
year lease to Travelodge with CPI linked uplifts completed; 

• Budget hotel built for and let to Premier Inn in Chesterfield, 
reached practical completion on 19 March 2019 and the 
new 25 year lease to Premier Inn with CPI linked uplifts 
completed; and

• Budget hotel and leisure scheme built for and let to 
Travelodge, Starbucks and Subway, in Swindon, reached 
practical completion on 15 April 2019 and the new 25 year 
lease to Travelodge with CPI linked uplifts completed.

All other projects are running on time and on budget.

Market opportunity – rental growth
Inflation has continued to outpace open market rent reviews 
and the spread has widened since the EU referendum result 
in June 2016, which triggered a decline in the value of Sterling 
and pushed up the cost of imported goods. As set out below, 
the anticipated continuing outperformance of inflation over 
open market rental growth forecasts is expected to prove 
advantageous to the Group’s rental growth. 
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The HM Treasury Forecasts for the Economy (Medium term 
forecasts, February 2019) shows an average RPI growth 
forecast of 3.12% p.a. from 2019 to 2023 (see below). The 
Investment Property Forum UK Consensus Forecasts Report 
(Winter 2018-19) shows a materially lower average open market 
rental growth forecast of 0.8% p.a. for the same period.

RPI forecast
Year RPI p.a.

2019 2.8%

2020 3.2%

2021 3.2%

2022 3.2%

2023 3.2%

Average 3.12%

Source: HM Treasury Forecasts for the Economy (February 2019) 

Open market rental growth forecast
Year Market rental growth p.a.

2019 0.0%

2020 0.2%

2021 0.9%

2022 1.3%

2023 1.4%

Average 0.8%

Source: Investment Property Forum UK Consensus Forecasts (Winter 2018-2019) 

We have continued to implement the Company’s Investment 
Strategy and have benefited from this economic reality by 
linking the vast majority of our rental uplifts to inflation.

This forecast inflation, together with the Group’s low and 
largely fixed cost base, is expected to allow for:

• higher income growth for the Group via rental increases in 
line with inflation;

• enhanced dividend yield due to substantial free cash flows 
generated via the 286 bps spread between triple net rental 
income (5.8% average NIY) and low all-in fixed cost of debt 
(2.94% p.a.) with a 12 year average maturity – rising to 
486 bps by expiry of the loan facility, assuming conservative 
rental growth of 2.5% p.a.; and

• capital growth through the capitalisation of rental increases 
following rent reviews.

Investment Advisor’s report (continued)

Aggregate acquisition price
(Excluding acquisition cost)

Valuation as at 
31 March 2019

PORTFOLIO

£537.88 milllion
£589.5 milllion

+9.6%

31 March 2018 31 March 2019

EPRA NAV PER SHARE

107.67 pence
114.60 pence

+6.4%

2018/19 2019/20

DIVIDEND TARGET

5.50 pence
5.75 pence

+4.5%
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Asset management
Our collaborative asset management is designed and 
implemented to ensure that our property meets our tenants’ 
requirements, thereby strengthening our relationships with 
them and improving the quality of the income, to enhance the 
underlying capital value.

Initiatives can include agreeing new lettings, extending lease 
lengths on existing assets, facilitating tenants’ capital and fit 
out expenditure and successfully negotiating rent reviews. 

During the year, 67 index-linked and fixed rental uplifts were 
agreed with tenants. The capitalisation of this rental growth 
has contributed to the Group’s NAV growth.

As part of the acquisition and lease back to Stobart in Widnes, 
the Group facilitated the build of 20 acres of concrete hard 
standing for storage and a new 23,000 sq ft head office facility, 
which completed in October 2018. Rent was received under 
the new leases from the date of legal completion, meaning that 
a return was received on the Group’s investment from the date 
of acquisition. 

The head office underlines the tenant’s commitment to the 
property and the whole project demonstrates our collaborative 
approach to asset management in order to enhance security of 
income and underlying capital values.

Six forward funding/commitment assets built to tenant 
specification and on new fully unexpired long term leases 
reached practical completion during and since the year ended 
31 March 2019 and are described in detail in forward funding 
implementation above.

We regularly review the financial performance and viability 
of our tenant group, as well as performing stringent due 
diligence on potential new tenants prior to putting acquisitions 
forward to the Board. This includes initial analysis and ongoing 
monitoring of financial results, strategic business plans, 
press cuttings and corporate strategies. We always look 
to ensure the main trading company of a tenant’s group or 
the parent/plc entity provides a guarantee arrangement to 
strengthen the covenant.

Outlook
The Company is well placed to continue to deliver strong 
income and capital growth performance to our shareholders. 
The portfolio is resilient, highly diversified and fully let or pre-
let to 38 institutional grade tenants on very long-term, index-
linked leases. It is focused on sectors which are performing well 
and is underpinned by robust residual values.

With 96% of the rental income linked to inflation, and 
predominantly RPI inflation, we expect our rental growth 
to continue to outperform market levels and to provide 
an increasing spread to our very low cost of debt and 
running costs. 

Our strategy continues to provide growth, both at the point of 
and from acquisition, through carefully investing, largely ‘off 
market’, in smaller lot sizes and also moving early into growth 
sectors across the long-let property space in the UK whilst 
maximising efficiency in transaction costs, as well as on an 
ongoing basis through active management of the portfolio, the 
implementation of our forward funding strategy and regular 
index-linked rent reviews.

The weight of capital seeking secure, long-let and index-linked 
assets is increasing due to the level of political and economic 
uncertainty. We constantly monitor this interest as part of our 
management of the portfolio and over time expect to continue 
to carefully recycle capital as a measure to deliver further 
value to shareholders, lengthen income streams and maintain 
conservative weightings to our sectors.

We have also built a substantial pipeline of new, accretive 
assets, which should provide further value to shareholders and 
enhanced diversification to our portfolio.

 

LXi REIT Advisors Limited
Investment Advisor

17 May 2019
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Property portfolio 
As at 31 March 2019

Tenant/Guarantor Sector Location

Unexpired 
lease term 

to first break 
(years)

Rent  
review

 
NIY

Purchase  
Price Structure

Completed acquisitions as at 31 March 2019

GE UK Group Industrial Cramlington, 
Northumberland

19 RPI 5.75% £11.09m Forward funding

SIG (Trading) Limited Industrial Carlisle 7% Disposal at 31% uplift on purchase 
price generating 39% p.a. geared IRR

Q-Park N.V. Car park Sheffield 26 RPI 5.2% £19.1m Built

Travelodge, Starbucks 
& Subway

Hotel Melksham, 
near Bath

24 CPI 5.91% £6.21m Forward funding

Travelodge Hotel Haverhill, Essex 5.92% Disposal at 20% uplift on purchase 
price generating 23% p.a. geared IRR

Premier Inn Hotel Whitley Bay, 
North Tyneside

18 CPI 5% £6.26m Forward 
commitment

QHotels Holdings 
Limited

Hotel Cambridge 20 CPI 6.1% £18.53m Built

Aldi, Home Bargains, 
Heron Foods, 
Starbucks & Greggs

Discount foodstore Bradford 20 RPI 6.15% £11.09m Forward funding

Travelodge, Starbucks 
& Subway

Hotel Swindon 25 CPI 5.8% £8.28m Forward funding

Priory Group Healthcare Leeds 21 RPI 6.3% £8.43m Built

Travelodge Hotel Ipswich 6.12% Disposal at 20% uplift on purchase 
price generating 23% p.a. geared IRR

Travelodge, Costa 
Coffee & KFC

Hotel Camborne, Cornwall 25 CPI 6.15% £6.2m Forward funding

Priory Group Healthcare Northern Ireland 24 Fixed 2.5% 6.5% £3.23m Built

Priory Group Healthcare Northern Ireland 28 Fixed 2.5% 6.5% £5.99m Built

Motorpoint Limited Automotive Burnley 18 RPI 6.5% £5.7m Built

Housing Associations Healthcare Across England 27 CPI 6.5% £55.16m Built

Part disposal at 10% uplift on purchase 
price generating 18% p.a. geared IRR

Post year end part disposal at 
10% uplift on purchase price 

generating 19% p.a. geared IRR

Prime Life Healthcare Leicestershire 
and Lincolnshire

30 RPI 6.5% £12.35m Built

Part disposal at 21% uplift on purchase 
price generating 56% p.a. geared IRR

Premier Inn/
Whitbread Group plc

Hotel Chesterfield 25 CPI 5.2% £6.79m Forward funding

Mears Group plc Student Dundee 20 CPI 6.3% £20.25m Built

Stobart Group Industrial Rotherham 19 RPI 6.2% £3.4m Built
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Tenant/Guarantor Sector Location

Unexpired 
lease term 

to first break 
(years)

Rent  
review

 
NIY

Purchase  
Price Structure

Premier Inn/
Whitbread Group plc

Hotel Middlesbrough 19 CPI 5.1% £6.17m Forward 
commitment

Lidl Discount foodstore Chard 15 RPI 5.75% £5.45m Forward funding

Priory Group Healthcare Northern Ireland 29 Fixed 2.5% 6.5% £6.54m Forward 
commitment

Stobart Group Industrial Widnes 22 RPI 5.5% £25.52m Built

Johnson Matthey Industrial Teesside 21 Fixed 2.5% 6.2% £6.56m Built

Brenntag Industrial Sunderland 24 RPI 5.4% £4.95m Built

Travelodge Hotel Edinburgh 25 CPI 5.4% £6.56m Forward funding

Lidl, B&M Discount foodstore Cowdenbeath 15 CPI 6% £8.5m Forward funding

Jurys Inn Hotel Plymouth 23 RPI 5.7% £30.7m Built

BCA Industrial Corby 17 RPI 5.25% £60m Built

The Range Discount Carlisle 19 Fixed 2% 6% £4.25m Built

Travelodge Hotel Portfolio of five 
assets across the UK

24 RPI 5.8% £45.18m Built

Snell Advanced Media 
(Belden Inc. Guarantor)

Industrial Newbury 17 RPI 5.5% £17.1m Built

National Express Group Industrial Birmingham and 
West Bromwich

25 RPI 5.7% £11.66m Built

Aldi, Home Bargains, 
TK Maxx

Discount foodstore Evesham 15 RPI 5.4% £12.15m Forward funding

Travelodge Hotel Gosport 25 CPI 5.65% £6.6m Forward funding

South Lanarkshire 
local authority

Office South Lanarkshire 20 Fixed 2.5% 5% £6.78m Built

Pure Gym Leisure Norwich 15 Fixed 2% 6% £2.4m Built

BUPA Healthcare Bristol 23 RPI 6.4% £13.78m Built

Completed portfolio 22 year 
WAULT

5.81% £488.91m

Completed portfolio valuation 5.13% £537.2m

Assets exchanged but not completed at 31 March 2019

Lidl, Greggs, 
Starbucks, Subway

Discount foodstore Andover 15 Fixed 2% 5.5% £8.3m Forward 
commitment

Pure Gym Leisure Andover 15 Fixed 2% 6% £2.59m Forward 
commitment

Starbucks & Costa 
Coffee portfolio

Leisure Across the UK 15 RPI 5.7% £23.58m Forward funding

Dobbies Leisure Morpeth 30 RPI 5.5% £14.5m Built

Total portfolio 21 year 
WAULT

5.64% £537.88m

Total portfolio valuation4 5.13% £589.5m
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Portfolio summary 
At 31 March 2019, the Group’s property portfolio comprised 
108 separate assets yielding secure long term inflation-
linked income, underpinned by 38 institutional-grade 
tenants across nine robust property sectors and with strong 
residual land values.

These factors give our investors a long term growing income 
stream with the security of strong assets and tenant covenants, 
as well as capital growth.

Portfolio statistics

£589.5 million4 
portfolio value

22 year WAULT 
to first break

5.81% average 
acquisition NIY

£31.4 million contracted 
annual rent

83% acquired 
‘off market’

100% let or pre-let 
to strong tenants
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Forward funding 
Our portfolio is a mix of built and forward funded acquisitions. 
Forward funding contributes to the Group’s growth, averaging 
at 12% over acquisition price, excluding costs, compared with 
average portfolio growth of 10%.

The Investment Advisor’s relationships with developers 
enables the Group to source and invest in forward funded 
developments through which we acquire brand new assets and 
long term leases, whilst avoiding exposure to development risk 
at a significant discount to built values. 

Full detail of our forward funding strategy and implementation 
are given in the Investment Advisor’s report.

Forward funding statistics

12% average valuation gain 75 bps average yield compression 
since acquisition 

3% average acquisition costs 100% pre-let to strong tenants

Governance
Additional Inform
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STOBART 
Widnes

Description Substantial industrial facility to 
store and process biomass timber 
and headquarters office

Purchase Price £25.5 million
Net Initial Yield 5.50%
Size 40 acres
Acquisition Structure Built
Date Acquired June 2018
Rent Review RPI
Tenant Stobart Group Limited
Lease Term 22.5 years unexpired, with no break
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The Investment Advisor

John White 
Joint Fund Manager

John entered the commercial real 
estate market in 1987 and after 
qualifying as a chartered surveyor 
at Allsops moved to the investment 
team at Cushman & Wakefield. 
There he became a partner and 
spent the next 18 years advising 
a range of institutional investor 
clients on their UK acquisitions and 
disposals across the full range of 
real estate sub-sectors including 
retail (in and out of town), offices 
(London, Thames Valley and regional 
cities), logistics, and alternatives. 

John moved into private equity 
real estate in 2007 and co-founded 
Osprey Equity Partners in 2011 and 
LXi REIT Advisors Limited in 2016.

Simon Lee 
Joint Fund Manager

Simon trained and practised 
as a solicitor at City law firm, 
Slaughter and May, from 1999 to 
2006, following which he spent 
the next 10 years in private equity 
real estate, co-founding Osprey 
Equity Partners in 2011 and LXi 
REIT Advisors Limited in 2016.

Simon’s role covers a wide range 
of areas, including formulating 
investment strategies and products, 
raising equity and debt finance, 
asset selection, and negotiating 
and implementing transactions 
with vendors, purchasers, 
developers, investors, lenders 
and joint venture partners.

Jamie Beale 
Director

Jamie has significant transaction 
management experience in 
the long income and forward 
funding real estate space.

Prior to joining the Investment 
Advisor, Jamie spent five years in the 
city as a real estate lawyer where 
he acted for leading developers and 
property funds on a variety of deals, 
ranging from large scale residential 
developments to substantial 
commercial property transactions.

Freddie Brooks 
Head of Finance

Freddie trained and qualified as 
a chartered accountant in BDO’s 
Real Estate and Construction team, 
gaining significant experience in 
the sector, working with similar 
listed vehicles, private property 
funds, developers and a number of 
the UK’s top contractors. Freddie 
joined the LXi REIT Advisors 
management team in early 2018.

Freddie’s role covers all historical and 
strategic financial matters including 
annual and interim reporting, 
budgeting and forecasting, 
treasury management and the 
monitoring of internal controls.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day running of the Company to LXi REIT Advisors Limited pursuant to the terms of the 
Investment Advisory Agreement. The Investment Advisory Agreement is reviewed and amended when necessary to ensure it 
reflects the relationship between the Board and the Investment Advisor.

The Investment Advisor comprises property, legal and finance professionals with significant experience in long-let real estate, as 
described below. The team has capitalised and transacted over £1 billion of commercial property assets with a particular focus on 
accessing secure, long-let and index-linked UK commercial real estate through forward funding and built asset structures.

The core management team (whose details are set out below) is supported by a team of other finance, legal, property and 
compliance professionals and administrative support staff. The key individuals responsible for executing the Company’s 
investment strategy are:
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Sophie Rowney 
General Counsel

Sophie is a Partner and General 
Counsel of the Investment Advisor’s 
group, overseeing the group’s legal 
activities across all service lines. 
Sophie trained and practised as 
a solicitor within the finance team at 
Slaughter and May, advising clients 
on a range of corporate and financing 
transactions. Sophie studied law 
at BPP Law School in London and 
holds a degree in English Literature 
from the University of Bristol.

Nick Barker 
Compliance Officer

Nick is Chief Compliance Officer for 
the Investment Advisor’s group. He 
has 30 years’ experience of financial 
regulation and compliance, having 
previously worked at HM Treasury; 
the US National Association 
of Securities Dealers (NASD); 
the Investment Management 
Regulatory Organisation (IMRO); 
in the compliance advisory 
teams at Deloitte & Touche 
and Ernst & Young; and as an 
independent compliance adviser.

Alex Mattey 
Head of Investor Relations

Alex is responsible for managing 
investor relations for the Investment 
Advisor’s group. Alex was previously 
an Investor Relations Manager 
for INTERNOS Global Investors, 
a pan-European real estate manager 
with €3.5bn AUM. Before that, 
Alex worked at Clearbell Property 
Partners, a UK opportunistic real 
estate manager, primarily assisting 
with raising their second fund which 
closed at £400m. Over the last 
12 years, Alex has also worked as 
a Corporate Broker for public and 
private entities as well as providing 
IR consultancy to a range of FTSE 
350 and small-cap companies.

Charlotte Fletcher 
Head of Transactions

In order to continue to deliver 
strong performance, the Investment 
Advisor invests in talent and 
resource which will benefit the 
Group. The Investment Advisor 
appointed Charlotte as Head of 
Transactions in October 2018.

Charlotte is a qualified solicitor with 
responsibility for managing and 
implementing transactions. Prior 
to joining the Manager, Charlotte 
trained and practised as a solicitor 
at City law firm, Travers Smith, 
where she advised developers, 
lenders and property funds on 
a range of commercial real estate 
matters, including commercial 
and residential development and 
forward funding, acquisitions 
and disposal, re-financing and 
landlord and tenant work. 
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Investment objective
The investment objective of the Company is to deliver inflation 
protected income and capital growth over the medium term for 
shareholders through investing in a diversified portfolio of UK 
property that benefits from long-term index-linked leases with 
institutional-grade tenants.

Investment policy
The Company will target inflation-protected income and capital 
returns through acquiring a diversified portfolio of UK property 
assets, let or pre-let to a broad range of tenants with strong 
covenants on very long and index-linked leases.

The Company will invest in these assets directly or through 
holdings in special purpose vehicles and will seek to acquire 
high quality properties, taking into account the following key 
investment considerations:

• the properties will be let or pre-let to institutional grade 
tenants, with strong financials and a proven operating 
track record;

• very long unexpired lease terms (typically 20 to 30 years to 
expiry or first break);

• rent reviews to be inflation-linked or contain fixed 
uplifts; and

• each property should demonstrate strong residual land 
value characteristics.

The Company will target a wide range of sectors, including, but 
not limited to, office, retail, leisure, industrial, distribution and 
alternatives – including hotels, serviced apartments, affordable 
housing and student accommodation. It will also focus on 
growth sub-sector areas such as discount retailers, budget 
hotel operators and “last mile” distribution units fuelled by 
online retail.

The Company will seek to only acquire assets let or pre-let to 
tenants with strong financial covenants and on long leases 
(typically 20 to 30 years to expiry or first break), with index-
linked or fixed rental uplifts, in order to provide security of 
income and low cost of debt. The Company will only invest 
in assets with leases containing regular upward-only rental 
reviews. These reviews will typically link the growth in rents 
to an inflation index such as, RPI, RPIX or CPI (with potentially 
a minimum and maximum level) or alternatively may have 
a fixed annual growth rate.

The Company will neither undertake any direct development 
activity nor assume direct development risk. However, 
the Company may invest in fixed-price forward funded 
developments, provided they are pre-let to an acceptable 
tenant and full planning permission is in place. In such 
circumstances, the Company will seek to negotiate the receipt 
of immediate income from the asset, such that the developer 
is paying the Company a return on its investment during the 
construction phase and prior to the tenant commencing rental 
payments under the terms of the lease.

Where the Company invests in forward funded developments:

• the Company will not acquire the land until full planning 
consent and tenant pre-lets are in place;

• the Company will pay a fixed price for the forward 
funded purchase, covering land, construction cost and 
developer’s profit;

• all cost overruns will be the responsibility of the developer/
contractor; and

• if there is a delay to completion of the works, this will be 
a risk for the developer/contractor, as they will pay the 
Company a return on the agreed acquisition price until 
practical completion occurs.

Investment objective and policy
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The Company may utilise derivative instruments for efficient 
portfolio management. The Company may engage in full or 
partial interest rate hedging or otherwise seek to mitigate 
the risk of interest rate increases as part of the Company’s 
portfolio management.

The Company will not invest in other investment funds.

Investment restrictions
The Company will invest and manage its assets with the 
objective of spreading risk and will have the following 
investment restrictions:

• the value of no single property, at the time of acquisition of 
the relevant investment, will represent more than 30 per 
cent of the higher of: (i) Gross Asset Value; or (ii) where the 
Company has not yet become fully geared, Gross Asset Value 
adjusted on the assumption that the Company’s property 
portfolio is geared at 30 per cent. loan to value;

• the aggregate maximum exposure to any one tenant, at the 
time of acquisition of the relevant investment, will be 30 per 
cent. of the higher of: (i) Gross Asset Value; or (ii) where the 
Company has not yet become fully geared, Gross Asset Value 
adjusted on the assumption that the Company’s property 
portfolio is geared at 30 per cent. loan to value; and

• the Company will invest in no fewer than two sectors 
at any time.

The investment limits detailed above apply once the Gross Issue 
Proceeds are fully invested. The Company will not be required 
to dispose of any investment or to rebalance its portfolio as 
a result of a change in the respective valuations of its assets.

The Directors are focused on delivering capital growth over 
the medium term and intend to reinvest proceeds from any 
potential future disposals in accordance with the Company’s 
investment policy. However, should the Company fail to re-
invest the proceeds or part proceeds from any disposal within 
12 months of receipt of the net proceeds, the Directors intend 
to return those proceeds or part proceeds to shareholders 
in a tax efficient manner as determined by the Directors 
from time to time.

Cash held for working capital purposes or received by the 
Company pending reinvestment or distribution will be held in 
sterling only and invested in cash, cash equivalents, near cash 
instruments and money market instruments.

The Directors currently intend at all times to conduct the 
affairs of the Company so as to enable it to qualify as a REIT for 
the purposes of Part 12 of the CTA 2010 (and the regulations 
made thereunder).

The Company will at all times invest and manage its assets 
in a way that is consistent with its objective of spreading 
investment risk and in accordance with its published 
investment policy and will not at any time conduct any trading 
activity which is significant in the context of the business of the 
Company as a whole.

Borrowing policy
The Company will seek to utilise borrowings to enhance 
equity returns. The level of borrowing will be on a prudent 
basis for the asset class, and will seek to achieve a low cost of 
funds, whilst maintaining flexibility in the underlying security 
requirements and the structure of the Company. The Directors 
intend that the Company will maintain a conservative level of 
aggregate borrowings with a medium term target of 30 per 
cent. of the Company’s gross assets and a maximum level of 
aggregate borrowings of 35 per cent. of the Company’s gross 
assets at the time of drawdown of the relevant borrowings.

Debt will be secured at the asset level and potentially at the 
Company or SPV level, depending on the optimal structure for 
the Company and having consideration to key metrics including 
lender diversity, debt type and maturity profiles.

In the event of a breach of the investment policy and 
investment restrictions set out above, the Directors upon 
becoming aware of such breach will consider whether the 
breach is material, and if it is, notification will be made to 
a Regulatory Information Service.

No material change will be made to the investment policy 
without the approval of shareholders by ordinary resolution 
at any general meeting, which will also be notified by an 
RNS announcement.
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BRENNTAG 
Sunderland

Description Storage and distribution facility
Purchase Price £4.9 million
Net Initial Yield 5.4%
Size 18,500 sq ft
Acquisition Structure Built asset
Date Acquired August 2018
Rent Review RPI
Tenant Brenntag UK Limited
Lease Term 25 years unexpired, with no break
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KPI and definition Relevance to strategy Performance Result
2019 2018

1. Total NAV return
Total NAV return measures the 
change in the EPRA NAV and 
dividends during the period as 
a percentage of EPRA NAV at 
the start of the period. We are 
targeting a minimum of 8% per 
annum over the medium term. 

Total NAV return measures the 
ultimate outcome of our strategy, 
which is to deliver value to our 
shareholders through our portfolio 
and to deliver a secure and growing 
income stream. A reconciliation of 
total NAV return is provided in the 
Additional Information section. 

12.13% 11.91% 52% ahead of our medium 
term minimum target.

2. Dividend per share
Dividends paid to shareholders 
and proposed in relation to  
a period. 

The dividend reflects our 
ability to deliver a low-risk but 
growing income stream from our 
portfolio and is a key element 
of our total NAV return.

5.50 pence 4.00 pence 10% ahead of our dividend target at IPO.

3. EPRA NAV per share 
The value of our assets (based on an 
independent valuation) less the book 
value of our liabilities, attributable 
to shareholders and calculated in 
accordance with EPRA guidelines. 
At the current and comparative 
period end there were no differences 
between EPRA NAV and IFRS NAV.

The NAV reflects our ability 
to grow the portfolio and to 
add value to it throughout 
the life cycle of our assets.

114.60 pence 107.67 pence Increased EPRA NAV per share by 6.44%.

4. Loan to value
The proportion of our total assets 
that is funded by borrowings. Our 
target maximum LTV is 35%.

The LTV measures the prudence of 
our financing strategy, balancing 
the additional returns and portfolio 
diversification that come with 
using debt against the need to 
successfully manage risk.

29% 30% Below our medium term 
maximum target of 35%.

5. Adjusted earnings per share
Post-tax Adjusted earnings per 
share attributable to shareholders, 
which includes the licence fee 
receivable on our forward funded 
development assets treated under 
IFRS as discounts to investment 
property acquisitions.

The Adjusted earnings per share 
reflects our ability to generate 
income from our portfolio, which 
ultimately underpins our dividend 
payments. A reconciliation of 
Adjusted earnings is included 
in Note 26 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

6.11 pence 5.05 pence Reflecting 1.1 times dividend cover.

6. Total expense ratio 
The ratio of total operating 
expenses, including management 
fees expressed as a percentage 
of the net asset value.

The total expense ratio is a key 
measure of our operational 
excellence. Maintaining 
a low cost base supports our 
ability to pay dividends. 

0.87% 1.14% In line with our target.

7.  Weighted average 
unexpired lease term

The average unexpired lease terms 
of the property portfolio, weighted 
by annual passing rents. Our target 
WAULT is a minimum of 20 years.

The WAULT is a key measure of the 
quality of our portfolio. Long lease 
terms underpin the security and 
predictability of our income stream. 

22 years 24 years In line with our investment objective.

8.  Percentage of contracted 
rents index linked or fixed

This takes the total value 
of contracted rents that 
contain rent reviews linked 
to inflation or fixed uplifts.

This measures the extent to 
which we are investing in line 
with our investment objective, to 
provide inflation-linked returns.

96% 96% In line with our investment objective.

Our objective is to deliver attractive, low-risk returns to shareholders, by executing our investment policy.  
Set out below are the key performance indicators (‘KPIs’) we use to track our performance.

Key performance indicators
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The table below shows additional performance measures, calculated in accordance with the Best Practices Recommendations 
of the European Public Real Estate Association (‘EPRA’). We provide these measures to aid comparison with other European real 
estate businesses.

Reconciliations of EPRA Earnings and NAV are included in Notes 26 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements respectively. 
Reconciliations of other EPRA performance measures are included in the Additional Information section.

EPRA performance measures

KPI and definition Purpose Performance
2019 2018

1. EPRA NAV
Net asset value adjusted to include properties 
and other investment interests at fair value and to 
exclude certain items not expected to crystallise 
in a long term investment property business.

Adjusts NAV under IFRS to provide stakeholders 
with the most relevant information on the 
fair value of the assets and liabilities within 
a true real estate investment company, 
with a long term investment strategy.

£403.75 million/ 
114.60 pence 
per share

£211.98 million/  
107.67 pence per share

2. EPRA Earnings 
Earnings from operational activities (which 
excludes the licence fees receivable on our 
forward funded development assets).

A key measure of a company’s underlying 
operating results and an indication of 
the extent to which current dividend 
payments are supported by earnings.

£14.85 million/ 
5.55 pence 
per share

£5.82 million/  
4.20 pence per share

3. EPRA NNNAV
EPRA NAV adjusted to include the fair values of:

(i) financial instruments;

(ii) debt; and

(iii) deferred taxes.

Adjusts EPRA NAV to provide stakeholders 
with the most relevant information on 
the current fair value of all the assets and 
liabilities within a real estate company.

£404.99 million/ 
114.95 pence 
per share 

£212.92 million/  
108.15 pence per share

4. EPRA NIY
Annualised rental income based on the cash 
rents passing at the reporting date, less non-
recoverable property operating expenses, 
divided by the market value of the property, 
increased with (estimated) purchasers’ costs.

This measure should make it easier for 
investors to judge for themselves how the 
valuations of two portfolios compare.

5.14% 5.47%

5. EPRA ‘Topped-Up’ NIY
This measure incorporates an adjustment to the 
EPRA NIY in respect of the expiration of rent-free 
periods (or other unexpired lease incentives, such 
as discounted rent periods and step rents).

This measure should make it easier for 
investors to judge for themselves how the 
valuations of two portfolios compare.

6.01% 7.67%

6. EPRA Vacancy
Estimated market rental value (‘ERV’) of vacant 
space divided by the ERV of the whole portfolio.

A ‘pure’ (%) measure of investment property 
space that is vacant, based on ERV.

0.00% 0.00%

7. EPRA Cost Ratio
Administrative and operating costs (including 
and excluding costs of direct vacancy) 
divided by gross rental income.

A key measure to enable meaningful measurement 
of the changes in a company’s operating costs.

16.37% 
(no direct vacancy 
costs incurred)

25.83%  
(no direct vacancy 
costs incurred)
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board considers that the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are consistent with those identified in the 
Company’s previous Annual Report and are as follows:

Risk Mitigant Probability Impact

Property and real estate risks
Competition for properties
The Group will face competition from other property investors. 
Competitors may have greater financial resources than the Group 
and a greater ability to borrow funds to acquire properties. 
Competition in the property market may also lead either to 
an oversupply of properties in the target market through over 
development or the price of existing properties being driven 
up through competing bids by potential purchasers.

The Board has set the overall investment objective and strategy 
of the Group. The Board reviews the performance of the Group 
against its investment objectives at quarterly Board meetings. The 
Investment Advisor monitors the Group’s financial position and 
returns on an ongoing basis. The Investment Advisor has long standing 
relationships and an extensive track record. The Group also have 
a wide range of available assets given (i) the multi sector approach 
and (ii) our ability to forward fund as well as invest in built assets.

Moderate Moderate

Property valuation
The Group invests in commercial properties. Property is inherently 
difficult to value due to the individual nature of each property. As 
a result, valuations are subject to uncertainty and there can be no 
assurance that the estimates resulting from the valuation process 
will reflect actual sales prices that could be realised by the Group in 
future. Such investments are generally illiquid; they may be difficult 
for the Group to sell and the price achieved on any realisation may 
be a discount to the prevailing valuation of the relevant property.

The Group only acquires properties with strong fundamentals that 
are of strategic importance to their tenants. The Group aims to 
hold assets for long-term income and embeds income growth into 
leases which contributes toward positive valuation movements. 
An experienced Independent Valuer has been appointed to carry 
out bi-annual property valuations. The performance of third 
party service providers is regularly reviewed by the Board.

Low Moderate 
to High

Tenant default risk
Dividends payable by the Group and ability to service the Group’s 
debt will be dependent on the income from the properties it owns. 
Failure by one or more tenants to comply with their rental obligations 
could affect the ability of the Company to secure dividends.

The Group undertakes thorough due diligence before acquisition and 
only acquires assets let to strong tenants with proven operating track 
records who will be able to pay the rents as and when they are due. Tenant 
creditworthiness and performance is also monitored on an ongoing basis. 
The Group has 38 strong tenants across nine property sectors and is not 
over exposed to any single tenant or industry, minimising exposure.

Low Moderate

Financial risks
Operating within banking covenants
The Group’s borrowing facilities contain certain financial covenants 
relating to loan to value ratio and interest cover ratio, a breach of 
which would lead to a default on the loan. The Group must continue 
to operate within these financial covenants to avoid default.

The Group acquires property with a low loan to value ratio (‘LTV’) and 
there is significant headroom for valuation movements. The Group’s LTV 
at 31 March 2019 was 29%, below our maximum LTV of 35% and materially 
below our default covenant of 50%. The Group has embedded index linked 
of fixed income growth in 96% of its leases, by value, and fully fixed the rate 
of debt. We also maintain a long WAULT which makes covenant compliance 
more predictable and the Investment Advisor regularly monitors this.

Low High

Other risks
Dependence on the Investment Advisor
The Group relies on the Investment Advisors services, market 
intelligence, relationships and expertise. To a large extent the Group’s 
performance is reliant on the continued service of the Investment 
Advisor. A termination of the Investment Advisory Agreement 
would have an adverse impact on the Group’s performance.

The Board has executed a long-term Investment Advisory Agreement 
securing the services of Investment Advisor until February 2022. The 
Board meets regularly with the Investment Advisor to promote a positive 
working relationship and the performance of the Investment Advisory is 
monitored by the Management Engagement Committee. The Investment 
Advisory fee is based on a sliding scale of market capitalisation to align 
the Investment Advisor’s interest with those of the shareholders.

Low High

Compliance
Failure to adhere to accounting, legal and regulatory requirements 
could result in material adverse consequences to the Group. If 
the Group fails to remain qualified as a REIT, the Group will be 
subject to UK corporation tax on some or all its property rental 
income and chargeable gains, which would reduce the earnings 
and amounts available for distribution to shareholders.

The Investment Advisor monitors compliance with the REIT regime. 
The Group has appointed experienced third-party tax advisors to assist 
with tax compliance matters with appropriate relevant experience. 
Calculation of dividends is carried out by the Group’s Administrator 
before review by the AIFM and Investment Advisor. The performance 
of third party service providers is regularly reviewed by the Board.

Low High

Political uncertainty 
Following the decision to exit the European Union, the triggering of 
Article 50 and the subsequent failure to reach a deal, there is 
significant political and economic uncertainty in the UK. The extent of 
the potential impact on the Group is unknown but the impact on the 
economy could result in difficulty raising further capital in the EU and/
or a change in the regulatory compliance burden on the Group. Until 
the terms of Brexit become clearer the exact outcome and potential 
impact for the business is difficult to predict.

The Board recognises that the level of uncertainty makes the risk difficult to 
mitigate fully. The strength of the Company’s tenant and guarantor group 
reduces the risk of economic uncertainty impacting our income returns and 
our diverse portfolio is well positioned to withstand any economic downturn. 
The Group invests solely in UK property. We also note the flight to attractive 
secure long income which has emerged in the current climate of uncertainty, 
attracting many investors to the sector due to the positive yield gap to gilts. 
We continue to monitor closely the potential impact of changes in the 
regulatory environment that may impact the Group.

Moderate Low
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Going concern and viability

Going Concern
The Board regularly monitors the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. The Strategic Report describes in detail the 
Group’s financial position, income streams and loan facilities as 
at 31 March 2019.

The Group benefits from a secure and contractual long income 
stream and fully fixed cost of debt of 2.94% at 29% LTV. The 
earliest loan facilities expire in July 2029 and the weighted 
maturity at 31 March 2019 was 12 years. The Group and the 
Company had net assets at 31 March 2019 of £403.75 million 
and £361.58 million respectively and the Group has cash 
reserves of £62.62 million. The Group’s capital commitments 
outstanding and contingent liabilities of £71.39 million as at 
that date are fully covered by the available cash reserves, when 
adjusted to include the proceeds of post year end disposals.

Based on this information, the Board believes there are 
no material uncertainties in relation to the Group and the 
Company’s ability to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future and therefore have adopted the going concern basis in 
the preparation of this financial information.

Viability statement
In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, the 
Board has assessed the prospects of the Group over a longer 
period than the 12 months required by the ‘Going Concern’ 
provision. The Board conducted this review for a five year 
period to March 2024.

The longer term financial projections used by the Board to 
consider the Group’s viability cover a period that is longer than 
the Investment Advisory Agreement which expires in 2022. It is 
assumed within the projections that the Investment Advisory 
Agreement is renewed on consistent terms when it expires as 
the Board has reasonable confidence that the agreement will be 
renewed or an appropriate equivalent put in place.

Five years was considered appropriate as it is covered by 
the Group’s longer term financial projections. The Board 
considers the sensitivity of the financial projections to a range 
of key assumptions impacting compliance with secured 
debt covenants. 

The key assumptions sensitised include rental growth, both 
open market and index linked, as well as rent recovery and 
a softening in property yields over the period.

Based on the work performed, the Board has a reasonable 
expectation that the Group will be able to continue in business 
over the five year period of its assessment.

Approval
The Strategic Report was approved by the Board of Directors.

Stephen Hubbard
Chairman of the Board of Directors

17 May 2019
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PREMIER INN  
Chesterfield

Description Premier Inn budget hotel
Purchase Price £6.9 million
Net Initial Yield 5.2%
Size 91 bedrooms
Acquisition Structure Pre-let forward funding
Date Acquired November 2017
Rent Review CPI
Tenant/Guarantor Premier Inn Hotels Limited/

Whitbread Group plc
Lease Term 25 years, with no break
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The Directors present their report for the financial year ended 
31 March 2019. 

Dividends
Dividends are split into elements comprising property income 
distribution (‘PID’) and an ordinary dividend.

In line with the Company’s dividend policy, four dividends 
totalling 6.125 pence per ordinary share were paid during the 
Year, of which 5.483 pence was paid as PIDs and 0.642 pence 
was paid as ordinary.

The Board proposes a final dividend in respect of the year 
of 1.375 pence per ordinary share, payable on 3 July 2019 
to shareholders on the register at the close of business 
on 31 May 2019. The ordinary shares will go ex-dividend 
on 30 May 2019.

The dividend will be paid as a PID.

Directors
The names of the current Directors are given in the Board 
of Directors section of this report, together with their 
biographical details and other information. 

The Company maintains Directors’ and Officers’ liability 
insurance cover, at its expense, on the Directors’ behalf.

Principal professional advisors
AIFM and Investment Advisor
LJ Administration (UK) Limited is the Company’s AIFM. The 
Company and the AIFM have appointed LXi REIT Advisors 
Limited to provide certain services in relation to the Company 
and its portfolio. The Management Engagement Committee 
report includes details of the remuneration of the AIFM and the 
Investment Advisor.

The AIFM is regulated in the conduct of investment business 
by the FCA. The AIFM is, for the purposes of the AIFMD and the 
rules of the FCA, a ‘full scope’ UK alternative investment fund 
manager with a Part 4A permission for managing AIFs, such 
as the Company.

Depositary
Langham Hall UK Depositary LLP has been appointed as 
Depositary to provide cash monitoring, safekeeping and 
asset verification and oversight functions as prescribed by 
the AIFMD. The Depositary Statement is included in this 
Annual Report.

Company Secretary 
PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited has been appointed as 
the Company Secretary of the Company and provides company 
secretarial services and a registered office to the Company.

Administrator
Langham Hall UK Services LLP has been appointed as 
Administrator to the Company. The Administration of the 
Company is delegated and in consultation with the AIFM and 
the Investment Advisor, financial information of the Group 
prepared by the Administrator is reported to the Board.

Share capital
Capital structure and voting rights
As at 31 March 2019 the Company’s issued share capital 
comprised 352,314,872 ordinary shares, each of 1 pence 
nominal value. Each ordinary share held entitles the holder to 
one vote and there are no restrictions on those voting rights. 
Voting deadlines are stated in the Notice and Form of Proxy and 
are in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

There are no restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares, nor 
are there any limitations or special rights associated with the 
ordinary shares. 

The Company did not purchase any of its ordinary shares during 
the year, nor did any nominee or third party with the Company’s 
assistance acquire any shares on behalf of the Company. 

Ordinary Shares Number Gross proceeds

Balance at the start of the Year 196,881,707 £198.35m

Shares issued in October 2018 
placing programme

155,433,165 £175.25m

Balance at the end of the Year 352,314,872 £373.60m

Directors’ report
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Premium management and share issuance
A prospectus was issued by the Company on 24 September  
2018 in respect of a placing programme for up to 155.5 million 
ordinary shares. The shareholders approved the allotment 
of shares pursuant to the placing programme at the General 
Meeting held on 11 October 2018. The placing programme was 
fully subscribed and as a result the Company issued 155,433,165 
ordinary shares on 16 October 2018 (2017: 58,731,707) for total 
gross proceeds of £175,250,894 (2017: £60,200,000).

General authority to issue shares
The issuance of new ordinary shares is entirely at the 
discretion of the Board, and no expectation or reliance should 
be placed on such discretion being exercised on any one or 
more occasions.

The maximum number of ordinary shares which can be 
admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange without the 
publication of a prospectus is 20% of the ordinary share capital 
on a rolling previous 12 month basis at the time of admission 
of the shares.

Any ordinary share issues will be issued at a premium to 
(cum income) net asset value.

The Board believes that there are benefits in the Company 
having the ability to issue new shares. An ordinary resolution 
seeking shareholders’ authority to issue new ordinary shares 
together with a special resolution to disapply pre-emption 
rights will be put forward for approval at the Company’s 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’).

On 17 May 2019, the Board proposed a target equity raise 
of £100 million. A prospectus is expected to be published 
in connection with the raise on 20 May 2019. Authority to 
allot up to £200 million of ordinary shares pursuant to the 
equity raise will be sought at the Company’s General Meeting 
on 13 June 2018. The Notice of Meeting can be found in the 
Circular expected to be released on 20 May 2019.

Treasury shares & discount management
The Companies Act allows companies to hold shares acquired 
by way of market purchase as treasury shares, rather than 
having to cancel them. This would give the Company the ability 
to re-issue ordinary shares quickly and cost effectively thereby 
improving liquidity and providing the Company with additional 
flexibility in the management of its capital base. No ordinary 
shares will be sold from treasury at a price less than the (cum 
income) NAV per existing ordinary share at the time of their sale 
unless they are first offered pro rata to existing shareholders. 
No ordinary shares were bought back during the Year.

The Company may seek to address any significant discount to 
NAV at which its ordinary shares may be trading by purchasing 
its own ordinary shares in the market on an ad hoc basis.

The Directors currently have the authority to make market 
purchases of up to 29,512,567 ordinary shares. The maximum 

price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for an ordinary 
share must not be more than the higher of: (i) 5 per cent. above 
the average of the mid-market values of the ordinary shares 
for the five business days before the purchase is made; or (ii) 
that stipulated by the regulatory technical standards adopted 
by the EU pursuant to the Market Abuse Regulation from time 
to time. Ordinary shares will only be repurchased at prices 
below the prevailing NAV per ordinary share, which should 
have the effect to increasing the NAV per ordinary share for 
remaining shareholders.

It is intended that a renewal of the authority to make market 
purchases will be sought from shareholders at each Annual 
General Meeting of the Company. Purchases of ordinary shares 
will be made within guidelines established from time to time by 
the Board. Any purchase of ordinary shares would be made only 
out of the available cash resources of the Company. 

Ordinary shares purchased by the Company may be held in 
treasury or cancelled.

The Directors will have regard to the Company’s REIT status 
when making any repurchase and purchases of ordinary 
shares may be made only in accordance with Companies Act 
2006, the Listing Rules and the Disclosure Guidance and 
Transparency Rules.

Investors should note that the repurchase of ordinary shares 
is entirely at the discretion of the Board and no expectation or 
reliance should be placed on such discretion being exercised on 
any one or more occasions or as to the proportion of ordinary 
shares that may be repurchased.

A resolution to renew the Company’s authority to purchase its 
own shares will be put forward for approval at the Company’s 
forthcoming AGM.

Settlement of ordinary share transactions ordinary share 
transactions in the Company are settled by the CREST share 
settlement system.

Significant shareholders
The Directors have been formally notified of, as at 
31 March 2019, the following shareholdings comprising 3% or 
more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Name Holding %

Bank of Montreal 29,391,556 8.34

J.M. FINN & CO LTD 15,970,037 4.53

Brooks Macdonald Group plc 12,676,746 3.60

Old Mutual plc 11,141,368 3.16

Since the year end, there have been no changes to 
shareholdings notified to the Company.
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ESG Policy
The Investment Advisor and the Investment Manager takes 
environmental, social and governance issues into consideration 
when making investment decisions and in managing its 
business generally. The Investment Advisor and the Investment 
Manager recognise that they have a responsibility to conduct 
their investment business in a socially responsible way and 
recognise that their clients may have the same values. The 
Investment Manager’s ESG policy can be found at their website 
www.alvariuminvestments.com/legal-information.

Environmental matters
The Board has considered the requirement to disclose the 
Company’s measured carbon emissions sources under the 
Companies Act (Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) 
Regulations 2013.

During the year ended 31 March 2019:

• any emissions from the Group’s properties have been the 
tenants’ responsibility rather than the Group’s, so the 
principle of operational controls has been applied;

• any emissions that are either produced from the 
Company’s registered office or from offices used to provide 
administrative support are deemed to fall under the 
Investment Manager’s responsibility; and

• the Group has not leased or owned any vehicles which fall 
under the requirements of Mandatory Emissions Reporting.

As such, the Board believes that the Company has no 
reportable emissions for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Group is externally advised and administered by the 
Investment Advisor and other professional advisors and 
therefore has no employees or office premises. Any emissions 
from the Group’s property are the responsibility of the tenant 
under the principle of operational control. The Group has no 
greenhouse gas emissions to report from its operations, nor 
does it have responsibility for any other emission producing 
sources under the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and 
Directors’ Reports) Regulations 2013.

Employees
The Company has no employees and no share schemes.

Modern Slavery Act 2015, Bribery Act 2010 and Criminal 
Finances Act 2017
The Directors are satisfied that, to the best of their knowledge, 
the Company’s principal suppliers, as listed on page 34, comply 
with the provisions of Modern Slavery Act 2015 and maintain 
adequate safeguards in keeping with the provisions of the 
Bribery Act 2010 and Criminal Finances Act 2017.

Financial instruments
The Group’s financial risk management objectives and 
policies are included in Note 22 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM of the Company will be held on 26 June 2019 at 
11.00 am. The Notice convening the AGM is contained in 
this Annual Report. The Directors consider that all of the 
resolutions to be proposed are in the best interests of the 
Company and it is their recommendation that shareholders 
support these proposals as they intend to do so in respect of 
their own shareholdings.

Independent Auditor
BDO LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office 
as Independent Auditor and a resolution to re-appoint them will 
be put to shareholders at the AGM.

Disclosure of information to the Independent Auditor
Each of the Directors at the date of the approval of this report 
confirms that: 

(i)  so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Company’s Independent Auditor 
are unaware; and 

(ii)  the Director has taken all steps that he ought to have 
taken as Director to make himself aware of any relevant 
information and to establish that the Company’s 
Independent Auditor are aware of that information. 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

In accordance with Section 489 of the Companies 
Act 2006, a resolution to re-appoint BDO LLP as the 
Company’s Independent Auditor will be put forward at the 
forthcoming AGM. 

By order of the Board 

Anthony Lee
For and on behalf of
PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited
Company Secretary 

17 May 2019

Directors’ report (continued)
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The Board is committed to high standards of 
corporate governance.

The Board has considered the principles and recommendations 
of the AIC Code by reference to the AIC Guide. The AIC Code, as 
explained by the AIC Guide, addresses all the principles set out 
in the UK Corporate Governance Code, as well as setting out 
additional principles and recommendations on issues that are of 
specific relevance to the Company as an investment company. 

A copy of the AIC Code can be viewed on the AIC’s website.

Statement of compliance
The Listing Rules and the Disclosure Guidance and 
Transparency Rules of the UK Listing Authority require listed 
companies to disclose how they have applied the principles and 
complied with the provisions of The UK Corporate Governance 
Code 2016 (the ‘UK Code’), as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council (‘FRC’). The UK Code can be viewed on the FRC’s 
website. An updated UK Corporate Governance Code was 
published in 2018, which will be applicable for the year ending 
31 March 2020.

The related AIC Corporate Governance Guide for Investment 
Companies issued in February 2016 (the ‘AIC Guide’) provides 
specific corporate governance guidelines to investment 
companies. The FRC has confirmed that AIC member companies 
who follow and report against the AIC Code of Corporate 
Governance (‘AIC Code’) will be meeting their obligations in 
relation to the UK Code. The AIC Code can be viewed on the 
AIC’s website. An updated AIC code was published in 2019, 
reflecting changes made in 2018. The 2019 AIC Code will be 
applicable to the Company for the year ending 31 March 2020.

The Board has considered the principles and recommendations 
of the AIC Code by reference to the AIC Guide. The AIC Code, 
as explained by the AIC Guide, addresses the principles set 
out in the UK Code as well as setting out additional principles 
and recommendations on issues that are of specific relevance 
to the Company.

The Board considers that reporting against the principles and 
recommendations of the AIC Code, and by reference to the AIC 
Guide (which incorporates the UK Code), will provide better 
information to shareholders. The Company has complied 
with the recommendations of the AIC Code and the relevant 
provisions of the UK Code, except as set out below.

The UK Corporate Governance Code includes 
provisions relating to: 

UK Corporate Governance 
Code provision Explanation

Remuneration of executive 
Directors (section D)

As an externally managed investment 
company, the Board does not include 
any executive Directors. As such, the UK 
Corporate Governance Code’s principles in 
respect of executive Directors’ remuneration 
are not applicable and the Board therefore 
does not have a Remuneration Committee.

The role of the chief 
executive (provision A.2.1)

As an externally managed investment 
company, the Board does not include 
any executive Directors. As such, the 
UK Corporate Governance Code’s 
principles in respect of the role of the 
chief executive are not applicable.

The need for an internal audit 
function (provision C.3.6)

As explained in the Report of the Audit 
Committee, this is not considered to 
be appropriate given the nature and 
circumstances of the Company. The 
Audit Committee keeps the needs for an 
internal function under periodic review.

The Company is an externally managed investment 
company. All of the Company’s day-to-day management and 
administrative functions are outsourced to third parties, as 
explained in the Directors’ Report. For the reasons set out in 
the AIC Guide, the Board considers these provisions are not 
relevant to the position of the Company, being an externally 
managed investment company and the Company does not 
therefore comply with them.

Corporate governance statement
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LEADERSHIP 
The Board of Directors

Board responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the effective stewardship of 
the Company’s affairs. Investment policy and strategy 
are determined by the Board. It is also responsible for the 
borrowing policy, dividend policy, public documents such 
as the reports and financial statements and corporate 
governance matters. In order to enable them to discharge 
their responsibilities, the Board has full and timely access to 
relevant information.

Composition of the Board 
At the date of this report, the Board consists of four non-
executive Directors including the Chairman. All the Directors 
have served during the year and since their appointment on 
27 January 2017.

The Board believes that during the year ended 31 March 2019 its 
composition was appropriate for an investment company of the 
Company’s nature and size. All of the Directors are independent 
of the Investment Advisor and AIFM. All of the Directors are 
able to allocate sufficient time to the Company to discharge 
their responsibilities effectively. 

The Directors have a broad range of relevant experience to 
meet the Company’s requirements and their biographies are 
given in The Board of Directors section of this Annual Report.

The Board recognises the benefits to the Company of having 
longer serving Directors together with progressive refreshment 
of the Board. In line with corporate governance best practice, 
all of the Directors will retire and offer themselves for election 
at the AGM of the Company to be held on 26 June 2019. The 
Board recommends all the Directors for election for the reasons 
highlighted above and in the performance appraisal section 
of this report.

The Directors have appointment letters which do not provide 
for any specific term. They are subject to re-election by 
shareholders at a maximum interval of three years. Copies of 
the Directors’ appointment letters are available on request 
from the Company Secretary. Upon joining the Board, any new 
Directors receive an induction and relevant training is available 
to Directors on an ongoing basis. 

A procedure has been adopted for Directors, in the furtherance 
of their duties, to take independent professional advice at the 
expense of the Company. 

A policy of insurance against Directors’ and officers’ liabilities is 
maintained by the Company.

Board committees 
The Company has established an Audit Committee which is 
chaired by John Cartwright and consists of all the Directors. 
A report of the Audit Committee is included in this Annual 
Report. The Board considers that the members of the Audit 
Committee have the requisite skills and experience to fulfil the 

responsibilities of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 
examine the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management 
and internal control systems and reviews the Interim Report 
and the Annual Report. It also reviews the scope, results, 
cost effectiveness independence and objectivity of the 
Independent Auditor.

The Company has established a Management Engagement 
Committee which is chaired by Jan Etherden and consists of 
all the Directors. The Management Engagement Committee’s 
principal duties are to consider the terms of appointment of 
the Investment Advisor and the AIFM and it annually reviews 
those appointments and the main terms of the Investment 
Management Agreement and the Investment Advisory 
Agreement. The Management Engagement Committee 
reviews the performance and fees payable to the other key 
service providers to the Company, reviews the fees payable 
to the Directors and makes recommendations to the Board 
regarding those fees.

The Board as a whole previously fulfilled the function of 
the Nomination Committee. However, on 13 February 2019 
the Board decided to form a Nomination Committee. The 
Nomination Committee is chaired by Stephen Hubbard and 
consists of all the Directors. The Nomination Committee has 
been established for the purpose of reviewing the Company’s 
succession plan and identifying and putting forward candidates 
for the office of director of the Company. The Nomination 
Committee will meet at least once a year. The Nomination 
Committee considers job specifications and assesses whether 
candidates have the necessary skills and time available to 
devote to the job. During the year, there were no Nomination 
Committee meetings, but one has been held since the year-end.

Each Committee has adopted formal terms of reference, 
which are reviewed at least annually, and copies of these are 
available on the Company’s website or on request from the 
Company Secretary.

Meeting attendance 
During the year, the Directors have attended the 
following meetings.

Quarterly
Board

Audit
Committee

Management 
Engagement 

Committee

Number of 
meetings held

4 4 1

Stephen Hubbard 4 4 1

John Cartwright 4 4 1

Jan Etherden 4 4 1

Colin Smith OBE 4 4 1

During the year, there were no Nomination Committee 
meetings, but one has been held since the year-end.
*  In addition, a number of Board and Audit Committee sub-committee meetings were 

held for the approval of transactions and other matters requiring approval on behalf of 
the Board.

Corporate governance statement (continued)
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Stephen Hubbard
Non-Executive Chairman
Appointed: 27 January 2017

Length of service:  
Two years, four months

Stephen Hubbard serves as 
Executive Chairman of UK CBRE 
Group, the world’s largest property 
advisory firm.

Stephen joined Richard Ellis in 1976 
and served as Head of EMEA and 
UK Capital Markets from 1998 to 
2012. Stephen has been a director 
of Workspace Group plc since July 
2014. He is also a member of the 
Advisory Board for Redevco, a pan-
European property holding company.

Committee membership
• Audit Committee
•  Management Engagement 

Committee
• Nomination Committee (Chair)

Colin Smith OBE
Non-Executive Director
Appointed: 27 January 2017

Length of service:  
Two years, four months

Colin Smith OBE served for ten 
years as Chairman of Poundland 
Group Holdings, Europe’s largest 
single price discount retailer. Prior 
to this, he was Chief Executive and 
Finance Director of Safeway plc, 
the national supermarket retailer. 
Colin previously served as Chairman 
of Hilton Food Group plc having 
served as non-executive director 
since 2010. Hilton is a specialist retail 
meat packing business supplying 
major international food retailers 
in thirteen European countries and 
Australia. He also has experience 
in the not for profit sector having 
previously served as Chairman of The 
Challenge Network, as a trustee of 
Save the Children and as Chairman 
of the food industry sponsored Red 
Tractor assurance scheme. Colin has 
been appointed as the Company’s 
Senior Independent Director.

Committee membership
• Audit Committee
•  Management Engagement 

Committee
• Nomination Committee

Jan Etherden
Non-Executive Director
Appointed: 27 January 2017

Length of service:  
Two years, four months

Jan Etherden has over 35 years’ 
experience in the investment 
industry, as an analyst, fund 
manager, then a non-executive 
director. Previously head of UK 
equities for Confederation Life/Sun 
Life of Canada, she joined Newton 
in 1996 as a director specialising 
in multi-asset segregated 
portfolios and was also their 
Investment COO from 1999 to 2001. 
Subsequently she worked with 
Olympus Capital Management as 
business development manager for 
specialist hedge fund product. She 
previously has served as a director 
of Ruffer Investment Company 
Ltd and of TwentyFour Income 
Fund, and currently is a director 
of Miton UK MicroCap Trust plc.

Committee membership
• Audit Committee
•  Management Engagement 

Committee (Chair)
• Nomination Committee

John Cartwright
Non-Executive Director
Appointed: 27 January 2017

Length of service:  
Two years, four months

John Cartwright is Chief Executive 
of AREF, a post he has held since 
late 2009. His responsibilities are to 
represent and promote the interests 
of members, promote best practice 
in fund governance and ensure the 
smooth running of the association. 

Prior to this, John was with M&G 
Real Estate (formerly PRUPIM) for 
nearly 35 years in a variety of roles; 
latterly as Head of Institutional 
and Retail Funds and a member of 
PRUPIM’s Board and Investment 
Committee. He has more than 
20 years’ experience of managing 
pooled and segregated accounts 
for both retail and institutional 
investors. John is also a member 
of the Investment Committee of 
Lothbury Property Trust. John is 
a Fellow of the Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors.

Committee membership
• Audit Committee (Chair)
•  Management Engagement 

Committee
• Nomination Committee

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
The Directors are responsible for the determination of the 
Company’s investment policy and have overall responsibility 
for the Company’s activities, including the review of investment 
activity and performance and the control and supervision 
of the Company’s service providers. All of the Directors are 
non-executive and are independent of the AIFM and the 
Investment Advisor.
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Corporate governance statement (continued)

EFFECTIVENESS
Performance appraisal 
A formal annual performance appraisal process is performed 
on the Board, the committees, the individual Directors and the 
Company’s main service providers. 

A programme consisting of open and closed ended questions 
was used as the basis for the appraisal. The results were 
reviewed by the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and 
the Chairman of the Management Engagement Committee and 
discussed with the Board. A separate appraisal of the Chairman 
has been carried out by the other members of the Board and 
the results reported back by the Senior Independent Director to 
the Chairman. The Company’s most recent annual appraisal has 
been completed since the Company’s year end and the results 
of the performance evaluation were positive and demonstrated 
that the Directors showed the necessary commitment and 
expertise for the fulfilment of their duties.

Board diversity 
The Company’s policy is that the Board should have a broad 
range of skills. Consideration is given to the recommendations 
of the AIC Code and other guidance on boardroom diversity. The 
Board currently comprises one female and three male Directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY
Internal control 
The AIC Code requires the Board to review the effectiveness 
of the Company’s system of internal controls. The Board 
recognises its ultimate responsibility for the Company’s system 
of internal controls and for monitoring its effectiveness. The 
system of internal controls is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. 
It can provide only reasonable assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. The Board has undertaken a review 
of the Company’s internal controls framework. The Board 
believes that the existing arrangements, as described below, 
present an appropriate framework to meet the internal control 
requirements. By these procedures the Directors have kept 
under review the effectiveness of the internal control system 
throughout the year and up to the date of this report.

Risk management
The risk management framework established by the Board has 
been designed to identify, evaluate and mitigate the significant 
risks faced by the Company. A risk management framework 
can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance. The 
Board has contractually delegated the management of the 
investment portfolio, the registration services, administrative 
services and other services to third party service providers and 
reliance is therefore placed on the internal controls of those 
service providers. A formal risk assessment is performed on at 
least an annual basis which includes the use of a detailed risk 
assessment programme. The principal risks identified and the 
mitigation of those risks are disclosed in the Strategic Report in 
this Annual Report.

Risk appetite
The Board’s risk appetite is low. This is aligned with the 
Company’s investment objective and policy for which the Board 
has ultimate responsibility. The full investment objective and 
policy is included in the Strategic Report in this Annual Report. 
The Group selectively invests in UK commercial property 
assets let to a wide range of strong tenant covenants across 
a wide range of diverse and robust property sectors. The 
Group also invests in fixed price forward funded developments 
whilst not undertaking any direct development activity nor 
assuming direct development risk and does not undertake 
speculative developments.

Financial aspects of internal control 
The Directors are responsible for the internal financial control 
systems of the Company and for reviewing their effectiveness. 
These aim to ensure the maintenance of proper accounting 
records, the reliability of the financial information upon which 
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business decisions are made and which is used for publication 
and that the assets of the Company are safeguarded. As stated 
above, the Board has contractually delegated to external 
agencies the services the Company requires, but it is fully 
informed of the internal control framework established by 
the AIFM, the Investment Advisor, the Administrator and the 
Company’s Depositary to provide reasonable assurance on the 
effectiveness of internal financial controls. 

The key procedures include review of management accounts, 
monitoring of performance at quarterly Board meetings, 
segregation of the administrative function from investment 
management, maintenance of appropriate insurance and 
adherence to physical and computer security procedures. 

Other aspects of internal control 
The Board holds quarterly meetings, plus additional meetings 
as required. Between these meetings there is regular contact 
with the AIFM, the Investment Advisor, the Company Secretary 
and the Administrator. 

The Board has agreed policies on key operational issues. 

The Company’s key service providers report to the Board 
on operational and compliance issues. The AIFM and the 
Depositary provide reports to the Board, which are reviewed 
at the quarterly Board meetings.

The Administrator provides management accounts to the 
Board, which enables the Board to assess the financial position 
of the Company. Additional ad hoc reports are received 
as required and Directors have access at all times to the 
advice and services of the Corporate Company Secretary, 
which is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board 
procedures are followed.

This contact with the key service providers enables the Board 
to monitor the Company’s progress towards its objectives 
and encompasses an analysis of the risks involved. The 
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal 
controls systems is monitored and a formal review, utilising 
a detailed risk assessment programme has been completed. 
This included consideration of the Administrator’s and the 
Registrar’s internal controls report. There are no significant 
findings to report from the review. 

Principal risks 
The Directors confirm that they have carried out a robust 
assessment of the principal risks facing the Company, 
including those that would threaten its business model, future 
performance, solvency or liquidity. The principal risks and how 
they are being managed is set out in the Strategic Report. 

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS 
AND STAKEHOLDERS
Shareholder relations 
The Board and the Investment Advisor continues to develop 
relationships with shareholders through regular updates to the 
market, including the publication of quarterly fact sheets. At 
Board meetings, regular investor feedback is provided by the 
Investment Advisor and the Broker and the views of existing or 
potential shareholders about the Company are discussed. 

The Company’s first Annual General Meeting took place on 
26 June 2018 where the Board was pleased to speak face to 
face with shareholders attending. If any shareholder wishes 
to contact the Chairman directly they should contact the 
Company Secretary whose details are given on page 95.

Annual General Meeting
At least twenty-one days’ notice shall be given to all the 
members and to the Independent Auditor. All other general 
meetings shall also be convened by not less than twenty-one 
days’ notice to all those members and to the Independent 
Auditor unless the Company offers members an electronic 
voting facility and a special resolution reducing the period of 
notice to not less than fourteen days has been passed, in which 
case a general meeting may be convened by not less than 
fourteen days’ notice in writing. A special resolution will be 
proposed at the AGM to reduce the period of notice for general 
meetings other than the Annual General Meeting to not less 
than fourteen days. 

The Notice sets out the business of the AGM and any item not 
of an entirely routine nature is explained in this Annual Report. 

Separate resolutions are proposed for each substantive issue.
The Company’s AGM will be held on 26 June 2019.
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PRIME LIFE PORTFOLIO   

Description Three modern, purpose built homes
Purchase Price £28.5 million
Net Initial Yield 6.5% (sold at 5.25%)
Acquisition Structure Built asset
Date Acquired November 2017
Rent Review RPI
Tenant/Guarantor Prime Life
Lease Term 31 years unexpired, with 

no tenant break
Disposal Company sold part of this portfolio to a 

UK pension fund in June 2018. The sale 
generated a 56% geared IRR p.a. for the 
Company and reflected a 17% premium 
to latest book value
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Role of the Audit Committee 
The AIC Code of Corporate Governance recommends that 
Boards should establish Audit Committees consisting of at least 
three, or in the case of smaller companies, two independent 
non-executive directors. The Board is required to satisfy itself 
that the Audit Committee has recent and relevant experience. 

The main role and responsibilities of the Audit Committee 
should be set out in written terms of reference covering certain 
matters described in the AIC Code. The Company complies with 
the AIC Code. 

The main roles of the Audit Committee are:

• To report to the Board, identifying any matters in respect of 
which it considers that action or improvement is needed and 
making recommendations as to steps to be taken; and

• To report to the Board on how it has discharged its 
responsibilities.

The Audit Committee meets formally at least twice a year for 
the purpose of performing its main role and of considering the 
appointment, independence and objectivity, and remuneration 
of the Independent Auditor and to review the annual accounts 
and half-yearly financial report.

The Audit Committee also reviews the Company’s internal 
financial controls and its internal control and risk management 
systems. Where non-audit services are provided by the 
Independent Auditor, full consideration of the financial and 
other implications on the independence of the Independent 
Auditor arising from any such engagement are considered 
before proceeding. The Audit Committee has considered the 
non-audit work of the Independent Auditor during the year and 
does not consider that this compromises its independence. 

Composition 
All of the Directors of the Company are members of the Audit 
Committee. The Audit Committee has formal written terms of 
reference and copies of these are available on the Company’s 
website or on request from the Company Secretary. The 
Audit Committee has considered the need for an internal 

audit function and considers that this is not appropriate given 
the nature and circumstances of the Company. The Audit 
Committee keeps the needs for an internal audit function under 
periodic review. The chairman of the Company is a member of 
the Audit Committee to enable his greater understanding of the 
issues facing the Company. The Board and the Audit Committee 
believe that this is appropriate as he has recent and relevant 
financial experience and he is independent.

Relevant skills and experience
The members of the Audit Committee have recent and relevant 
financial experience. The Audit Committee membership 
includes individuals with substantial experience of the financial 
matters of listed companies and substantial experience of the 
property sector as described in detail in the Board of Directors 
section. This blend of skills and experience enables the Audit 
Committee to fulfil its responsibilities effectively.

Meetings 
There have been four Audit Committee meetings in the year. 
Attendance is included in the Directors’ Report.

Activities of the Audit Committee
During the year, the Audit Committee has carried out its 
responsibilities in accordance with the terms of reference. 

Details of the activities of the Audit Committee during 
the year were:

Financial statements
The Audit Committee has met with the Independent Auditor 
and reviewed the Annual Report in order to advise the Board 
on the contents, in particular the Audit Committee has advised 
the Board that taken as a whole, it is fair and balanced and 
provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess 
the Company’s performance, business model and strategy. The 
Audit Committee has recommended the approval of the Annual 
Report to the Board. Further detail of the Audit Committee’s 
monitoring of the financial statements and significant 
accounting matters are included below.

Report of the Audit Committee
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Valuations
The Audit Committee has reviewed both the interim and 
full year valuation reports from Knight Frank LLP and 
recommended to the Board the valuations to be included in 
both the Interim and Annual Report. In doing so, the Audit 
Committee has monitored the effectiveness of the Company’s 
valuation policies and methods.

Internal Control
With regard to monitoring internal control, the Audit 
Committee has:

• continued to monitor and review whether an internal 
audit function is required and reasons for the absence are 
explained above;

• monitored the Company’s accounting and financial 
internal control systems, and those of the Investment 
Advisor, Administrator and Depositary in order to make 
recommendations on any improvements to such systems;

• monitored the Company’s procedures for ensuring 
compliance with regulatory and financial reporting 
requirements and its relationship with the relevant 
regulatory authorities; and

• reviewed the Investment Advisor’s detection of fraud and 
whistleblowing arrangements.

Financial statements and significant accounting matters 
The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of the financial 
information published in the Interim and Annual Report and 
considers whether suitable and appropriate judgments in 
respect of areas which could have a material impact on the 
financial statements, have been made. It actively engages with 
the Independent Auditor to assess these significant judgments 
and the systems and processes in place to form these 
significant judgments. The Audit Committee considered the 
following to be the significant areas of judgment which could 
materially impact the financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2019:

Investment property valuation
The evaluation of investment property is the most material 
matter in the production of the financial statements. Knight 
Frank LLP has been appointed to value the Group’s property 
investments in accordance with the RICS requirements on 
a bi-annual basis. The Audit Committee reviewed a copy of 
the valuation once it had been completed and has received 
a detailed report from the Independent Valuer. The Audit 
Committee has reviewed the assumptions underlying the 
property valuations and concluded that the valuation at the 
Company’s year end is appropriate.

Independent Auditor
BDO LLP was selected as the Company’s Independent Auditor 
at the time of the Company’s launch following a formal tender 
process and review of the Independent Auditor’s credentials. 
The appointment of the Independent Auditor is reviewed 
annually by the Audit Committee and the Board and is subject 
to approval by shareholders. In accordance with the FRC 
guidance, the audit will be put out to tender within ten years of 
the initial appointment of BDO LLP.

Effectiveness of Independent Auditor 
The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the external audit process. The Audit 
Committee received a presentation of the audit plan from 
the Independent Auditor prior to the commencement of the 
audit and a presentation of the results of the audit following 
completion of the main audit testing. 

The Audit Committee performed a review of the Independent 
Auditor following the presentation of the results of the 
audit. The review included a discussion of the audit process 
and the ability of the Independent Auditor to fulfil its role. 
Following the above review, the Audit Committee has 
agreed that the re-appointment of the Independent Auditor 
should be recommended to the Board and the shareholders 
of the Company. 

Report of the Audit Committee (continued)
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During the year, the Audit Committee met key members of 
the senior audit team and BDO LLP formally confirmed its 
independence, as part of the annual reporting process. The 
Audit Committee liaises regularly with the lead audit partner, 
to discuss any issues arising from the audit as well as its cost 
effectiveness.

Provision of non-audit services 
The Audit Committee has put a policy in place on the supply of 
any non-audit services provided by the Independent Auditor. 

Such services are considered on a case-by-case basis and 
may only be provided to the Company if the provision of such 
services is at a reasonable and competitive cost and does not 
constitute a conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest 
which would prevent the Independent Auditor from remaining 
objective and independent. 

BDO LLP were paid fees in respect of the following non-audit 
services in the year:

Non-audit 
service provided

Rationale for using the  
Independent Auditor Fee

Reporting accountant 
services on the 
Company’s 
Prospectus 

Non-recurring service. The work was 
performed by a team independent of the 
audit team and the audit team place no 
reliance on the output of the services 
provided.

£60,000

Interim review Detailed knowledge and understanding 
of the business is required to adequately 
perform an interim review of the 
half-yearly report. It is standard market 
practice to use the Independent Auditor 
for this service.

£20,000

Agreed upon 
procedures on the 
1 September 2018 
published NAV

Non-recurring service. Detailed 
knowledge and understanding of the 
business is required to adequately 
perform agreed upon procedures on an 
interim NAV. It is standard market 
practice to use the Independent Auditor 
for this service.

£6,000

The independence of the Independent Auditor was considered 
prior to the provision of these services.

The Audit Committee do not believe that the provision of 
the above services affects the independence of BDO LLP, 
particularly as the reporting accountant in relation to the 
Company’s Prospectus and are non-recurring.

Fair, balanced and understandable financial statements
The Audit Committee has concluded that the Annual Report 
for the year ended 31 March 2019, taken as a whole, is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s business 
model, strategy and performance. The Audit Committee has 
reported its conclusions to the Board of Directors. The Audit 
Committee reached this conclusion through a process of review 
of the document and enquiries to the various parties involved in 
the production of the Annual Report. 

John Cartwright 
Chairman of the Audit Committee

17 May 2019
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Role of the Management Engagement Committee
The Management Engagement Committee meets formally at 
least once a year for the purpose, amongst other things, of 
reviewing the performance of the Investment Advisor, the AIFM 
and the Company’s other key service providers over the year 
and to make appropriate recommendations to the Board.

For the purposes of this report, the key service providers whose 
performance is reviewed by the Management Engagement 
Committee are those listed in the Directors’ Report as Principal 
Professional Advisors.

The Management Engagement Committee has conducted 
a comprehensive review of the performance of the Investment 
Advisor and the Company’s other key service providers. This 
included an assessment of the services provided as well as the 
fees paid for the provision of such services.

Meetings 
There has been one Management Engagement Committee 
meeting in the year. Attendance is included in the 
Directors’ Report.

AIFM and Investment Advisor
At the time of First Admission, the Company appointed LJ 
Capital Limited as the Company’s alternative investment fund 
manager and this appointment was subsequently novated 
to LJ Administration (UK) Limited (the ‘AIFM’). The Company 
and the AIFM have appointed LXI REIT Advisors Limited (the 
‘Investment Advisor’) to provide certain services in relation to 
the Company and its portfolio.

Review
The Board has delegated the day-to-day running of the 
Company to the Investment Advisor pursuant to the terms of 
the Investment Advisory Agreement. The Investment Advisory 
Agreement is reviewed and amended when necessary to 
ensure it reflects the relationship between the Board and the 
Investment Advisor. 

Under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement, the 
Investment Advisor, amongst other things, is responsible for 
sourcing investment opportunities in line with the Company’s 
Investment Policy, the monitoring and management of the 
Company’s portfolio and negotiation and supervision of the 
Company’s borrowing facilities.

The Investment Advisor has diligently invested available 
funds during the year, in line with the Company’s investment 
policy, to build a diverse portfolio of high-quality assets that 

will provide growing and secure returns to the Company’s 
shareholders. Details of the Investment Advisors activity and 
the Company’s performance in the year have been included in 
the Strategic Report.

The Investment Advisor team’s collective skillset contains all 
the necessary skills and experience to best serve the interests 
of the shareholders in performing its delegated responsibilities. 

We are satisfied that the Investment Advisor and the AIFM have 
the suitable skills and experience to manage the Company’s 
investments and believe that the continuing appointment 
of the Investment Advisor and the AIFM is in the interests of 
shareholders as a whole.

In addition, following our review and analysis, we agreed 
with the Investment Advisor that the performance of all the 
Company’s current professional advisors, as described in the 
Directors’ Report, was satisfactory and with the Investment 
Advisor’s recommendation, that each be retained until 
the next review.

Investment Management and Investment Advisory fees
Under the Investment Management Agreement, the AIFM 
receives a fee of £24,000 per annum.

No performance fee is payable to the AIFM. 

Under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement, the 
Investment Advisor is entitled to a fee payable monthly in 
arrear calculated as below:

Market Capitalisation
One twelfth of  

relevant percentage

Up to or equal to £500 million 0.75%

Above £500 million 0.65%

No performance fee is payable to the Investment Advisor.

The Management Engagement Committee reviews the 
continuing performance and appointment of principal 
professional advisors and the Investment Advisor and AIFM of 
the Company on an annual basis to ensure that their continuing 
appointments are in the best interest of the shareholders.

Jan Etherden
Chairman of the Management Engagement Committee

17 May 2019

Report of the Management Engagement Committee
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Established in 2013, Langham Hall UK Depositary LLP is an FCA 
regulated firm that works in conjunction with the Manager and 
the Company to act as depositary. Consisting exclusively of 
qualified and trainee accountants and alternative specialists, 
the entity represents net assets of US $50 billion and we 
deploy our services to over 90 alternative investment funds 
across various jurisdictions worldwide. Our role as depositary 
primarily involves oversight of the control environment of 
the Company, in line with the requirements of the Alternative 
Investment Fund Managers Directive (AIFMD). 

Our cash monitoring activity provides oversight of all the 
Company held bank accounts with specific testing of bank 
transactions triggered by share issues, property income 
distributions via dividend payments, acquisitions and third-
party financing. We review whether cash transactions are 
appropriately authorised and timely. The objective of our asset 
verification process is to perform a review of the legal title of 
all properties held by the Company, and shareholding of special 
purpose vehicles beneath the Company. We test whether on an 
ongoing basis the Company is being operated by the Manager 
in line with the Company’s prospectus, and the internal control 
environment of the Manager. This includes a review of the 
Company’s and its subsidiaries’ decision papers and minutes. 

We work with the Manager in discharging our duties, holding 
formal meetings with senior staff on a quarterly basis and 
submit quarterly reports to the Manager and the Company, 
which are then presented to the Board of Directors, setting our 
work performed and the corresponding findings for the period. 

In the year ended 31 March 2019 our work included the review 
of one equity share issue, 22 investment property acquisitions, 
four investment property disposals, one third-party financing 
arrangement, and four property income distributions. Based 
on the work performed during this period, we confirm that no 
issues came to our attention to indicate that controls are not 
operating appropriately. 

Joe Hime 
Head of Depositary

For and on behalf of Langham Hall UK Depositary LLP, 
London, UK

17 May 2019

Langham Hall UK Depositary LLP is a limited partnership 
registered in England and Wales (with registered 
number OC388007).

Depositary Statement
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Directors’ remuneration policy 
The remuneration policy was put forward for approval by 
shareholders at the AGM held on 26 June 2018. The provisions 
set out in this policy apply until they are next put forward for 
shareholder approval. The remuneration policy must be put 
forward for shareholder approval at a maximum interval of 
three years. In the event of any proposed material variation 
to the policy, shareholder approval will be sought for the 
proposed new policy prior to its implementation.

Fees 
The Directors’ fees are determined within the limits set out in 
the Company’s Articles of Association and they are not eligible 
for bonuses, pension benefits share benefits share options, 
long-term incentive schemes or other benefits. The Directors’ 
fees will be paid at fixed annual rates and do not have any 
variable elements. The Board may determine that additional 
remuneration may be paid, from time to time, to any one or 
more Directors in the event such Director or Directors are 
requested by the Board to perform extra or special services on 
behalf of the Company. 

The non-executive Directors shall be entitled to fees at such 
rates as determined by the Board subject to the maximum 
aggregate fee limit of £500,000 set out in the Company’s 
Articles of Association.

The Directors shall also be entitled to be reimbursed for all 
expenses incurred in performance of their duties. These 
expenses are unlikely to be of a significant amount. Fees are 
payable from the date of appointment as a Director of the 
Company and cease on date of termination of appointment. 

The Directors are not entitled to compensation for loss of 
office. The Board will not pay any incentive fees to any person 
to encourage them to become a Director of the Company. The 
Board may, however, pay fees to external agencies to assist the 
Board in the search and selection of Directors.

Current and future policy

Component Director Purpose of reward Operation

Annual fee Chairman of the 
Board

For services as 
Chairman of a plc

Determined by 
the Board

Annual fee Other Directors For services as 
non-executive 
Directors of a plc

Determined by 
the Board

Additional 
fee

Chairman of the 
Audit Committee

For additional 
responsibility and 
time commitment

Determined by 
the Board

Additional 
fee

Chairman of the 
Management 
Engagement 
Committee

For additional 
responsibility and 
time commitment

Determined by 
the Board

Expenses All Directors Reimbursement of 
expenses incurred in 
the performance of 
duties

Submission of 
appropriate 
supporting 
documentation

Statement of consideration of conditions elsewhere 
in the Company
The Company has no employees. Therefore, the process of 
consulting with employees on the setting of the remuneration 
policy is not applicable.

Review of the remuneration policy
The Directors’ remuneration will be reviewed on an annual 
basis by the Board and any changes are subject to approval 
by the Board. 

The remuneration payable to the Directors will take into 
account a number of factors, inter alia, the experience of 
the Directors, the complexity of the Company and prevailing 
market rates for the real estate investment trust sector. 

Directors’ remuneration report
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Effective date
This Remuneration Policy was approved by the shareholders at 
the Annual General Meeting held on 26 June 2018 and has been 
effective from that date.

Directors’ service contracts
The Directors do not have service contracts with the Company. 

The Directors are not entitled to compensation on loss of office. 
The Directors have appointment letters which do not provide 
for any specific term. However, they are subject to re-election 
by shareholders at a maximum interval of three years. 

Lock-in deed
By way of a deed between each of the Directors, the Company 
and Peel Hunt dated 6 February 2017, the Directors have 
agreed that they will not sell, grant options over or otherwise 
dispose of any interest in any ordinary shares acquired by them 
in satisfaction of their entitlement to Directors’ fees (save in 
certain circumstances, including: (i) in acceptance of a general 
offer made for the entire issued share capital of the Company; 
or (ii) pursuant to an intervening court order; or (iii) following 
termination of their appointment as a non-executive Director of 
the Company) prior to the date which is eighteen months after 
the date of acquisition of the relevant ordinary shares. There 
are no special rights attached to such shares.

Statement of consideration of shareholders’ views
The Company is committed to ongoing Shareholder dialogue 
and takes an active interest in voting outcomes. If there are 
substantial votes against resolutions in relation to Directors’ 
remuneration, the Company will seek the reasons for any such 
vote and will detail any resulting actions in the next Directors’ 
remuneration report. 

The Directors’ remuneration report (excluding the Directors’ 
remuneration policy) will be put forward for shareholder 
approval at the AGM to be held on 26 June 2019.

Annual statement
As the Board consists only of four non-executive Directors, 
it does not consider it necessary to establish a separate 
remuneration committee. The Board as a whole consider 
the pay awards for the Directors with recommendations on 
level of pay made by the Nomination Committee. An ordinary 
resolution for the approval of this report will be put forward at 
the forthcoming AGM.

Remuneration 
The Company currently has four non-executive Directors. 

During the year, Directors’ fees were payable at the rate of 
£28,160 per annum for each Director other than the Chairman, 
whose fees were payable at the rate of £40,960. The Chairman 
of the Audit Committee was entitled to an additional fee of 
£5,120 per annum and the Chairman of the Management 
Engagement Committee was entitled to an additional fee of 
£2,560 per annum. The Directors’ fees are satisfied by way of 
ordinary shares acquired on behalf of the Directors and for their 
account by the Company’s broker.

The Board have agreed that an increase equivalent to the 
change in the consumer price index over the preceding twelve 
months will be applied every year on 1 April. The Board believes 
that this fee structure appropriately reflects the prevailing 
market rates for the Company’s complexity and size, and will 
also enable the Company to attract appropriately experienced 
additional Directors in the future. 

Director search and selection fees
No Director search and selection fees were incurred during the 
year to 31 March 2019.

Performance
The following graph compares, over the year, the total 
shareholder return of the Company’s ordinary shares relative 
to a return on a hypothetical holding over the same period in 
the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT UK. This Index has been chosen by the 
Board as the most appropriate in the circumstances.
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Total shareholder return is the measure of returns provided by 
a company to shareholders reflecting share price movements 
and assuming reinvestment of dividends.
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Directors’ emoluments for the year (audited)
The Directors who served during the year received the 
following fees as remuneration for qualifying services.

Director
2019  

£’000
2018*

£’000

Stephen Hubbard 41 44

John Cartwright 33 35

Jan Etherden 31 33

Colin Smith 28 30

Total 133 142

* figures are for the period from appointment on 27 January 2017 until 31 March 2018.

There are no other taxable benefits payable by the Company 
other than certain expenses which may be deemed to be 
taxable. None of the above fees was paid to third parties.

A non-binding ordinary resolution to approve the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report (excluding the Remuneration 
Policy) contained in the Annual Report for the year ended 
31 March 2019 will be put forward for approval at the 
Company’s AGM to be held on 26 June 2019.

A non-binding ordinary resolution to approve the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report contained in the Annual Report for the 
period ended 31 March 2018 was put forward at the AGM held 
on 26 June 2018. The resolution was passed with 99.99% of the 
shares voted being in favour of the resolution. 

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy was last put forward at 
the AGM held on 26 June 2018. The resolution was passed with 
99.99% of the shares voted being in favour of the resolution. 

Relative importance of spend on pay 
The following table sets out the total level of Directors’ 
remuneration compared to the distributions to shareholders 
by way of dividends, and the management fees and other 
expenses incurred by the Company.

Year ended 
31 March 2019

Period ended 
31 March 2018

Directors’ fees £133,000 £142,000

Investment Advisor’s Fee £2,337,000 £1,387,000

Dividends paid and proposed £15,100,000 £7,875,000

Directors’ shareholdings (audited)
The directors had the following shareholdings in the Company 
all of which are beneficially owned.

Director*
Ordinary shares 

at 31 March 2019
Ordinary shares 

at 31 March 2018

Stephen Hubbard 120,156 71,057

John Cartwright 54,958 38,030

Jan Etherden 44,242 30,838

Colin Smith 173,812 160,681

*  Includes Directors and persons closely associated (as defined by the EU Market Abuse 
Regulation) shareholdings.

The shareholdings of the Directors are not significant and 
therefore do not compromise their independence as non-
executive Directors.

The law requires the Company’s Independent Auditor to 
audit certain disclosures provided in the annual report on 
remuneration. Where disclosures are audited they are indicated 
as such. The Independent Auditor’s opinion is given in the 
Independent Auditor’s Report.

Statement
On behalf of the Board and in accordance with Part 2 of 
Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and 
Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013, 
I confirm that the above Report on Remuneration Policy and 
Remuneration Implementation summarises, as applicable, for 
the financial year to 31 March 2019:

a)  the major decisions on Directors’ remuneration;

b)  any substantial changes relating to Directors’ remuneration 
made during the financial year to 31 March 2019; and

c)  the context in which the changes occurred and decisions 
have been taken.

Stephen Hubbard
Chairman of the Board of Directors

17 May 2019

Directors’ remuneration report (continued)
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
and the Group and Parent Company financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Parent 
Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that 
law they are required to prepare the Group financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union (IFRS as adopted by the 
EU) and applicable law and have elected to prepare the Parent 
Company financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 
Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Parent Company 
and of the Group’s profit or loss for that period. In preparing 
each of the Group and Parent Company financial statements, 
the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, 
reliable and prudent;

• for the Group financial statements, state whether they 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements;

• for the Parent Company financial statements, state whether 
applicable they have been prepared in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure 
Framework (‘FRS 101’), subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the Parent Company 
financial statements;

• prepare financial statements on a going concern basis unless 
it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue in 
business; and

• prepare a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report, Directors’ 
Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance 
Statement that complies with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and 
Parent Company’s  transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and 
Parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards 
to the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS regulation. 

They have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Website publication
The Directors are responsible for ensuring the Annual Report and 
the financial statements are made available on a website. 

Financial statements are published on the Company’s website 
in accordance with legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which 
may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions. The maintenance 
and integrity of the Company’s website is the responsibility of 
the Directors. The Directors’ responsibility also extends to the 
ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained therein.

Directors’ responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) 
as adopted by the European Union and Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation and, give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit tor loss of the 
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
as a whole; 

• the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and the 
financial position of the Company and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with 
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that 
they face; and 

• the Annual Report and accounts taken as a whole is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides the information 
necessary for Shareholders to assess the Company’s 
performance, business model and strategy.

Having taken advice from the Audit Committee, the Directors 
consider that the Annual Report and financial statements taken 
as a whole are fair, balanced and understandable and provides 
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the 
Company’s performance, business model and strategy.

Approval
This Directors’ responsibilities statement was approved by the 
Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Stephen Hubbard
Chairman of the Board of Directors

17 May 2019

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of LXi REIT plc (the 
‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the 
year ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated and 
company statement of financial position, the consolidated and 
company statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash 
flow statement and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation 
of the Group financial statements is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in the preparation of the Parent Company 
financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 
101 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs 
as at 31 March 2019 and of the Group’s profit for the 
year then ended;

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared 
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

• the Parent Company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and, 
as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard 
as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to principal risks, going concern and 
viability statement
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
information in the annual report, in relation to which the ISAs 
(UK) require us to report to you whether we have anything 
material to add or draw attention to:

• the disclosures in the annual report set out on page 31 that 
describe the principal risks and explain how they are being 
managed or mitigated;

• the Directors’ confirmation set out on page 40 in the annual 
report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the 
principal risks facing the Group, including those that would 
threaten its business model, future performance, solvency 
or liquidity;

• the Directors’ statement set out on page 32 in the financial 
statements about whether the Directors considered it 
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
in preparing the financial statements and the Directors’ 
identification of any material uncertainties to the Group 
and the Parent Company’s ability to continue to do so over 
a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval 
of the financial statements;

• whether the Directors’ statement relating to going concern 
required under the Listing Rules in accordance with Listing 
Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially inconsistent with our knowledge 
obtained in the audit; or

• the Directors’ explanation set out on page 32 in the annual 
report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the 
Group, over what period they have done so and why they 
consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement 
as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the 
Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its 
liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, 
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any 
necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the most 
significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether 
or not due to fraud) that we identified including those which 
had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the 
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts 
of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters.

Independent Auditor’s report to the members  
of LXi REIT plc
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and 
performing our audit, and in the evaluation of the effect 
of misstatements on the audit and in forming our audit 
opinion. Materiality is assessed on both quantitative and 
qualitative grounds. 

Group Financial statement Specific

Materiality £5,700,000 £740,000

Performance materiality £2,850,000 £370,000

Reporting threshold £114,000 £15,000

Materiality
The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, 
individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of the users of the 
financial statements.

We determined materiality for the Group financial statements 
as a whole to be £5,700,000 (2018: £3,100,000), which was 
set at 1% of Group total assets (2018: 1%). This provides a basis 
for determining the nature and extent of our risk assessment 
procedures, identifying and assessing the risk of material 
misstatement and determining the nature and extent of further 
audit procedures. 

We determined that total assets would be the most appropriate 
basis for determining overall materiality as we consider it to 
be one of the principal considerations for users of the financial 
statements in assessing the financial performance of the Group.

Key audit matter How the scope of our audit addressed the key audit matter

Investment property valuations
Refer to Notes 2 and 3 in relation to significant estimates 
and accounting policies.

Refer to Note 9 in relation to investment property.

The valuation of investment property requires significant judgment 
and estimates by the Directors and the independent valuer and 
is therefore considered a significant risk due to the subjective 
nature of certain assumptions inherent in each valuation.

Any input inaccuracies or unreasonable bases used in the valuation judgments 
(such as in respect of estimated rental value and yield profile applied) could 
result in a material misstatement of the income statement and balance sheet.

There is also a risk that the Directors may influence the significant judgments 
and estimates in respect of property valuations in order to achieve property 
valuation and other performance targets to meet market expectations.

Additionally, properties under construction involve license fee income 
receivable from the developer during the construction phase. Accounting 
for such assets is typically more complex than for standing assets.

Experience of valuer and relevance of its work
• We obtained the valuation report prepared by the independent valuer and 

discussed the basis of the valuations with them. We confirmed that the 
basis of the valuations was in accordance with the requirements of 
accounting standards. 

• We assessed and considered the external valuer’s reports, their 
qualifications, independence and basis of valuation.

• We obtained a copy of the instructions provided to the independent 
valuer and reviewed for any limitations in scope or for evidence of 
Management bias.

Data provided to the valuer
• We validated the underlying data provided to the valuer by the Manager. 

This data included inputs such as current rent and lease term, which we 
agreed to the executed lease agreements as part of our audit work. 

Assumptions and estimates used by the valuer
• We developed yield expectations on each property using available 

independent industry data, reports and comparable transactions in the 
market around the period end.

• We discussed the assumptions used and the valuation movement in the 
period with both the Manager and the independent valuer. Where the 
valuation was outside of our expected range we discussed with the 
independent valuer specific assumptions and reasoning for the yields 
applied and corroborated their explanations where relevant, including 
agreeing to third party documentation. We also discussed with the valuer 
their views on the expected impact of Brexit on the valuation of these 
assets. Further, we discussed the appropriateness of the discounts rates 
applied to the valuations with the valuer.

• For properties under construction we assessed the project costs and 
progress of development and verified the forecast costs to complete 
included in the valuations to third party information. 

Accounting for assets under construction
• We examined all forward funding agreements entered into during the year 

for assets under construction and confirmed that the accounting 
treatment of the asset recognition and the license fee income was 
appropriate under accounting standards.
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We determined that for other account balances, classes 
of transactions and disclosures not related to investment 
properties a misstatement of less than materiality for the 
financial statements as a whole could influence the economic 
decisions of users. We determined that materiality for these 
areas should be £740,000 (2018: £285,000). This was set at 5% 
of European Public Real Estate Association (“EPRA”) earnings 
(2018: 5%). EPRA earnings excludes the impact of the net 
surplus on revaluation of investment properties and profit of 
disposal of investment properties. 

We determined that the same measures as the Group for 
financial statement and specific materiality were appropriate 
for the Parent Company, and the materiality levels applied were 
£4,000,000 (2018: £2,000,000) and £480,000 (2018: £114,000) 
respectively. 

Whilst materiality for the financial statements as a whole was 
as outlined above, each significant component of the Group 
was audited to a lower level of materiality which is used to 
determine the financial statement areas that are included 
within the scope of our audit and the extent of sample sizes 
used during the audit. Significant component materiality 
ranged from £400,000 to £4,000,000.

Performance materiality
The application of materiality at the individual account 
or balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to 
an appropriately low level the probability that the 
aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements 
exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessment, together with our 
assessment of the Group’s overall control environment, our 
judgment was that overall performance materiality for the 
Group should be 50% (2018: 50%) of materiality. As such, 
performance financial statement materiality was set at 
£2,850,000 (2018: £1,550,000) and specific performance 
materiality was set at £370,000 (2018: £142,500).

We determined that the same measure as the Group was 
appropriate for the Parent Company, and the performance 
materiality and specific performance materiality applied 
were £2,000,000 and £240,000 (2018: £1,000,000 and 
£57,000) respectively.

Reporting threshold
An amount above which identified misstatements are reported 
to the Audit Committee.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report 
to the Committee all individual audit differences in excess 
of £114,000 (2018: £62,000) as well as differences below 
this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on 
qualitative grounds.

We agreed that the reporting threshold for the Parent Company 
would be £80,000 (2018: £40,000). 

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the 
quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in the 
light of other relevant qualitative considerations.

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our audit of the Group was scoped by obtaining an 
understanding of the Group and its environment, including 
the Group’s system of internal control, applicable legal and 
regulatory framework and the industry in which it operates, 
and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group 
and Parent Company level. This included consideration of the 
risk that the Group was acting contrary to applicable laws and 
regulations, including fraud. 

The Group operates solely in the United Kingdom and operates 
through one segment, investment property, structured 
through a number of subsidiary special purpose vehicle 
(“SPV”) companies. The Group audit team performed all the 
work necessary to issue the Group and Parent Company audit 
opinions. At the planning phase we identified five significant 
components, being five of the Group’s SPV’s. The audit approach 
included undertaking audit work on the key risks of material 
misstatement identified for the Group and auditing the five 
significant components to a lower threshold of materiality as 
outlined in the materiality section above. All of the work was 
carried out by BDO LLP.

We undertook audit procedures to respond to the risk of non-
compliance with laws and regulations, focussing on those that 
could give rise to a material misstatement in the Group and 
Parent Company financial statements, including, but not limited 
to, the Companies Act 2006, the UK Listing Rules, the REIT 
regime requirements and legislation relevant to the rental of 
properties. We made enquiries of management to obtain further 
understanding of risks of non-compliance. There are inherent 
limitations in the audit procedures described above and the 
further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial 
statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. 

We addressed the risk of management override of internal 
controls, by undertaking procedures to review journal entries 
processed during and subsequent to the year end and evaluate 
whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of 
material misstatement due to fraud. 

We consider that the audit procedures we planned and 
performed in accordance with ISAs (UK) have provided us 
with reasonable assurance that irregularities, including fraud, 
would have been detected to the extent that they could have 
resulted in material misstatements in the financial statements. 
Our audit was not designed to identify misstatements or other 
irregularities that would not be considered to be material to the 
financial statements. 

Independent Auditor’s report to the members  
of LXi REIT plc
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Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report, other than the financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, except to 
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

In this context, we also have nothing to report in regard to our 
responsibility to specifically address the following items in 
the other information and to report as uncorrected material 
misstatements of the other information where we conclude 
that those items meet the following conditions:

• Fair, balanced and understandable as set out on page 45 
– the statement given by the Directors that they consider 
the annual report and financial statements taken as a whole 
is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s 
performance, business model and strategy, is materially 
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit; or

• Audit committee reporting as set out on page 43 – the 
section describing the work of the audit committee does not 
appropriately address matters communicated by us to the 
audit committee; or

• Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code as set out on page 37 – the 
parts of the Directors’ statement required under the 
Listing Rules relating to the Company’s compliance with 
the UK Corporate Governance Code containing provisions 
specified for review by the auditor in accordance with Listing 
Rule 9.8.10R(2) do not properly disclose a departure from 
a relevant provision of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to 
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit:

• the information given in the strategic report and the 
Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements and those reports have been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements;

• the information about internal control and risk management 
systems in relation to financial reporting processes 
and about share capital structures, given in compliance 
with rules 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 in the Disclosure Guidance and 
Transparency Rules sourcebook made by the Financial 
Conduct Authority (the FCA Rules), is consistent with the 
financial statements and has been prepared in accordance 
with applicable legal requirements; and

• information about the Company’s corporate governance 
code and practices and about its administrative, 
management and supervisory bodies and their committees 
complies with rules 7.2.2, 7.2.3 and 7.2.7 of the FCA Rules.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group 
and the Parent Company and its environment obtained 
in the course of the audit, we have not identified material 
misstatements in:

• the strategic report or the Directors’ report; or

• the information about internal control and risk management 
systems in relation to financial reporting processes and 
about share capital structures, given in compliance with 
rules 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 of the FCA Rules.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in 
relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the Parent Company financial statements and the part of 
the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by 
law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit; or

• a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by 
the Parent Company.
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Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities 
statement as set out on page 51, the Directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are 
responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit  
of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Other matters which we are required to address
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we 
were appointed by the Directors on 16 December 2016 to audit 
the financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2018 and 
subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted 
engagement is two years, covering the years ending 
31 March 2018 to 31 March 2019.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard 
were not provided to the Group or the Parent Company and we 
remain independent of the Group and the Parent Company in 
conducting our audit.

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the 
audit committee.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the Parent Company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Parent Company and the Parent Company’s members 
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed.

Thomas Edward Goodworth (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London 
United Kingdom

17 May 2019

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England 
and Wales (with registered number OC305127).

Independent Auditor’s report to the members  
of LXi REIT plc
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Melksham

Description Travelodge budget hotel
Purchase Price £6.2 million
Net Initial Yield 5.91%
Size 60 bedroom hotel
Acquisition Structure Pre-let forward funding
Date Acquired March 2017
Rent Review CPI
Tenant/Guarantor Travelodge Hotels Limited
Lease Term 25 years, with no break
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Note 

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000

Period from  
21 December 2016 to 

31 March 2018
£000

Rental income 4 21,567 9,339

Administrative and other expenses 5 (3,530) (2,412)
Operating profit before change in fair value and  
gain on disposal of investment property 18,037 6,927

Change in fair value of investment property 9 15,941 15,056
Gain on disposal of investment property 9 3,321 91

Operating profit 22,07437,299

Finance income 6 129 43
Finance costs 7 (3,312) (1,151)
Profit before tax 34,116 20,966

Taxation 8 – –
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to shareholders 34,116 20,966

Earnings per share – basic and diluted 26 12.75p 15.12p

The notes on pages 62 to 83 form part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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Note
31 March 2019

£000
31 March 2018

£000

Non-current assets
Investment property 9 511,527 255,178
Total non-current assets 511,527 255,178

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 11 4,697 5,624
Deferred acquisition costs 1,182 1,274
Restricted cash 12 43,204 17,876
Cash and cash equivalents 12 19,413 30,787
Total current assets 68,496 55,561
 
Total assets 580,023 310,739

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 8,966 5,237
Total current liabilities 8,966 5,237

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings 14 167,311 93,521
Total non-current liabilities 167,311 93,521
 
Total liabilities 176,277 98,758

Net assets 403,746 211,981

Equity
Share capital 15 3,523 1,969
Share premium reserve 16 229,270 58,979
Capital reduction reserve 115,871 130,067
Retained earnings 55,082 20,966
Total equity 403,746 211,981

Net asset value per share – basic and diluted 27 114.60p 107.67p
EPRA net asset value per share 27 114.60p 107.67p

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 17 May 2019 and signed 
on its behalf by:

Stephen Hubbard
Chairman of the Board of Directors

The notes on pages 62 to 83 form part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of financial position
Company number: 10535081 
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Year ended 31 March 2019 Note

Share 
capital

£000

Share 
premium 

reserve
£000

Capital 
reduction 

reserve
£000

Retained 
earnings

£000

Total 
equity

£000

Balance at 1 April 2018 1,969 58,979 130,067 20,966 211,981

Profit and total comprehensive 
income attributable to 
shareholders – – – 34,116 34,116

Transactions with owners
Issue of ordinary shares  
in the year 15,16 1,554 173,696 – – 175,250
Share issue costs 16 – (3,405) – – (3,405)

Dividends paid in the year 17 – – (14,196) – (14,196)

Balance at 31 March 2019 3,523 229,270 115,871 55,082 403,746

Period from 21 December 2016  
to 31 March 2018 Note

Share 
capital

£000

Share 
premium 

reserve
£000

Capital 
reduction 

reserve
£000

Retained 
earnings

£000

Total 
equity

£000

Balance as at 21 December 2016 – – – – –

Profit and total comprehensive 
income attributable to 
shareholders for the period – – – 20,966 20,966

Transactions with owners
First issue of Ordinary Shares 
in the period 15,16 1,382 136,768 – – 138,150
Share issue costs 16 – (2,688) – – (2,688)
Cancellation of share premium 16 – (134,005) 134,005 – –
Second issue of Ordinary Shares 
in the period 15,16 587 59,613 – – 60,200
Share issue costs 16 – (709) – – (709)

Dividends paid in the period 17 – – (3,938) – (3,938)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 1,969 58,979 130,067 20,966 211,981

The notes on pages 62 to 83 form part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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Note

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000 

Period from  
21 December 2016 to 

31 March 2018
£000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 34,116 20,966
Adjustments for:
Finance income 6 (129)  (43)
Finance costs 7 3,312  1,151
Change in fair value of investment property 9 (15,941)  (15,056)
Gain on disposal of investment property 9 (3,321)  (91)
Accretion of tenant lease incentives 4 (3,005) (1,687)
Operating results before working capital changes 15,032  5,240

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 926  (5,624)
Increase in trade and other payables 3,589  3,121
Net cash flow generated from operating activities 19,547 2,737

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investment properties (288,004)  (238,452)
Proceeds from sale of investment property 54,671 702
Interest received 129  43

Net cash flow used in investing activities (233,204)  (237,707)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from shares issued in the period 175,250 198,350
Share issue costs paid (3,403) (3,397)
Dividend paid (14,196) (3,458)
Interest paid (3,636) (1,313)
Bank borrowings drawn 25 49,671 77,124
Loan arrangement fees paid 25 (1,403) (1,549)
Net cash flow generated from financing activities 202,283 265,757

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (11,374)  30,787
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 30,787 –
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 12 19,413  30,787

The notes on pages 62 to 83 form part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated cash flow statement
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1. Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union and in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulations. 

The financial statements have been prepared for the year ended 31 March 2019. The comparative information included in the 
financial statements relates to the period from incorporation on 21 December 2016 to 31 March 2018 with operating activity 
commencing at IPO on 27 February 2017.

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified for the Group’s investment properties 
which have been measured at fair value through the statement of comprehensive income. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is also the Group’s functional currency, and values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand except where indicated otherwise.

Standards effective from 1 April 2018
New standards impacting the Group that have been adopted for the first time in this set of financial statements are:

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instrument: Recognition and Measurement.

Due to the nature of the Group’s financial instruments, the adoption of IFRS 9 does not have a material impact on classification or 
measurement of the Group’s financial instruments. 

Having considered the requirements of IFRS 9, under section 5.5.15(b), the simplified approach has been applied when considering 
the Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) model when determining the expectations of impairment. Under the simplified approach 
the Group is always required to measure lifetime expected losses. The Board incorporates forward looking information when 
estimating the appropriate amount of any provision.

Given the nature of the Group’s receivables and counterparties the probability of credit loss is immeasurably small and therefore 
any ECL arising is concluded to be immaterial.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
IFRS 15 has replaced IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue.

The standard applies to revenue from contracts with customers as defined and scopes out rental receipts that arise from 
lease contracts. 

The Board is satisfied the standard has no material impact on the financial statements as rental income is outside the scope 
of the standard and the Group’s only revenue is currently generated from rental income from leases that do not contain any 
service components.

Standards in issue but not yet effective
The following new standard, which is not yet effective and has not been early adopted in this financial information will or may have 
an effect on the Group’s future financial statements:

• IFRS 16 Leases: introduction of a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for leases which refers primarily to accounting for 
lessees (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). 

The Group holds long leasehold interests in certain of its investment property portfolio. On all such properties owned by the 
Group the headlease rents are peppercorn and as such there are no material lease liabilities to recognise on balance sheet. No 
changes have been identified in respect of the leases where the Group acts as lessee.

The Group leases its investment property to tenants on long term occupational leases that are classified as operating leases. 
No changes have been identified in respect of the leases where the Group acts as lessor.

The Board has given due consideration to the impact on the consolidated financial statements of the standard listed above and 
at present they do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements in the period of initial application, other than on presentation and disclosure. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Going concern
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Group benefits from a secure income stream from long leases with its tenants, which is not overly reliant on any one 
tenant and present a well-diversified risk. The Group’s cash balance at 31 March 2019 comprised £19.41 million (31 March 2018: 
£30.79 million) which was readily available and £43.2 million which is restricted (31 March 2018: £17.88 million) (Note 12). 
At 31 March 2019, the Group had capital commitments totalling £22.38 million (31 March 2018: £21.65 million) (Note 23).

Restricted cash is held by the bank subject to certain properties entering the security pool and is expected to be fully drawn down 
within four weeks of the reporting date.

As a result, the Board believes that the Group is well placed to manage its financing and other business risks and that the Group 
will remain viable, continuing to operate and meet its liabilities as they fall due.

The Board believes that there are currently no material uncertainties in relation to the Group’s ability to continue in operation for 
the period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements. The Board is, therefore, of the 
opinion that the going concern basis adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is appropriate.

2. Significant accounting judgments, estimate and assumptions
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies the Board is required to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are outlined below:

Estimates:
Valuation of investment properties (Note 9)
The Group uses the valuation carried out by Knight Frank LLP (the “Independent Valuer”) as the fair value of its property portfolio. 
The valuation is based upon assumptions including future rental income and the appropriate capitalisation rate. The Independent 
Valuer makes reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.

The Group’s properties have been independently valued by its Independent Valuer in accordance with the definitions published 
by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) Valuation – Professional Standards, July 2017, Global and UK Editions 
(commonly known as the ‘Red Book’). 

Investment properties under construction are financed by the Group where the Group enters into contracts for the development 
of a pre-let property under a funding agreement. All such contracts specify a fixed amount of consideration. The Group does not 
expose itself to any speculative development risk as the proposed building is pre-let to a tenant under an agreement for lease and 
the Group enters into a fixed-price development agreement with the developer. Investment properties under construction are 
initially recognised at cost (including any associated costs), which reflect the Group’s investments in the assets. Subsequently, the 
assets are remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. The fair value of investment properties under construction is estimated 
as the capitalised income calculated by the Independent Valuer, less any costs still payable in order to complete, which include an 
appropriate developer’s margin.

With respect to the consolidated financial statements, investment properties are valued at their fair value at each reporting date 
in accordance with IFRS 13 which recognises a variety of fair value inputs depending upon the nature of the investment. Given the 
bespoke nature of each of the Group’s investments, all of the Group’s investment properties are included in Level 3. Details of the 
nature of these inputs and sensitivity analysis is provided in Note 9.

Judgments:
Classification of lease arrangements – the Group as lessor (Note 18)
The Group has acquired investment property that is leased to tenants. In considering the classification of lease arrangements, at 
inception of each lease the Group considers the economic life of the asset compared with the lease term and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments and any residual value compared with the fair value and associated costs of acquiring the asset as 
well as qualitative factors as indicators that may assert to the risks and rewards of ownership having been substantially retained 
or transferred. Based on evaluation the Group has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 
its investment property and accounts for the lease arrangements as operating leases.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below. The policies 
have been consistently applied.

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at the year end date.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to 
direct the activities of the entity. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control ceases.

Accounting policies of the subsidiaries are consistent with the policies adopted by the Company.

Investment property
Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is initially measured at cost, being 
the fair value of the consideration given, including expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment 
property. After initial recognition, investment property is stated at its fair value at the reporting date. Gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in the period in which they arise in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Investment properties under construction are financed by the Group where the Group enters into contracts for the development 
of a pre–let property under a funding agreement. All such contracts specify a fixed amount of consideration. The Group does not 
expose itself to any speculative development risk as the proposed building is pre-let to a tenant under an agreement for lease 
and the Group enters into a fixed price development agreement with the developer. Investment properties under construction 
are initially recognised at cost (including any associated costs), which reflect the Group’s investment in the assets. Subsequently, 
the assets are remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. The fair value of investment properties under construction is 
estimated as the fair value of the completed asset less any costs still payable in order to complete, which include an appropriate 
developer’s margin.

During the period between initial investment and the rent commencement date, the Group receives licence fee income from 
the developer. Licence fees receivable by the Group in respect of the period are treated as discounts to the cost of investment 
property. Any economic benefit of the licence fee is recognised through the change in fair value of investment property.

When development completion is reached, the completed investment property is transferred to the appropriate class of 
investment property at the fair value at the date of practical completion so that any economic benefit of the licence fee is 
appropriately reflected within investment property under construction.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits are associated with the expenditure. 
Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and 
no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is incurred in profit or loss in the period 
in which the property is derecognised.

Deferred acquisition costs represent costs incurred on investment properties which completed after the period end and will 
subsequently be capitalised.

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions made in the valuation of investment properties are 
discussed in Note 3.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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Financial instruments
a. Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets as fair value through profit or loss or amortised cost, depending on the purpose for which 
the asset was acquired and based on the business model test. There are no financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss. 
The Group’s accounting policy for financial assets classified as amortised cost is as follows:

Amortised cost 
These assets arise principally from the provision of goods and services to customers (e.g. rent receivables), but also incorporate 
other types of financial assets where the objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and contractual 
cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to their acquisition or issue and are subsequently carried at amortised cost being the effective interest rate 
method, less provision for impairment. 

Impairment provisions for receivables are recognised based on the simplified approach within IFRS 9 using a provision matrix 
in the determination of the lifetime expected credit losses. During this process the probability of the non-payment of the rent 
receivables is assessed. This probability is then multiplied by the amount of the expected loss arising from default to determine 
the lifetime expected credit loss for the rent receivables. For rent receivables, which are reported net, such provisions are 
recorded in a separate provision account with the loss being recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
On confirmation that the receivable will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the 
associated provision. 

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise rent receivable, restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits held at call with banks. Cash and cash equivalents also includes 
cash held by lawyers for subsequent completions.

Restricted cash represents cash withheld by the lender on drawdowns of borrowings referred to in Note 14 until the certain 
security is provided to release the funds and in consequence does not form an integral part of the Group’s cash management as at 
the reporting date.

b. Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities as fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities, depending on the purpose 
for which the liability was acquired and based on the business model test. There are no financial liabilities held at fair value 
through profit or loss. The Group’s accounting policy for financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities is as follows:

Other financial liabilities 
Bank borrowings which are initially recognised at fair value net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of the 
instrument. Such interest bearing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, 
which ensure that any interest expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in 
the Group Statement of Financial Position. For the purposes of each financial liability, interest expense includes initial transaction 
costs and any premium payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payment while the liability is outstanding.

Trade and other payables that are financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. Where a financing component is 
identified in respect of long term payables the fair value is calculated with reference to an imputed interest rate and subsequently 
amortised using the effective interest rate method. Short term financial liabilities are carried at their expected settlement value.

Fair value hierarchy
Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 
indirectly observable.

Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation at the end of each reporting period.
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Leases – The Group as Lessor
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties and accounts for the 
contracts as operating leases.

Properties leased out under operating leases are included in investment property in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the expected term of the relevant leases.

Taxation
Taxation on the profit or loss for the period not exempt under UK REIT regulations or otherwise, comprises current and deferred 
tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised as direct movement in equity, in which case it is recognised as a direct movement in equity. Current tax is expected tax 
payable on any non-REIT taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and 
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax that is provided is based on the expected 
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date.

Dividends payable to shareholders
Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a reduction in equity in the financial statements at the earlier of the 
date they are paid and the date they are approved at the AGM. 

Finance income and finance costs
Finance income is recognised as interest accrues on cash balances held by the Group. Finance costs consist of interest payable and 
loan arrangement fees which are expensed using the effective interest rate method over the term of the loan and other costs that 
the Group incurs in connection with bank and other borrowings which are expensed in the period in which they occur.

Any finance costs that are separately identifiable and directly attributable to the development of an investment property that 
takes a period of time to complete are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset.

Equity issue costs
The costs of issuing equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction from equity.

4. Rental income

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000

Period from  
21 December 2016 to

31 March 2018
£000

Rental income from investment property 18,562 7,652
Accretion of tenant lease incentives (Note 9) 3,005 1,687

21,567 9,339

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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5. Administrative and other expenses

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000

Period from  
21 December 2016 to 

31 March 2018
£000

Investment advisory fees 2,337 1,387
Legal and professional fees 352 397
Directors’ fees 133 142
Employer’s national insurance 14 15
Corporate administration fees 243 193
Other administrative costs 264 72
Advertising & Marketing 77 76
Fees paid to the Company’s Independent Auditor 110 130

3,530 2,412

Fees paid to the Company’s Independent Auditor comprise £20,000 for the interim review (31 March 2018: £20,000), £95,000 in 
respect of the audit of the Annual Report and financial statements (31 March 2018: £95,000), £20,000 in respect of the audit of the 
subsidiary financial statements and £Nil for the audit of the Company’s initial accounts (31 March 2018: £15,000).

The Company has paid £66,000 additional fees to the Company’s Independent Auditor in the period which have been treated as 
a reduction in equity as share issue costs (31 March 2018: £97,000).

The Directors’ fees are satisfied by way of ordinary shares acquired at market value, such ordinary shares are acquired on behalf 
of the Directors by the Company’s broker.

LXi REIT Advisors Limited is the Investment Advisor of the Company. Under the Investment Advisory agreement, the Investment 
Advisor advises the Company in relation to the management, investment and reinvestment of the assets of the Group. 

The investment advisory fee is calculated in arrears in respect of each month, in each case based upon the average market 
capitalisation of the Company on the following basis:

(a) One-twelfth of 0.75 per cent per calendar month of market capitalisation up to or equal to £500 million; and

(b) One-twelfth of 0.65 per cent per calendar month of market capitalisation above £500 million. 

No performance fee is payable to the Investment Advisor.

The appointment of the Investment Advisor shall continue in force unless and until terminated by either party giving to the other 
not less than 12 months’ written notice, such notice not to expire earlier than 27 February 2022.

6. Finance income

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000

Period from  
21 December 2016 to 

31 March 2018
£000

Interest on cash held at bank 129 43
129 43
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7. Finance costs

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000

Period from  
21 December 2016 to 

31 March 2018
£000

Interest payable on bank borrowings 3,138 1,090
Amortisation of loan arrangement fees 171 58
Bank charges 3 3

3,312 1,151

Capitalised finance costs are included within property acquisitions in Note 9. The total interest payable on financial liabilities 
carried at amortised cost comprised:

(i)  the interest payable on bank borrowings totalling £3,437,000 of which £299,000 was capitalised (31 March 2018: £1,310,000 of 
which £220,000 was capitalised); and

(ii)  the amortisation of loan arrangement fees totalling £194,000 of which £23,000 was capitalised (31 March 2018: £70,000 of 
which £12,000 was capitalised).

8. Taxation 
The Group is a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) and as a result the profit and gains arising from the Group’s property rental 
business are exempt from UK corporation tax provided the Group meets certain conditions as set out in the UK REIT regulations. 
Profits arising from any residual activities (e.g. trading activities and interest income), after the utilisation of any available residual 
tax losses, are subject to corporation tax at the main rate of 19% for the year.

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000

Period from  
21 December 2016 to 

31 March 2018
£000

Current tax – current year – –
Total current tax – –
Origination and reversal of temporary differences – –
Total deferred tax – –
Tax charge – –

Reconciliation of the total tax charge
The reconciliation of profit before tax multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax for the year of 19% to the total tax charge 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is as follows:

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000

Period from  
21 December 2016 to 

31 March 2018
£000

Profit for the period 34,116 20,966
Tax at the standard rate of UK corporation tax of 19% 6,482 3,984
Effects of:
REIT exempt income (3,453) (1,122)
Revaluation of investment properties (3,029) (2,862)
Tax charge – –

UK REIT exempt income includes property rental income that is exempt from UK Corporation Tax in accordance with Part 12 
 of CTA 2010.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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9. Investment property

Year ended 31 March 2019

Investment  
property long 

leasehold
£000

Investment 
property 
freehold

£000

Investment 
property in 

course of 
construction

£000
Total
£000 

Balance at 1 April 2018 12,585 216,026 26,567 255,178
Property acquisitions 19,872 230,543 39,740 290,155
Licence fee receivable (Note 26) – – (1,499) (1,499)
Tenant lease incentives (Note 4) 171 2,834 – 3,005
Property disposals (1,319) (49,934) – (51,253)
Change in fair value 1,907 10,573 3,461 15,941
Transfers of completed property – 48,409 (48,409) –
Balance at 31 March 2019 33,216 458,451 19,860 511,527

Period from 21 December 2016 to 31 March 2018

Investment  
property long 

leasehold
£000

Investment 
property 
freehold

£000

Investment 
property in 

course of 
construction

£000
Total
£000 

Balance at 21 December 2016 – – – –
Property acquisitions 12,106 200,121 28,007 240,234
Licence fee receivable (Note 26) – – (1,188) (1,188)
Tenant lease incentives (Note 4) 196 1,491 – 1,687
Property disposals – (611) – (611)
Change in fair value 283 8,234 6,539 15,056
Transfers of completed property – 6,791 (6,791) –
Balance at 31 March 2018 12,585 216,026 26,567 255,178

The investment property has been independently valued at fair value by Knight Frank LLP, the Independent Valuer, an accredited 
external valuer with recognised and relevant professional qualifications and recent experience of the location and category of the 
investment property being valued. The valuations are the ultimate responsibility of the Board.

The Independent Valuer valued the entire property portfolio at £589.5 million4 at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: £278.92 million) 
including capital commitments on forward funded assets and assets that had exchanged but not completed.

All corporate acquisitions during the period have been treated as asset purchases rather than business combinations as they are 
considered to be acquisitions of property rather than a business.

All ground rents payable by the Group on long leasehold properties are nominal and as such no finance lease liability has been 
recognised in respect of these properties. 
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Reconciliation of fair value to total portfolio valuation
31 March 2019

£000
31 March 2018

£000

Investment property at fair value 511,527 255,178
Capital commitments on forward funded assets (Note 23) 22,383 21,647
Vendor discount in respect of rent-free periods and top-ups 2,627 1,134
Licence fee receivable (Note 11) 633 961
Total completed portfolio valuation 537,170 278,920
Valuation of property that has exchanged but not completed 52,330 –
Total portfolio valuation4 589,500 278,920

Capital commitments represent the costs to bring the asset to completion under the funding agreements with the developers 
which includes a developer’s margin. These costs are not provided for in the statement of financial position.

Vendor discounts in respect of rent-free periods and top-ups represent amounts by which a purchase price was reduced by the 
vendor on acquisitions to cover future rent-free periods or periods to the next rent review under the lease. The total portfolio 
valuation assumes the property to be income generating during the unexpired rent-free periods and passing rent to be the 
topped–up rent during the unexpired period to next rent review and therefore includes this income in the valuation.

Licence fee receivable represent amounts due from developers under funding agreements that have not been settled at the period 
end. The valuation assumes the property to be income generating throughout the period of development and therefore includes 
this income in the valuation.

Investment property at fair value

Valuation

Quoted prices in 
active markets

(Level 1)
£000

Significant  
observable inputs

(Level 2)
£000

Significant 
unobservable inputs 

(Level 3)
£000

Total
£000

31 March 2019 – – 511,527 511,527
31 March 2018 – – 255,178 255,178

There have been no transfers between levels during the year.

The valuations have been prepared in accordance with the RICS Valuation – Professional Standards (incorporating the 
International Valuation Standards).

The determination of the fair value of investment property requires the use of estimates such as future cash flows from assets 
(such as lettings, tenants’ profiles, future revenue streams, capital values of fixtures and fittings, plant and machinery, any 
environmental matters and the overall repair and condition of the property) and discount rates applicable to those assets.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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The descriptions and definitions relating to valuation techniques and key inputs made in determining fair values are as follows: 

Valuation techniques
Standing assets 
Standing assets are valued using the investment valuation method. Using the investment valuation method the passing rent 
is divided by an appropriate yield with a deduction of standard purchaser’s costs. The method uses analysis of appropriate 
comparable investments, rental and sale transactions, together with evidence of demand within the vicinity of the subject 
property and of properties of a similar nature. The yield applied takes into account the size, location, terms, covenant strength 
and other material factors.

Investment property in the course of construction
For property in the course of construction the fair value is calculated by estimating the fair value of the completed property using 
the income capitalisation technique less estimated costs to completion under fixed price developer funding agreements which 
include an appropriate developer’s margin.

Observable input: passing rent 
The prevailing rent at which space is let at the date of valuation. Passing rents are dependent upon a number of variables in 
relation to the Group’s property. These include: property use, size, location, tenant covenant strength and terms of the lease.

Unobservable input: rental growth 
The estimated average increase in rent based on both market estimations and contractual arrangements. A reduction of the 
estimated future rental growth in the valuation model would lead to a decrease in the fair value of the investment property and 
an inflation of the estimated future rental growth would lead to an increase in the fair value. No quantitative sensitivity analysis 
has been provided for estimated rental growth as a reasonable range would not result in a significant movement in fair value.

Unobservable input: net initial yield 
The net initial yield is defined as the initial gross income as a percentage of the market value (or purchase price as appropriate) plus 
standard costs of purchase.

Sector

Passing rent p.a. 
31 March 2019

£000

Passing rent
p.a. range

£000

Valuation at
31 March 2019

£000

Valuation yield
range

%

Hotel 8,676 332 – 1,200 162,940 4.24 – 6.49
Industrial 7,973 225 – 3,241 150,640 4.68 – 6.01
Healthcare 6,836 10 – 941 116,315 5.21 – 6.34
Discount foodstores 3,007 271 – 716 54,050 4.51 – 5.90
Leisure 2,513 70 – 858 45,930 4.75 – 5.74
Other 3,190 360 – 1,332 59,625 4.50 – 6.33
Portfolio 32,195 10 – 3,241 589,500 4.24 – 6.49

Sensitivities of measurement of significant inputs 
As set out within significant accounting estimates and judgments above, the Group’s property portfolio valuation is open 
to judgments and is inherently subjective by nature. The table below shows the sensitivities of measurement of the Group’s 
investment property to certain inputs: 

Valuation

–5% in 
passing rent 

£000

+5% in  
passing rent 

£000

+25bps in net 
initial yield 

£000

–25bps in net 
initial yield 

£000

31 March 2019 (27,772) 25,838 (26,117) 26,818
31 March 2018 (14,183) 13,693 (12,742) 13,493
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Realised gain on disposal of investment property
During the year, the Group disposed of certain of its investment property. The table below shows a reconciliation of the gain 
recognised on disposal through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the realised gain on disposals in the 
year which includes changes in fair value of the investment property recognised in previous periods.

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Consideration received 54,671 729
Less:
Carrying value (51,327) (611)
Selling costs (23) (27)
Gain on disposal of investment property 3,321 91
Add:
Change in fair value recognised in previous periods 3,137 –
Realised gain on disposal of investment property 6,458 91

10. Financial instruments
Set out below is a comparison of the book value and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments where a difference exists. 
The fair value of financial instruments not included in the comparison is equal to book value.

Bank borrowings
Book value 

£000
Fair value 

£000

31 March 2019 167,311 166,064
31 March 2018 93,521 92,579

11. Trade and other receivables

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Recoverable VAT 314 3,499
Licence fee receivable (Note 9) 633 961
Rent receivable 3,466 1,130
Prepayments and other receivables 284 34

4,697 5,624

All amounts were due for receipt within one year.

The carrying value of trade and other receivables classified at amortised cost approximates fair value. 

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a lifetime expected credit loss 
provision for trade receivables. To measure expected credit losses on a collective basis, trade receivables are grouped based on 
similar credit risk and ageing.

The expected loss rates are based on the Group’s historical credit losses experienced over the period from incorporation to 
31 March 2019. The historical loss rates are then adjusted for current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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affecting the Group’s customers. Both the expected credit loss provision and the incurred loss provision in the current and prior 
year are immaterial. No reasonably possible changes in the assumptions underpinning the expected credit loss provision would 
give rise to a material expected credit loss.

Trade and other receivables that are financial assets amount to £4,099,000 (31 March 2018: £2,091,000) which comprises licence 
fee receivable and rent receivable.

The following table sets out the ageing of trade and other receivables that are financial assets:

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

30 days or fewer 4,099 2,125
31 to 60 days – –
61 to 90 days – –
91 days or more – –

4,099 2,125

12. Cash reserves

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Cash at bank 19,219 30,712
Cash held by lawyers 194 75
Cash and cash equivalents 19,413 30,787
Restricted cash 43,204 17,876
Total cash at bank 62,617 48,663

Cash held by lawyers is money held in escrow for expenses expected to be incurred in relation to investment properties pending 
completion. These funds are available immediately on demand.

13. Trade and other payables

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Accrued investment property costs 1,143 1,636
Deferred rental income 4,581 1,978
Accruals 390 281
Trade and other payables 1,798 1,324
Directors’ fees 18 18
Corporation tax payable1 1,036 –

8,966 5,237

All amounts were due for payment within one year.

Trade and other payables that are financial liabilities amount to £3,349,000 (31 March 2018: £3,259,000) which comprises accrued 
investment property costs, accruals, trade and other payables and Directors’ fees. 
1   Corporation tax payable are liabilities of the Company’s subsidiaries that accrued prior to acquisition and entry to the REIT regime. No tax liabilities have arisen within the Group and 

the tax charge for the year disclosed in Note 8 is £Nil (31 March 2018: £Nil).
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14. Bank borrowings 

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Capital outstanding
At beginning of the period 95,000 –
Drawdowns 75,000 95,000
At end of the period 170,000 95,000
Less: unamortised loan arrangement fees (2,689) (1,479)
Carrying value 167,311 93,521

Maturity of bank borrowings
31 March 2019

£000
31 March 2018

£000

Repayable between 1 and 2 years – –
Repayable between 2 and 5 years – –
Repayable after 5 years 167,311 93,521

167,311 93,521

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s borrowings comprise the following three facilities with Scottish Widows Limited:

• A fixed rate, interest only loan facility of £55 million. The facility has an all-in rate of 2.93% p.a., for the duration of the loan term 
and is due for repayment in July 2029;

• A fixed rate, interest only loan facility of £40 million. The facility has an all-in rate of 2.85% p.a., for the duration of the loan term 
and is due for repayment in July 2029; and

• A fixed rate, interest only loan facility of £75 million. The facility has a fixed all-in rate payable of 2.99% p.a., for the duration 
of the loan term and is due for repayment in December 2034.

The Group has remained compliant with the covenants throughout the period up to the date of this report. 

The facilities are secured against certain of the Group’s investment property. 

15. Share capital

Shares of £0.01 each
31 March 2019

Number
31 March 2019

£000
31 March 2018

Number
31 March 2018

£000

At the beginning of the period 196,881,707 1,969 – –
Issued during the period 155,433,165 1,554 196,881,707 1,969
At the end of the period 352,314,872 3,523 196,881,707 1,969
Issued and fully paid 352,314,872 3,523 196,881,707 1,969

On 27 January 2017, 50,000 redeemable preference shares of £1.00 were issued at par. These shares were subsequently redeemed 
at par and cancelled on 22 February 2017.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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The Company achieved admission to the premium listing segment of the Official List of the London Stock Exchange on 
27 February 2017. At IPO, the Company issued 138,150,000 shares of 1 pence nominal value and a premium of 99 pence per share 
for total consideration of £138.15 million. 

On 16 October 2017 the Company issued 58,731,707 additional shares of 1 pence nominal value and a premium of 101.5 pence per 
share for total consideration of £60.20 million.

On 16 October 2018 the Company issued 155,433,165 additional shares of 1 pence nominal value and a premium of 111.75 pence per 
share for total consideration of £175.25 million.

16. Share premium reserve 
The share premium relates to amounts subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value net of directly attributable 
share issue costs.

Share premium reserve £000

Year ended 31 March 2019
Balance at 1 April 2018 58,979
Share premium arising on issue of ordinary shares 173,696
Share issue costs (3,405)
Balance at 31 March 2019 229,270

Period from 21 December 2016 to 31 March 2018
Balance at 21 December 2016 –
Share premium arising on first issue of ordinary shares 136,768
Share issue costs (2,688)
Transfer to capital reduction reserve (134,005)
Share premium arising on second issue of ordinary shares 59,613
Share issue costs (709)
Balance at 31 March 2018 58,979

On 27 January 2017, a resolution was passed authorising the cancellation of the share premium reserve conditional on the 
following terms:

• Admission of the ordinary shares of the Company to listing on the UK Listing Authority’s Official List

• The Company’s ordinary shares to commence trading on London Stock Exchange’s Main Market for listed securities

• Approval of the court for the reduction of share capital

The amount standing to the credit of the share premium reserve of the Company following completion of the IPO (less issue 
expenses set off against the share premium reserve) was, as a result, transferred to the capital reduction reserve. This is 
a distributable reserve which is capable of being applied in any manner in which the Company’s profits available for distribution 
(as determined in accordance with the Companies Act 2006) are able to be applied.
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17. Dividends

Dividends paid and declared £000

Year ended 31 March 2019
Final dividend in respect of period ended 31 March 2018 at 2.00 pence per ordinary share 3,938
First quarterly dividend in respect of year ended 31 March 2019 at 1.375 pence per ordinary share 2,707
Second quarterly dividend in respect of year ended 31 March 2019 at 1.375 pence per ordinary share 2,707
Third quarterly dividend in respect of year ended 31 March 2019 at 1.375 pence per ordinary share 4,844
Total dividends paid 14,196

Total dividend per share paid in the year 6.125p
Total dividend per share paid and proposed in respect of the year 5.50p

Period from 21 December 2016 to 31 March 2018
First interim dividend in respect of period ended 31 March 2018 at 1.00 pence per ordinary share 1,969
Second interim dividend in respect of period ended 31 March 2018 at 1.00 pence per ordinary share 1,969
Total dividends paid 3,938

Total dividend per share paid in the period 2.00p
Total dividend per share paid and proposed in respect of the period 4.00p

Dividends in respect of the period ended 31 March 2018
On 23 November 2017, the Company announced first interim dividend in respect of the period from 21 December 2016 to 
30 September 2017 of 1.00 pence per ordinary share which was paid on 29 December 2017 to ordinary shareholders on the 
register on 1 December 2017.

On 16 February 2018, the Company announced second interim dividend in respect of the period from 1 October 2017 to 
31 December 2017 of 1.00 pence per ordinary share which was paid on 29 March 2018 to ordinary shareholders on the register 
on 2 March 2018.

On 21 May 2018, the Company proposed final dividend in respect of the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 March 2018 of 2.00 pence 
per ordinary share which was paid on 2 July 2018 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 6 June 2018. The 
ordinary shares went ex-dividend on 7 June 2018. The final dividend was approved by shareholders at the Company’s AGM 
on 26 June 2018.

Dividends in respect of the year ending 31 March 2019
On 6 August 2018, the Company announced first quarterly dividend in respect of the period from 1 April 2018 to 30 June 2018 
of 1.375 pence per ordinary share which was paid on 28 September 2018 to ordinary shareholders on the register on 
7 September 2018.

On 4 October 2018, the Company announced second quarterly dividend in respect of the period from 1 July 2018 to 
30 September 2018 of 1.375 pence per ordinary share which was paid on 21 December 2018 to ordinary shareholders on the 
register on 12 October 2018.

On 14 February 2019, the Company announced third quarterly dividend in respect of the period from 1 October 2018 to 
31 December 2018 of 1.375 pence per ordinary share which was paid on 29 March 2019 to ordinary shareholders on the register 
on 8 March 2019.

On 17 May 2019, the Board proposed a final dividend in respect of the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2019 of 1.375 pence 
per ordinary share, payable to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 31 May 2019. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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18. Operating leases – The Group as lessor 
The future minimum lease receivable by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases at 31 March 2019 are as follows:

Lease receivables
< 1 year 

£000
2–5 years 

£000
> 5 years 

£000
Total 
£000

31 March 2019 25,924 107,096 491,411 624,431
31 March 2018 13,252 55,053 328,864 397,169

All of the Group’s lease arrangements:

• are on full repairing and insuring terms, meaning the tenants are responsible for repair, maintenance and outgoings;

• provide for fixed rents (rather than turnover rents), which review on an upward-only basis (either annually or five yearly). 
The vast majority (96%) have rent reviews directly linked to inflation or on a fixed uplift basis; and

• have long contractual terms, averaging 22 years to the earlier of first tenant break or expiry.

19. Segmental information
Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal financial reports about components of the Group that are regularly 
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (which in the Group’s case is the Board, comprising the non-executive Directors, 
and the Investment Advisor) in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance.

The internal financial reports contain financial information at a Group level as a whole and there are no reconciling items between 
the results contained in these reports and the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. These internal financial 
reports include the IFRS figures but also report the non-IFRS figures for the EPRA and alternative performance measures as 
disclosed in Notes 26 and 27 and the Additional Information. 

The Group’s property portfolio comprises investment property, diversified across nine different property sub-sectors. The 
Board considers that all the properties have similar economic characteristics. Therefore, in the view of the Board, there is one 
reportable segment.

All of the Group’s properties are based in the UK and as such no geographical grouping is considered appropriate for 
segmental analysis.

During the year one (31 March 2018: three) tenant(s) contributed more than 10% of the Group’s rental income from investment 
property and is therefore considered a major customer. The contribution of the major customer to rental income was £1,920,000 
(31 March 2018: £1,342,000, £1,269,000 and £1,043,000 respectively).
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20. Related party transactions
Fees payable to the Directors, save where the Company determines otherwise, are satisfied in ordinary shares acquired at market 
value, such ordinary shares are acquired on the open market without a new issue of shares on behalf of the Directors by the 
Company’s broker. Any ordinary shares acquired by the Directors pursuant to these arrangements shall be subject to the terms of 
the Lock-in Deed.

Fees of £133,000 were payable to the Directors in respect of the year (31 March 2018: £142,000). At 31 March 2019, the amount of 
£18,000 was due to the Directors (31 March 2018: £18,000) which was settled through the acquisition of shares in the Company 
on the open market.

During the period, the Directors purchased and held at the period end the following number of ordinary shares:

31 March 2019
Number

31 March 2018
Number

Stephen Hubbard (Chairman) Purchased 49,099 71,057
Held 120,156 71,057

Colin Smith Purchased 13,131 160,681
Held 173,812 160,681

John Cartwright Purchased 16,928 38,030
Held 54,958 38,030

Jan Etherden Purchased 13,404 30,838
Held 44,242 30,838

A summary of Directors’ emoluments, including the disclosures required by the Companies Act 2006, is set out in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report.

A fee of £2,337,000 was payable to the Investment Advisor in respect of the year (31 March 2018: £1,387,000). At 31 March 2019, 
£273,000 was due to the Investment Advisor (31 March 2018, £125,000).

On 27 January 2017, 50,000 redeemable preference shares of £1.00 were issued to a former Director of the Company at par. These 
shares were subsequently redeemed at par and cancelled on 22 February 2017.

During and since the year ended 31 March 2019 the Company completed the disposal of 17 separate supported living healthcare 
assets for a total consideration of £24,983,000 to a related party by virtue of mutual AIFM.

21. Consolidated entities
The Company owns 100% of the equity shares of all subsidiaries listed below and has the power to appoint and remove the 
majority of the Board of Directors of those subsidiaries. The relevant activities of the below subsidiaries are determined by the 
respective Directors based on simple majority votes. Therefore, the Board of the Company has concluded that the Company has 
control over all these entities and all these entities have been consolidated within this set of financial statements.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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Name of Entity Principal activity
Country of 

incorporation
Ownership 

%

LXi Property Holdings 1 Limited Property Investment UK 100%
LXi Property Holdings 2 Limited* Property Investment UK 100%
LXi Property Holdings 3 Limited Property Investment UK 100%
LXi Property Holdings 4 Limited Property Investment UK 100%
Alco 1 Limited* Property Investment UK 100%
FPI Co 219 Limited* Property Investment UK 100%
FPI Co 222 Limited* Property Investment UK 100%
FPI Co 223 Limited* Property Investment UK 100%
LXi Cowdenbeath Limited* Property Investment UK 100%
SM Plymouth Hotel Limited* Property Investment UK 100%
Corby (General Partner) Limited* Property Investment UK 100%
Corby Rail Services Limited* Property Investment UK 100%
Corby Limited Partnership* Property Investment UK 100%
Corby (No.2) Unit Trust* Property Investment Jersey 100%
Grove Property Unit Trust 8* Property Investment Jersey 100%
Grove Asset 8 S.A R.L.* Property Investment Luxembourg 100%

* Subsidiaries indirectly owned. 

The registered office for UK subsidiaries is Mermaid House, 2 Puddle Dock, London, England, EC4V 3DB.

The registered office of Jersey subsidiaries is 26 New Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE2 3RA.

The registered office of Luxembourg subsidiaries is 2 rue du Fosse, L-1536, Luxembourg.

22. Financial risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk in the current and future periods. The Board of Directors 
oversees the management of these risks. The policies of the Directors for managing each of these risks are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates.

The Group has reduced the interest rate risk on its external borrowing by fixing the rate of interest payable.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading 
to a financial loss. The Group will be exposed to credit risk on both its leasing activities and financing activities, including deposits 
with banks and financial institutions. 

Credit risk related to financial instruments and cash deposits
One of the principal credit risks of the Group arises with the banks and financial institutions. The Board of Directors believes 
that the credit risk on short term deposits and current account cash balances is limited because of low counterparty risk, the 
counterparties being banks with high credit ratings. 

All financial assets are regularly monitored. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of 
financial assets disclosed in Note 11.
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Credit risk related to leasing activities
In respect of occupational leasing arrangements, in the event of a default by a tenant, the Group may suffer a void period where 
no rents are received and additional re-letting costs. The quality of the tenant is assessed based on an extensive tenant covenant 
review scorecard prior to acquisition of the property. The assessment of the tenant credit worthiness is also monitored on an 
ongoing basis. Credit risk is assisted by the vast majority of occupational leases requiring that tenants pay rentals in advance. 
The Investment Advisor monitors the rent collection in order to anticipate and minimise the impact of defaults by tenants. 
Outstanding rent receivables are regularly monitored. 

Liquidity risk 
The Group manages its liquidity and funding risks by considering cash flow forecasts and ensuring sufficient cash balances 
are held within the Group to meet future needs. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and 
marketable securities, the availability of financing through appropriate and adequate credit lines, and the ability of customers to 
settle obligations within normal terms of credit. The Group ensures, through forecasting of capital requirements, that adequate 
cash is available.

The following table details the Group’s liquidity analysis in respect of its financial liabilities on contractual undiscounted payments:

31 March 2019
< 3 months

£000

3–12
months

£000

1–5
years
£000

> 5
years
£000

Total
£000

Financial liabilities
Bank borrowings (Note 14) – – – 170,000 170,000
Interest payable on bank borrowings 1,208 3,650 19,391 34,712 58,961
Trade and other payables (Note 13) 3,349 – – – 3,349

4,557 3,650 19,391 204,712 232,310

31 March 2018
< 3 months

£000

3–12
months

£000

1–5
years
£000

> 5
years
£000

Total
£000

Financial liabilities
Bank borrowings (Note 14) – – – 95,000 95,000
Interest payable on bank borrowings 694 2,060 13,776 14,508 31,038
Trade and other payables (Note 13) 3,259 – – – 3,259

3,953 2,060 13,776 109,508 129,297

Capital management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group considers proceeds from share issuance, bank borrowings and retained earnings as capital. The Group’s policy on 
borrowing is as set out below:

• The level of borrowing will be on a prudent basis for the asset class and will seek to achieve a low cost of funds, whilst 
maintaining flexibility in the underlying security requirements and structure of the Group.

• The Board intends to maintain a conservative level of aggregate borrowings with a medium term maximum target of 35% of the 
Group’s total assets.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

22. Financial risk management (continued)
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23. Capital commitments
At 31 March 2019 the Group had capital commitments of £22,383,000 (31 March 2018: £21,647,000) in relation to the cost to 
complete its forward funded pre-let development assets. All commitments fall due for settlement within one year from the date 
of this report.

24. Contingent liabilities
At 31 March 2019 the Group had contingent liabilities relating to acquisitions where contracts had been exchanged but substantial 
conditions to completion remained outstanding totalling £49,008,000 (31 March 2018: £17,330,000). All contingent liabilities are 
expected to fall due for settlement within one year from the date of this report.

25. Reconciliation of liabilities to cash flows from financing activities

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000

Period from 
21 December 2016 

to 31 March 2018
£000

Bank borrowings at start of the period 93,521 –

Cash flows from financing activities
Bank borrowings drawn 49,671 77,124
Loan arrangement fees paid (1,403) (1,549)

Non-cash movements
Amortisation of loan arrangement fees 194 70
Increase in restricted cash 25,328 17,876

 
Bank borrowings at end of the period 167,311 93,521
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26. Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period. Amounts shown below are both basic and diluted 
measures as there were no dilutive instruments in issue throughout the current or comparative periods.

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000

Period from 
21 December 2016

to 31 March 20181

£000

Earnings 34,116 20,966
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  267,571,859 138,615,909
Earnings per share (“EPS”) (pence) 12.75 15.12

Adjustments to remove:
Change in fair value of investment property (Note 9) (15,941) (15,056)
Gain on disposal of investment property (Note 9) (3,321) (91)
EPRA earnings 14,854 5,819
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 267,571,859 138,615,909
EPRA EPS (pence) 5.55 4.20

Adjustments to include:
Licence fees receivable (Note 9) 1,499 1,188
Adjusted earnings before realised gain on disposal of investment property 16,353 7,007
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 267,571,859 138,615,909
Adjusted EPS (pence) 6.11 5.05

Adjusted EPS is a performance measure used by the Board to assess the Company’s dividend payments. The metric adjusts EPRA 
earnings to include licence fees receivable from developers.

The Group’s accounting policy for licence fees receivable is to recognise them as a discount to the cost of the investment property, 
however the Board considers these returns an important component of the Group’s performance and key to underpinning the 
Company’s dividend targets and payment.
1  Reported Adjusted EPS for the period ended 31 March 2018 included realised gains on disposal of investment property in the period. The Board considers that as this capital is 

reinvested and not distributed it is not appropriate to consider when assessing the Company’s dividend payment and therefore the comparative has been updated to reflect this.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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27. Net asset value per share 
Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the consolidated net assets attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
Company by the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the reporting date. Amounts shown below are both basic and diluted 
measures as there were no dilutive instruments in issue throughout the current or comparative periods.

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Net asset value (“NAV”) 403,746 211,981
Number of ordinary shares 352,314,872 196,881,707
NAV per share (pence) 114.60 107.67

Adjustments to calculate EPRA NAV – –
EPRA NAV 403,746 211,981
Number of ordinary shares 352,314,872 196,881,707
EPRA NAV per share (pence) 114.60 107.67

28. Post balance sheet events
On 17 April 2019, the Group completed the £14.5 million acquisition of a garden centre let to Dobbies Garden Centres Limited in 
Morpeth with a 30 year unbroken lease term and RPI linked uplifts, reflecting NIY of 5.5%.

On 1 May 2019, the Group completed the disposal of a portfolio of six supported living healthcare assets generating a geared IRR 
of 19% p.a. and a realised gain on disposal of £1.2 million.

On 17 May 2019, the Board proposed a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2019 of 1.375 pence per share bringing 
the total dividend paid and proposed in respect of the year to 5.50 pence. 

On 17 May 2019 the Board agreed an increased dividend per share target for the year ending 31 March 2020 of 5.75 pence 
(31 March 2019: 5.50 pence) reflecting growth of 4.55%.

On 17 May 2019, the Board proposed a target equity raise of £100 million to acquire a pipeline of accretive assets to deliver 
further value to shareholders. A prospectus is expected to be published in connection with the raise on 20 May 2019. The raise 
will be implemented by way of a placing, open offer, offer for subscription and intermediaries offer, which is expected to close on 
12 June 2019 and is subject to shareholder approval at a general meeting that has been convened for 9.15 a.m. on 12 June 2019. 

29. Controlling parties
There is no ultimate controlling party of the Group.
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 Note
31 March 2019 

£000
31 March 2018 

£000

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries 4 384,603 183,885
Investment property 5 4,140 6,500
Total non-current assets 388,743 190,385

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 6 6,562 10,438
Cash and cash equivalents 7 57 657
Total current assets 6,619 11,095
 
Total assets 395,362 201,480

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 8 33,784 7,566
Total current liabilities 33,784 7,566

Total liabilities 33,784 7,566
Net assets 361,578 193,914

Equity
Share capital 10 3,523 1,969
Share premium reserve 11 229,270 58,979
Capital reduction reserve 115,871 130,067
Retained earnings 12,914 2,899
Total equity 361,578 193,914

Net asset value per share – basic and diluted 12 102.63p 98.49p

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not presented its 
own profit and loss account in these financial statements. The profit and total comprehensive income attributable to shareholders of 
the Parent Company for the year amounted to £10,015,000 (31 March 2018: £2,899,000).

The Company financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 17 May 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Stephen Hubbard
Chairman of the Board of Directors

The notes on pages 86 to 90 form part of the Company financial statements.

Company statement of financial position
Company number: 10535081
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Year ended 31 March 2019 Note

Share 
capital

£000

Share 
premium 

reserve
£000

Capital 
reduction 

reserve
£000

Retained 
earnings

£000

Total 
equity

£000

Balance at 1 April 2018 1,969 58,979 130,067 2,899 193,914

Profit and total comprehensive 
income attributable to 
shareholders for the year – – – 10,015 10,015

Transactions with owners
Issue of ordinary shares 
in the year 10,11 1,554 173,696 – – 175,250
Share issue costs 11 – (3,405) – – (3,405)

Dividends paid in the year 9 – – (14,196) – (14,196)

Balance at 31 March 2019 3,523 229,270 115,871 12,914 361,578

Period from 21 December 2016  
to 31 March 2018 Note

Share 
capital

£000

Share 
premium 

reserve
£000

Capital 
reduction 

reserve
£000

Retained 
earnings

£000

Total 
equity

£000

Balance as at 21 December 2016 – – – –

Profit and total comprehensive 
income attributable to 
shareholders for the period – – – 2,899 2,899

Transactions with owners
First issue of Ordinary Shares 10,11 1,382 136,768 – – 138,150
Share issue costs 11 – (2,688) – – (2,688)
Cancellation of share premium 11 – (134,005) 134,005 – –
Second issue of Ordinary Shares 10,11 587 59,613 – – 60,200
Share issue costs 11 – (709) – – (709)

Dividends paid in the period 9 – – (3,938) – (3,938)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 1,969 58,979 130,067 2,899 193,914

The notes on pages 86 to 90 form part of the Company financial statements.

Company statement of changes in equity
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1. Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 100 Application of Financial 
Reporting Requirements (“FRS 100”) and Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (“FRS 101”). The 
Company is registered in England and Wales under company registration number 10535081.

Disclosure exemptions adopted
In preparing these financial statements the Company has taken advantage of disclosure exemptions conferred by FRS 101 and 
therefore these financial statements do not include:

• Certain disclosures regarding the Company’s capital;

• A statement of cash flows;

• The effect of future accounting standards not yet adopted;

• The disclosure of the remuneration of key management personnel; and

• Disclosure of related party transactions with other wholly owned members of the Company.

In addition, and in accordance with FRS 101 further disclosure exemptions have been adopted because equivalent disclosures are 
included in the Group Financial Statements. These financial statements do not include certain disclosures in respect of:

• Financial instruments; and

• Fair value measurement other than certain disclosures required as a result of recording financial instruments at fair value.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 

The Company’s financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

Standards effective from 1 April 2018
New standards impacting the Company that have been adopted for the first time in this set of financial statements are:

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instrument: Recognition and Measurement.

Due to the nature of the Company’s financial instruments, the adoption of IFRS 9 does not have a material impact on the 
classification and measurement of the Company’s financial instruments.

The Company adopted the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model when calculating impairment losses on its financial assets measured 
at amortised cost which comprise amounts due from subsidiaries. This resulted in increased judgment being required in order to 
assess the requirement for an impairment provision due to the need to factor in forward looking information when estimating 
the appropriate amount of provision. Having considered the post balance sheet settlement of the receivables, the Board does not 
consider any to be impaired and the probability of credit loss is immeasurably small and therefore any ECL arising to be immaterial.

Having considered the requirements of IFRS 9, under section 5.5.15(b), the simplified approach has been applied when considering 
the ECL model when determining the expectations of impairment for other financial instruments excluding loans to subsidiaries 
for which measurement is outlined in Note 3. Under the simplified approach the Company is always required to measure lifetime 
expected losses. The Board incorporates forward looking information when estimating the appropriate amount of any provision.

Given the nature of the Company’s receivables and counterparties the probability of credit loss is immeasurably small and 
therefore any ECL arising is concluded to be immaterial.

Notes to the Company financial statements
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IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
IFRS 15 has replaced IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue.

The standard applies to revenue from contracts with customers as defined, and scopes out rental receipts that arise from 
lease contracts.

The Board is satisfied the standard has no material impact on the financial statements as rental income is outside the scope of the 
standard and the Company’s only revenue is currently generated from rental income from leases and dividends from subsidiaries 
that do not contain any service components.

Standards in issue but not yet effective
The following new standard, which is not yet effective and has not been early adopted in this financial information will or may have 
an effect on the Company’s future financial statements:

• IFRS 16 Leases: introduction of a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for leases which refers primarily to accounting for 
lessees (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). 

The Company holds long leasehold interests in certain of its investment property portfolio. On all such properties owned by the 
Company the headlease rents are peppercorn and as such there are no material lease liabilities to recognise on balance sheet. No 
changes have been identified in respect of the leases where the Company acts as lessee.

The Company leases its investment property to tenants on long term occupational leases that are classified as operating leases. 
No changes have been identified in respect of the leases where the Company acts as lessor.

The Board has given due consideration to the impact on the consolidated financial statements of the standard listed above and 
at present they do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements in the period of initial application, other than on presentation and disclosure. 

2. Significant accounting judgments, estimate and assumptions
In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the Board is required to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are outlined below:

Estimates:
Valuation of investment property
The Company’s estimates in relation to its investment property are consistent with the Group for which details are given in the 
Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Judgments:
Classification of lease arrangements – the Company as lessor
The Company’s judgments in relation to its classification of lease arrangements are consistent with the Group for which details are 
given in the Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

3. Principal accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Company financial statements are consistent with the Group 
which are described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. Policies adopted in the preparation of the Company’s 
financial statements that not included in the consolidated financial statements are given below: 

Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries is included in the statement of financial position at cost less provision for impairment. 

Loans to subsidiaries
Impairment provisions for receivables from and loans to subsidiaries are recognised based on a forward-looking expected credit 
loss model. The methodology used to determine the amount of provision is based on whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset, twelve month expected credit losses along with gross interest income 
are recognised. For those for which credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime expected credit losses along with the gross 
interest income are recognised. For those that are determined to be credit impaired, lifetime expected credit losses along with 
interest income on a net basis are recognised.

4. Investment in subsidiaries

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

At beginning of the period 183,885 –
Additions 200,718 183,885
At end of the period 384,603 183,885

A list of the Company’s subsidiary undertakings is included in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

5. Investment property

Year ended 31 March 2019

Investment property 
threshold

£000

Balance at 1 April 2018 6,500
Property acquisitions 4,006
Tenant lease incentives 36
Property disposals (6,700)
Change in fair value 298
Balance at 31 March 2019 4,140

Period from 21 December 2016 to 31 March 2018

Investment property 
threshold

£000

Balance at 21 December 2016 –
Property acquisitions 5,844
Tenant lease incentives 39
Change in fair value 617
Balance at 31 March 2018 6,500

Detailed information about the valuation of investment property is included in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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6. Trade and other receivables

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Amounts due from subsidiaries 6,221 10,221
Recoverable VAT 181 103
Rent receivable 68 75
Prepayments and other receivables 92 39

6,562 10,438

All amounts are due for receipt within one year.

7. Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Cash at bank 25 617
Cash held by lawyers 32 40

57 657

Cash held by lawyers is money held in escrow for expenses expected to be incurred in relation to investment properties pending 
completion. These funds are available immediately on demand.

8. Trade and other payables

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 33,263 6,739
Trade and other payables 24 421
Accruals 427 196
Other creditors 18 118
Deferred rental income 52 92

33,784 7,566

All amounts are due for payment within one year.

9. Dividends

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Dividends paid 14,196 3,938

Detailed information about the dividends paid by the Company is included in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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10. Share capital

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Share capital 3,523 1,969

Detailed information about the share capital of the Company is included in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

11. Share premium reserve 

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Share premium 229,270 58,979

Detailed information about the share premium of the Company is included in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

12. Net asset value per share 
Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per share is calculated by dividing net assets in the company statement of financial position attributable 
to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the period. There are no 
dilutive equity instruments outstanding.

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

NAV 361,578 193,914
Number of ordinary shares 352,314,872 196,881,707
NAV per share (pence) 102.63 98.49

13. Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption not to disclose transactions with other members of the Group as the 
Company financial statements are presented together with the consolidated financial statements.

Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements includes details of other related party transactions undertaken by the Company 
and its subsidiaries.

14. Guarantees
The Company has given a full guarantee of the Group’s loan facilities to the lender.

15. Ultimate controlling party
There is no ultimate controlling party of the Company.

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

90  LXi REIT plc Annual Report 2019



Additional Inform
ation

Financial Statem
ents

Governance
Strategic Report

O
verview

Additional Information
Notes to the EPRA and alternative 
performance measures 92
Glossary 94
Company information 95
Notice of Annual General Meeting 96
Notes to Notice of Annual General Meeting 98

Additional Information BUPA  
Bristol 

Description Residential and nursing care home
Purchase Price £13.8 million
Net Initial Yield 6.40%
Acquisition Structure Built asset
Date Acquired February 2019
Rent Review RPI
Tenant/Guarantor Bupa Care Homes (ANS) Limited/

Bupa Care Homes (CFG) plc 
Lease Term 23.6 years unexpired, with no break
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EPRA NNNAV

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

EPRA net asset value 403,746 211,981
Include:
Fair value of debt1 1,247 942
EPRA NNNAV 404,993 212,923
Shares in issue 352,314,872 196,881,707
EPRA NNNAV per share (pence) 114.95 108.15 

1 Difference between interest bearing loans included in the EPRA net assets at amortised cost, and the fair value of interest bearing loans

EPRA NIY and EPRA ‘Topped Up’ NIY

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Investment property – wholly owned 589,500 278,920
Less: development properties (88,380) (50,200)
Completed property portfolio 501,120 228,720
Allowance for estimated purchasers' costs 33,465 14,601
Gross up completed property portfolio valuation (B) 534,585 243,321
Annualised passing rental income 32,198 15,942
Less: contracted rental income in respect of development properties (4,745) (2,640)
Property outgoings – –
Annualised net rents (A) 27,453 13,302
Contractual increases for lease incentives1 4,686 5,369
Topped up annualised net rents (C) 32,139 18,671
EPRA NIY (A/B) 5.14% 5.47%
EPRA Topped Up NIY (C/B) 6.01% 7.67%

1 E.g. Step rents and expiry of rent free periods

EPRA Vacancy Rate

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Annualised estimated rental value of vacant premises – –
Portfolio estimated rental value1 26,596 12,753
EPRA Vacancy Rate 0.00% 0.00%

1 Excludes contracted rents receivable on development properties

Notes to the EPRA and alternative performance measures 
(unaudited)
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EPRA Cost Ratio

Year ended
31 March 2019

£000

Period from 
21 December 2016

to 31 March 2018
£000

Property operating costs – –
Vacant property costs – –
Administration expenses 3,530 2,412
Total costs (both including and excluding vacant property costs1) 3,530 2,412
Total gross rental 21,567 9,339
Total EPRA cost ratio (including and excluding vacant property costs) 16.37% 25.83%

1 The Group has no vacant property costs

Total NAV return

Year ended
31 March 2019

pence

Period from 
21 December 2016

to 31 March 2018
pence

ERPA NAV per share at beginning of the period 107.67 98.00
EPRA NAV per share at end of the period 114.60 107.67
Change in EPRA NAV per share in the period 6.93 9.67
Dividend per share paid in the period 6.125 2.00
Total of change in EPRA NAV and dividend per share 13.055 11.67
Total NAV return 12.13% 11.91%
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Average acquisition net initial yield The annualised rents at the date of acquisition of the entire portfolio, net of costs, 
expressed as a percentage of the acquisition price paid for the Group’s investment 
property, after adding purchase costs paid

Average debt maturity The remaining period to maturity of each of the Group’s debt facilities, multiplied by the 
respective capital borrowed on each tranche of debt divided by the sum of the results

Average fixed cost of debt The fixed cost of debt of each of the Group’s debt facilities, multiplied by the respective 
capital borrowed on each tranche of debt divided by the sum of the results

Average valuation net initial yield The annualised rents at valuation date of the entire portfolio, net of costs, expressed 
as a percentage of the independent valuation of the Group’s investment property, 
after adding purchase costs paid

Completion The point at which ownership of the property is legally transferred by dating the 
transfer deed

Dividend per share The total dividend paid and proposed in respect of a period divided by the number of 
ordinary shares eligible for the dividend on the record date

Exchange The point on a property transaction at which the contract to sell is exchanged and dated 
and becomes legally binding

Forward commitment A property transaction in which contracts are exchanged subject to the completed 
development of a pre-let asset with. The risks and rewards are transferred at the point 
of completion after practical completion of the development is reached

Forward funded A property transaction in which land is acquired subject to a funding agreement with 
the developer to build a pre-let asset with approved planning permission. The risks and 
rewards are transferred at land completion prior to the commencement of development

Geared internal rate of return A measure of the profitability of an investment property ignoring external factors being 
the discount rate at which all the associated cash flows of the investment property, net 
of related borrowings and interest costs, are equal to zero.

IPO Initial public offering

Liquidity The extent to which investments can be realised at short notice

Loan to value The carrying value of bank borrowings as a percentage of the carrying value of total assets

Market capitalisation The mid-market price for an ordinary share of the Company multiplied by the number of 
ordinary shares in issue

Net initial yield The current annualised rent, net of costs, expressed as a percentage of capital value, 
after adding notional purchaser’s costs

Portfolio valuation The total value of the Group’s investment property including capital commitments on 
forward funded assets determined by the independent valuer on an individual asset 
basis and assuming no portfolio premium

Practical completion The point at which a building project is complete, except for minor defects that can be 
put right without undue interference or disturbance to the tenant

Total shareholder return The growth in value of a shareholding over a specified period, assuming dividends are 
reinvested to purchase additional units of stock

Glossary
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Company information

Company number: 10535081
Country of incorporation: England and Wales

Directors, Management and Advisors

Non-Executive Directors 
Stephen Hubbard (Chairman)
Colin Smith OBE 
Jan Etherden 
John Cartwright  

Registered office
Mermaid House
2 Puddle Dock
London
EC4V 3DB

AIFM
LJ Administration (UK) Limited
10 Old Burlington Street
London 
W1S 3AG

Investment Advisor
LXI REIT Advisors Limited
10 Old Burlington Street
London 
W1S 3AG

Company secretary
PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited
Mermaid House
2 Puddle Dock
London
EC4V 3DB

Sponsor and Broker
Peel Hunt LLP
Moor House
120 London Wall
London
EC2Y 5ET

Communications Adviser
Maitland/AMO
3 Pancras Square
London
N1C 4AG

Depositary
Langham Hall UK Depositary LLP 
5 Old Bailey
London
EC4M 7BA 

Registrar
Link Asset Services
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Kent 
BR3 4TU

Administrator
Langham Hall UK Services LLP
5 Old Bailey
London
EC4M 7BA

Independent Valuer
Knight Frank LLP
55 Baker Street
London 
W1U 8AN

Independent Auditor
BDO LLP
55 Baker Street
London
W1U 7EU 

Tax Advisor
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Grant Thornton House
Melton Street Euston Square
London
NW1 2EP

Legal Advisor
Stephenson Harwood LLP
1 Finsbury Circus
London 
EC2M 7SH 
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of 
LXI REIT plc will be held at the office of Stephenson Harwood 
LLP, 1 Finsbury Circus, London, EC2M 7SH on 26 June 2019 at 
11.00 am for the following purposes:

To consider and if thought fit pass the following resolutions 
of which resolutions 1 to 10 will be proposed as ordinary 
resolutions and resolutions 11 to 13 will be proposed as 
special resolutions.

1.  To receive and adopt the Company’s Annual Report and 
Accounts for the year to 31 March 2019, with the reports 
of the Directors and Auditor thereon.

2.  To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report included 
in the Annual Report for the year to 31 March 2019.

3.  To re-elect Stephen Hubbard as a Director of the Company.

4. To re-elect John Cartwright as a Director of the Company.

5.  To re-elect Jeannette Etherden as a Director 
of the Company.

6. To re-elect Colin Smith as a Director of the Company.

7. To re-appoint BDO LLP as Auditor to the Company. 

8.  To authorise the Directors to fix the remuneration of the 
Auditor until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

9.  To approve a final dividend of 1.375 pence per Ordinary 
Share in respect of the year to 31 March 2019.

10.  That the Directors be and are hereby generally and 
unconditionally authorised in accordance with section 551 
of the Companies Act 2006 (in substitution for all subsisting 
authorities to the extent unused) to exercise all the powers 
of the Company to allot up to 35,231,487 ordinary shares of 
1 pence each in the capital of the Company (equivalent to 
10% of the ordinary shares in issue at the date of this notice 
of Annual General Meeting), such authority to expire (unless 
previously varied, revoked or renewed by the Company in 
general meeting) at the conclusion of the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company to be held in 2020 or, if earlier, on 
the expiry of 15 months from the passing of this resolution, 
save that the Company may, at any time prior to the expiry 
of such authority, make an offer or enter into an agreement 
which would or might require the allotment of shares in 
pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if such authority 
had not expired;

11.  That subject to the passing of resolution 10, in substitution 
for any existing power under sections 570 and 573 of the 
Companies Act 2006 but without prejudice to the exercise 
of any such power prior to the date hereof, the Directors be 
and are hereby empowered (pursuant to sections 570 and 
573 of the Companies Act 2006) to allot ordinary shares of 
1 pence each and to sell ordinary shares from treasury for 
cash pursuant to the authority referred to in Resolution 10 
above as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to any such 
allotment or sale, such power to expire (unless previously 
varied, revoked or renewed by the Company in general 
meeting) at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting 
of the Company to be held in 2020 or, if earlier, on the expiry 
of 15 months from the passing of this resolution, save that 
the Company may, at any time prior to the expiry of such 
power, make an offer or enter into an agreement which 
would or might require equity securities to be allotted or 
sold from treasury after the expiry of such power, and the 
Directors may allot or sell from treasury equity securities in 
pursuance of such an offer or an agreement as if such power 
had not expired;
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12.  That the Company be and is hereby generally and 
unconditionally authorised in accordance with section 
701 of the Companies Act 2006 (‘the Act’) to make market 
purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) 
of its Ordinary Shares of 1 pence each, provided that:

 a)  the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby 
authorised to be purchased shall be 52,811,999 
(representing 14.99 per cent of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital (excluding shares held in Treasury) 
at the date of this notice of Annual General Meeting);

 b)  the minimum price (exclusive of any expenses) which may 
be paid for an ordinary share is 1.00 pence;

 c)  the maximum price (excluding expenses) which may be 
paid for an ordinary share is not more than the higher 
of (i) 5 per cent above the average of the middle market 
quotations for the ordinary shares for the five business 
days immediately before the day on which it purchases 
that share and (ii) the higher of the price of the last 
independent trade and the highest current independent 
bid for the ordinary shares;

 d)  the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the 
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company in 2020 or, if earlier, on the expiry of 15 months 
from the passing of this resolution, unless such authority 
is renewed prior to such time; and

 e)  the Company may make a contract to purchase ordinary 
shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the 
expiry of such authority, which will or may be executed 
wholly or partly after the expiration of such authority and 
may make a purchase of ordinary shares pursuant to any 
such contract.

13.  That a general meeting of the Company other than an 
Annual General Meeting may be called on not less than 14 
clear days’ notice, provided that this authority shall expire 
at the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General 
Meeting after the date of the passing of this resolution.

By order of the Board 

Anthony Lee
For and on behalf of 

PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited 
Company Secretary 

17 May 2019

Registered Office:
Mermaid House  
2 Puddle Dock  
London EC4V 3DB
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1 Voting record date
Only members registered in the Register of Members of the 
Company at the close of business on shall be entitled to attend 
and vote at the General Meeting in respect of the number of 
voting rights registered in their name at that time. Changes to 
entries on the Register of Members after the close of business 
on 24 June 2019 shall be disregarded in determining the rights 
of any person to attend and vote at the General Meeting.

If the Annual General Meeting is adjourned for no more than 
48 hours after the original time, the same voting record date 
will also apply for the purpose of determining the entitlement 
of members to attend, speak and vote (and for the purpose 
of determining the number of votes they may cast) at the 
adjourned meeting. If the Annual General Meeting is adjourned 
for more than 48 hours, then the voting record date will be the 
close of business on the day which is two days (excluding non-
working days) before the day of the adjourned meeting or, if the 
Company gives notice of the adjourned meeting, at any time 
specified in that notice.

In the case of joint holders of a voting right, the vote of the 
senior holder who tenders a vote, whether in person or by 
proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the 
other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall be 
determined by the order in which the names stand in the 
Register of Members in respect of the joint holding.

2 Rights to attend and vote
Members are entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting or at any adjournment(s) thereof. On 
a poll each member has one vote for every one share held.

3 Right to appoint proxies
Pursuant to Section 324 of the Companies Act 2006 (the 
“Act”), a member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual 
General Meeting may appoint more than one proxy, provided 
that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to 
different shares held by him. A proxy need not be a member 
of the Company.

The appointment of a proxy will not preclude a shareholder 
from attending and voting in person at the Annual General 
Meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

If the total number of voting rights that the Chairman will 
be able to vote (taking into account any proxy appointments 
from shareholders over which he is given discretion and any 
voting rights in respect of his own shares) is such that he will 
have a notifiable obligation under the Disclosure Guidance and 
Transparency Rules of the FCA, the Chairman will make the 
necessary notifications to the Company and to the Financial 
Conduct Authority. Therefore, any member holding 3 per cent. 
or more of the voting rights in the Company who grants the 
Chairman a discretionary proxy in respect of some or all of 
those voting rights and so would otherwise have a notification 
obligation under the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency 
Rules, need not make a separate notification to the Company 
and to the FCA. However, any member holding 3 per cent. 
or more of the voting rights in the Company who appoints 
a person other than the Chairman as proxy will need to 
ensure that both the member and the proxy comply with their 
respective disclosure obligations under the Disclosure Guidance 
and Transparency Rules. Section 324 does not apply to persons 
nominated to receive information rights pursuant to Section 
146 of the Act. Persons nominated to receive information rights 
under Section 146 of the Act have been sent this notice of 
General Meeting and are hereby informed, in accordance with 
Section 149(2) of the Act, that they may have the right under 
an agreement with the registered member by whom they are 
nominated to be appointed, or to have someone else appointed, 
as a proxy for this General Meeting. If they have such right or 
do not wish to exercise it, they may have a right under such 
an agreement to give instructions to the member as to the 
exercise of voting rights.

Nominated persons should contact the registered member by 
whom they were nominated in respect of these arrangements. 
The statement of rights of shareholders in relation to the 
appointment of proxies in this paragraph does not apply to 
nominated persons.

Notes to Notice of Annual General Meeting
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4 Proxies’ rights to vote at the Annual General Meeting
On a vote on a show of hands, each proxy has one vote.

If a proxy is appointed by more than one member and all such 
members have instructed the proxy to vote in the same way, 
the proxy will only be entitled, on a show of hands, to vote 
“for” or “against” as applicable. If a proxy is appointed by more 
than one member, but such members have given different 
voting instructions, the proxy may, on a show of hands, 
vote both “for” and “against” in order to reflect the different 
voting instructions.

On a poll, all or any of the voting rights of the member may be 
exercised by one or more duly appointed proxies. However, 
where a member appoints more than one proxy, Section 
285(4) of the Act does not authorise the exercise by the proxies 
taken together of more extensive voting rights than could be 
exercised by the member in person.

5 Appointment, receipt and termination of proxies
To appoint a proxy, you may:

(a)  register your appointment on the Signal Shares portal at 
www.signalshares.com; 

(b)  request a paper form of proxy from the Company’s registrar 
using the details below; or

(c)  in the case of CREST members, appoint a proxy via CREST 
(see note 6 below).

By registering on the Signal Shares portal at 
www.signalshares.com, you can manage your 
shareholding, including: 

(i) casting your vote; 

(ii) changing your dividend payment instruction; 

(iii) updating your address; and 

(iv) selecting your communication preference. 

To be effective, the proxy vote must be submitted at 
www.signalshares.com so as to have been received by the 
Company’s registrars not less than 48 hours (excluding 
weekends and public holidays) before the time appointed for 
the meeting or any adjournment of it. 

Any power of attorney or other authority under which the 
proxy is submitted must be returned to the Company’s 
Registrars, Link Asset Services, PXS1, 34 Beckenham Road, 
Beckenham, Kent, BR3 4ZF. 

If a paper form of proxy is requested from the Company’s 
registrar, it should be completed and returned to Link Asset 
Services, PXS1, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent, 
BR3 4ZF to be received not less than 48 hours (excluding 
weekends and public holidays) before the time appointed for 
the meeting or any adjournment of it.

If you need help with voting online, or require a paper form 
of proxy, please contact the Company’s registrar, Link Asset 
Services, by email at enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk or by telephone 
on 0871 664 0391 (if calling from the UK) or on +44 (0) 371 664 
0391 (if calling from outside of the UK). Link Asset Services 
are open between 9.00 a.m. and 5.30 p.m., Monday to Friday 
(excluding public holidays in England and Wales). 

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, in 
determining the time for delivery of proxies, no account shall be 
taken of any part of a day that is not a working day.

A member may terminate a proxy’s authority at any time before 
the commencement of the General Meeting. Termination must 
be provided in writing and submitted to Link Asset Services. 

6 Electronic receipt of proxies
To appoint one or more proxies or to give an instruction to 
a proxy (whether previously appointed or otherwise) via 
the CREST system, CREST messages must be received by 
the Company’s agent (ID number RA10) no later than the 
deadline specified in Note 5. For this purpose, the time of 
receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the 
timestamp generated by the CREST system) from which the 
issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message. The Company 
may treat as invalid a proxy appointment sent by CREST 
in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the 
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001. Instructions on 
how to vote through CREST can be found on the website 
www.euroclear.com. 

7 Voting by corporate representatives
Corporate representatives are entitled to attend and vote on 
behalf of the corporate member in accordance with Section 
323 of the Act provided they do not do so in relation to 
the same shares.

8 Communication with the Company
Members may not use any electronic address provided either in 
the notice of Annual General Meeting or any related documents 
to communicate with the Company for any purpose other than 
those expressly stated.
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9 Questions at the General Meeting
Any member attending the General Meeting has the right to 
ask questions. Section 319A of the Act requires the Directors 
to answer any question raised at the General Meeting which 
relates to the business of the General Meeting, although no 
answer need be given:

(a)  if to do so would interfere unduly with the proceedings 
of the General Meeting or involve disclosure of 
confidential information;

(b)  if the answer has already been given on the 
Company’s website; or

(c)  if it is undesirable in the best interests of the Company 
or the good order of the General Meeting that the 
question be answered.

10 Website
A copy of the notice of the Annual General Meeting, including 
these explanatory notes and other information required by 
Section 311A of the Act, is included on the Company’s website, 
www.lxireit.com. 

11 Total voting rights at date of notice
As at 17 May 2019 (being the last practicable date prior to the 
publication of this notice) the total number of ordinary shares 
in the Company in issue was 352,314,872. The total number of 
voting rights on that date was therefore 352,314,872.

Notes to Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)
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